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MEMORIAL. 

To the Senate and House of Representatives of the United States in Con­
gress assentbled : . 

Your petitioner, Ben. Holladay, of the State of New York, and a ci'ii­
zen of the United States, represents that from the year A. D. 1860, 
until the 13th day of November, A. D. 1866, he was contractor for .the 
transportation of the United States mails on what has heretofore been 
known as the Overland Mail-Route, uetween the Missouri River and Salt 
Lake City, in the Territory of Utah. That in the performance of his 
service, in the transportation of the United States mails, amounting, 
during much of his time of service, to more than fifty tons of mail mat­
ter per 1uarter, he employed one hundred and ten coaches, seventeen 
hun<lre<l and fifty horses and mules, and four hundred and fifty men 
anu upward. Tllat at great expense he was compelled to erect build­
ings, houses, stables, stations, and shelters for the convenience, and 
shelter, and protect.ion of 1:tis men and animals, along said mail-route 
and its tributaries, and also to provide, at great expense of cost and 
transportation, large supplies of food, forage, and wood. 

Your petitioner further sa;ys that while engaged in the discharge of 
his duties as such contractor, in the faithful performance of his contract 
with the Post-Office Department, his service was interfered with, im­
peded, and obstructed by large and numerous bands of Indians, who 
murdered his agents, servants, and employes; who captured and car­
ried away his horses and mules; who burned his store-houses, station­
houses, barns, stables, large quantities of forage, provisions, wagons, 
harness, clothing, and other property, which had been provided for 
properly conducting the business which your memorialist had contracted 
with the said Post-Office Department to conduct, and which he was com­
}lelled to replace, at enormous expense, and with tedious delay and 
damage, in order to enable him to perform the service which he had con­
tracted to perform. 

And your memorialist aJieges that very frequently after he had erect-
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ed-his building-s heretofore mentioned, and secured his supplies for his 
men and horseR, &c., at his several stations along his mail-route, he was 
compelled, in consequence of the Indian depredatious, by military orders 
to abandon a large number of his buildings and stations, and a very 
considerable amount of his supplies, and to change the line of his mail­
route to parallel lines far disbmt from the first route. He :tlso was com­
pelled, on making such changes, to erect new buildings, stations, houses, 
barns, &c., with constantly increasing expenses and losses. Your 
memorialist also states that large quantities of his hay, grain, and 
other supplies were taken by the military authorities, and appropriated 
and carried away for the use and service of the government troops and 
the government agents, for which norcompensation has ever been made 
to your petitioner. Your petitioner also sa.)'S that while he lost much of 
his property by Indian depredations, and by appropriations for the use of 
the government troops and government ageuts, a very large amount, . 
both in quantity and value., was lost by the necessity of abandoning the 
same for want of adequate protection which the government failed to 
furnish, and which it was under obligation to furnish to sour petitioner 
while engaged in the public service. 

Your petitioner, as a reason for his delay in urging his claim of dam­
ages for his losses oct!asioned as aforesaid, says that his claims were 
presented to Congress in A. D. 1866, and that ou the 24th day of Janu­
ary of that year his petition for redress was referred to the Committee 
on Indian Affairs of the House of Representatives, ami that subsequently, 
by a disagreement of the two houses of Congress as to the proper relief 
to be granted, the measures of relief failed by the adjournmen.t of Con­
gress. Your petitioner comes now with his proffers of proof of his 
losses, and asks such relief in the premises as in equity and good con­
science be ought to have; and, as in duty bound, your petitioner will 
ever pray, &c. 

BEN HOLLADAY. 
MARCH 6, 1872. 

PROOFS IN SUPPOR'.r OF CLAIMS. 

Affidav-it of R. L. Pease. 

Before me, William Jackson, a notary public in and for Atchison 
County, Kan., personally appeared Robert L. Pea:se, of lawful age, who, 
being duly sworn according to law, makes oath and says, viz: 

.From the 31st day of December, A. D. 1861, to the 21Rt day of March, 
A. D. 1862, 1 was one of the trustees in charge of all the proptnty be­
longing and appertaining to the stage line carrying the mails from 
Atchison, Kan., to Salt Lake City, commonly called uow the Overland 
Stage Line, holding the Rame as such trustee in possession for the use 
and benefit of Benjamin Holladay, and as such trustee I bad the chief 
control and management of said property during the period afore­
said. 

Between the 31st day of December, 1861, and the 21st day of March, 
1862, the losses to said stage line were reported to me as such trustee, 
by the officers and employes thereof, and number of mules and horses 
taken from said stage line by ho"tile Indinns, amounted to one hun<Jred 
and seventy-three, and that this number of animals t•tuployed in said line 
were so taken by said Indians there certainly can be no doubt. None 
of said animals were ever rcco\ered, to my iuwwledgr. 
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·I was agent for said stage-line at Denver City, Colo., during the sum­
mer of the year 1863, and during that time thirty-four head of stage . 
animals (mules) were taken by Indians off said line, near Fort Halleck. 
The Indians were pursued, but none of the stock recovered. 

The loss of tllis lot of animals was reported to me, and that. they~ were 
so taken by Indians there is not any doubt at all. 

R. L. PEASE. 

, Sworn to and subscribed before me this 17th day of November, .A..~D. 
1865. 

[SEAL.J WILLIAM JACKSON, 
Notary Public:. 

LOSS AND DAMAGE DONE AS PER AFFIDAVIT OF R. L. PEASE. 

From December 31, 1861, to March 21, 1862, on the road; 173 horses stolen or . 
destroyed, *200 each ............ ·----··----··---- · ........................ $34,600 

In summer of 1863, 34 head of mules near Fort Halleck, $200 each ..• _ •...• _.. 6, 800 

----
Affidavit of Lemuel Flowers. 

Before me, William Jackson, a notary public within and for the 
county of Atchison, in the State of Kansas, personally appeared Lem­
uel Flowers, who, duly sworn according to law, on his oath states that 
he succeeded William ~\.. Reid as division agent for the division · then be­
tween Pacific Springs and Sweetwa1 er Bridge, on the overland stage 
1i ne, Ben. Holladay, proprietor, on the 15th .April, A. D. 1862, and as 
such ageut took charge thereof, with a!l the stock, stations, and prop­
erty therein, and continued in the capacity of said agent on ·that divis­
ion until the mail-line was removed south, on a new line, adopted in 
consequence of Indian hostilities. This affiant states that the first 
depredation committed upon the property of said lfne by the Indians, 
on his division, occurred ou tl.Je uigllt of the 16tb April, 1862, and on 
that night the Iudians stole twenty-two head of mules and horses be­
longing to said line, which were tbe property of said Holladay, as well 
as ten sets of stage-harness; also three (3) head of oxen; all takPn from 
the Three Crossings Stations on Sweetwater. Affiant says th31t on the 
17th of same month the Indians attacked a party of nine men, run­
ning two coaches with a double set of men, and commenced a furious 
fire upon the party, wounded six men, two rifle-balls penetrating the 
body of this affiant, and after a resistance of four hours the Indians 
captured nine head of mules, nine sets of harness, and partially destroyed 
two coaches, damaging the said coaches quite five hundred dollars. 
Affiant also states that on the 18tb of tl.Je S3me month tile Tudians took 
from Plant's Station, on my ~aid uivision, five mules, four horses, and 
twenty sets of harness. Affiant also states that on the night of the 
20th day of same month the Indians took ten mules off' said line, and 
at Ice Spring Station, on the 23u of same month, they took ten mules, 
five sets of harness, one cow, and one ox; and at Strawberry Station, 
about the 15th day of May, 1862, thirt,Y·five sacl{S of barley was de­
stroyed by the said Indians. Affiant also states tbat the stations at 
Three Crossings of Sweetwater, Split Rock, and Ice Springs were each: 
of them damaged by the Indiaus to the extent of ti ve hundred dollars, 
at least, and at the upper crossings of Sweetwater they dt·stl'oyed 
eighteen sacks of barley. Affiant says that all tue property alluded tO> 
above, of auy kind, as destroJed or taken by Indians, and tlle stations 
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spoken of as damaged, were the property of the overland stage line, 
Ben. Holladay, proprietor. The depredations above alluded to were 
committed, it was generally . believed, by bands of the Snake and Ban­
nock tribes. This affiant states that the stage-line aforesaid was moved 
off the old road, so called (that is, the road where said depredations oc­
curred), by order of the proprietor, to the road which is run at this day 
carrying the United States mails from Atchison to Salt Lake and Cal­
ifornia, &c., and that this removal was in July of the year 1862, and was 
caused by the impossibility of carrying the mails over the old road in 
the face of hostile Indians, as no military protection was offered what­
eYer between Salt Lake City and Fort Laramie up to the date of re­
lllOYal of said line. Affiant states that the proprietor of said line began 
to put up new stations on the so-called new road in July, 1862, and pros­
ecuted the work to completion in December following, and at a heavy 
expense, as labor was only to be procureq at S<tlt Lake City and at Den­
ver, in Colorado, and plank had to be transported from those places, or 
quite near to them, to the stations in the .course of erection. Affiant 
says he remaieed in the service of said line up to the month of Augusf 
last. My residence is in Brown County, Kansas. Affiant says that so 
far as his knowledge extends none of the stock or other property was 
ever recovered again by said line, which iR mentioned above as stolen 
or taken away. 

LEMUEL FLOWERS. 

Subscribed in my presence, and sworn to before me, by Lemuel 
Flowers, this 15th day of November, A. D. 1865. 

lSEAL.l W1LLIAM JACKSON, 
Notary Public. 

Affidavit of Richard Murray. 

This day personally appeared before me, J. F. Kinney, chief justice of 
the supreme court for the Territory df Utah, Richard Murray, who, .on 
his oath, states that on the 17th day of April, A. D. 1862, he was in the 
employ of the eastern division of the overland stage line as a driver. 
And, further, affiant states that in passing from Split Rock Station, west, 
tQ Three Crossings of Sweetwater, with the United States mails, on the 
said 17th day of April, A. D. 1862, in company with eight other men, all 
of the mail party, that they were attacked by a band of Indians, num­
bering thirty or more; who commenced a furious fire upon them with 
rifles and bows and arrows; that resistance was made by the said mail 
party for hours, when the Indians retreated. Affiant further states that · 
six men out of the nine who composed the said mail party were wounded, 
one with arrows and five with guns; that said Indians took nine bead 
of mules, worth two hundred dollars each, making for the said mules 
eighteen hundred dollars; that the two coaches used in transporting 
the mails and said mail party were damaged to the amount of two hun­
dred and fifty dollars each, making total damage to said coaches five 
hundred dollars; that the above depredations were committed by In-

' dians unknown, but supposed to be Snake Indians; that said property 
was well protected and guarded; that said mules and coaches were the 
property of the overland stage line, and that the total loss in property 
stolen and damaged by Indians on the said 17th day of April, 1862, was 
two thousand and three hundred dollars, all the property of the said 
overland stage line; and further this affiant saith not. 

(Sg.) RICHARD MURR~<\. Y. 
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Sworn to and subscribed before me this 28th day of AprH, 1862, at 
Three Crossings Sweetwater River, in the Territory of Utah.. · 

(Sg.) J. F. KINNEY, 
Chief J ~tstice Suprmne Court, Territory of Utah. 

r·· 

LOSS AND DAMAGE DONE AS PER AFFIDAVITS OF LEM. FLOWERS AND 
RICHARD MURRAY. 

At Three Crossings Station: 
Aprill6, 1862. 22 head of mules and horses, $225 each ..•••....••......•..... 

· 10 sets 4-horse harness, $110 each -~---· ..............•..•.... 
3 bead of oxen, $50 each.--~--- ...•• ·.·----· .••••...••....•.•. 

17. 9 head of mules, $200 each·----· .....••..•........ _ · ~·-· .... 
9 sets 4-horse harness, $110 each ....•.•...•••. ·-~--··--~-· ___ _ 
Damage to 2 coaches. ____ ... _ .......••...•••....••...••••.. _. 

- At Plant Station: 
April 18, 1862. 5 mules, $200 each ...•.•....•. ·----· ...... -·---· ....••••.••• 

4 horses, $225 each . _ ...... __ ... __ •....• __ ..•••••...•••..••.. 
20 sets 4-horse harness:, $110 each .•.••....••........••••...... 

20. 2 mules, each $200 .. _ ....... _ .. _ ...•..•....•••..•••••.••.••. 

At Ice Spring Station: 
23. 10 mules, $200 each --·· ·----· .... --·· .... J ••••••••••••••••• 

5 sets 4-borse harness, $110 each .....•.•....•••.. · •••......•. 
, ' 1 cow aucl1 ox, $50 each .............•••....•.•..• ---· ..... . 

At Strawberry Station: 
¥ay 23. 35 sacks of barley, 3,500 lbs., 15c ___ .••...•••..••••...•...•.• 

At Upper Crossing Sweetwater: 
18 sacks barley, 1,800 lbs., 15c ..•.•........•......••.•...•.. 
Damage done to stations at Three Crossings of Sweetwater, 

Split Rock, and Ice Springs, $500 each-----·-----·--···--· 

Affidavit of J. A. Slade. 

$4,950 
1,100 

150 
1,800 

990 
500 

1,000 
900 

2,200 
400 

525 

270 

1,500 

This day personally appeared before me, J. P. Kinney, chief justice of 
the supreme court for the Territory of Utah, J. A. Slade, who, on his 
oath, states that he is in the employ of the eastern division of the over­
land stage line, as division or route agent; from Julesburg, on the South 
Platte, to Sweetwater Bridge, near the Devil's Gate, a distance of three 
hundred and forty-six miles; that on the 18th. day of April, A. D. 1862, 
or about that time, there was taken from the said overland stage line, 
at their station at Sweetwater Bridge, eight (8) head of mules and horses, 
the property of said Overland stag·e line, and worth two hundred dol· 
lars per head, making for said mules and horses the sum of sixteen lmn­
dred dollars ($1,600). ·Affiant further states that on the 23d day of 
March, A. D. 1862, there was taken from Horse Creek Station, on said 
stage line, five lwrses, said horses worth one hundred and seventy-five 
dollars ($175) each, making, for the said horses, the sum of eight hun­
dred and seventy-five dollars ($875); also from same station at same time, 
eighteen bead of mules, worth two hundred and twenty-five dollars 
($225) each; making in the aggTegate for said mules the sum of four 
thousand and fifty dollars ($4,050). Affiant further states that about the 
first day of April, 1862, there was taken from Red Buttes Station, on 
said stage line, fifteen head of mules and horse~, worth one hundred. 
anrl seventy-fi \~e dollars each, making in the aggrPgate for the said mules 
two thousand six hundred ancl tweuty·fi ve dollars ($2,625) ; and on the 
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24t.h day of April, 1862, there were taken from the said Red Butte's Sta­
tion six head of horses and mules, worth one hundred and seventy-five 
dollars each, making for the said horses and mules the sum of one thou­
sand and fifty dollars ($1,050). Affiant further states that about the 
last of March, 1862, there was taken from the Platte Bridge Station, on 
said stage line, thirteen bead of mules, worth one hundred and fifty dol­
lars each, making for the said mules the sum of nineteen hundred and 
fifty dollars ($1,950), making the total loss to the said overland stage 
line of twelve thousand and one hundred and fifty dollars ($12,150); 
that all of the above enumerated property belonged to the said over­
land stage line, and was taken by Indians unknown, but supposed to 
be Snakes; that the said property was well protected and guarded. 

And further affiant saith not. 
J. A. SLADE. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 29th day o~ June, 1862, at 
Horse Shoe, Territory of Utah. 

J. F. KINNEY, 
Okief Justice Supreme Oou1·t Territory of Utah. 

LOSS AND DAMAGE DONE AS PER AFFIDAVIT Ol!' J. A. SLADE. 

At Sweetwater Bridge; 
April 18, 1862. 8 head of mules and horses, $200 each .. _ .. _ ........ _ ... _.. . $1, 600 

At Horse Creek Station : 
March 23, 1862. 5 horses, $175 each............. ... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • • .• . . . . . . • 875 

April 1. 
24. 

March. 

18 head of mules, $225 each .... : ....................... -. .. 4, 050 

At Red Buttes: 
15 head of mules and horses, 175 each . . . • . . . . • • . . . . . • . . . . . . 2, 625 
6 head of horses and mules, $175 each . . . ••• .. . . .. . . .. .. • • .. 1, 050 

At Platt Bridge Station : 
13 head of mules, $150 each...... . . . . .. . • . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . 1, 950 

A..tfidavit of S. B. Babcock. 

Before me, William Jackson, a ·notary public within and for Atchison 
County, Kansas, personally appeared Samuel B. Babcock, who, duly 
sworn according to law, says that iu the mouths of February, March, 
April aud May, and part of .June, of the year 1862, he was employed as 
a driver on the overland stage line l>etween Salt Lake City and Atchi­
son; tllat iu the month of April, on the division just then about to 
change from the control of one Wm. A. Reid to the control of Lemuel 
Flowers, there was taken from said liue three. six-mule teams at Big 
Sandy Station, on said dh·isiou, aud one four-horse team of stage-horses 
and llaruess belonging to the same horsPs were taken by the Indians 
also at Green River Station, and one hundred sacks of barley and fifty 
sacks of oats were destroyed l>y the said Indians at the last-named 
statiou, and none of said stock received to my knowledge afterwards 
from ~aid Indians. 

SAMUEL B. BABCOCK. 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this 15th day of November, A. D. 

1865. 
[SEAL.] \VILLIAM JACKSON, 

Notary Public. 
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LOSS AND DAMAGE DONE AS PER AFFIDAVIT OF SAMUEL B. BABCOCK. 

At Big Sanely Station: 

"April, 1862. 18 mules, $225 each ........................................... . 
4 horses, $225 each ..•••..••••••..•...•.•••••...•...•.••..•..•. 
1 4-horse harness .......••••.•••...•....••................••••. 

At Green River Station: 
100 sacks barley, 10,000 lbs., 15c ............................... . 
50 sacks oats, 5,000 lhs., 15c .................................. .. 

Affidavit of J. E. Bromley. 

7 

$4,050 
900 
110 

1,500 
750 

'fhis day personally appeared before me, J. F. Kinney, chief justice 
of the supreme court "for the Territory of Utah~ James E. Bromley, 
who on his oath states that he is, and has been since the commence­
ment of the overland stage line, division agent from Salt Lake City 
to Pacific SpTings, a distance of two hundred and thirt.v-three miles, 
and at the last-named place, intersecting the division of Lemuel Flow­
ers, successor to William A. Reid, and that on his division the follow­
ing property bas been stolen aud destroyed by the Indians ; said prop­
erty belonging to said overland stage line, to wit: On the 15th day of 
March, A. D. 1862, two (2) mnles were stolen from the station on Dry 
Sandy, of the value of two hundred dollars each ($200), making four 
hundred dollars ($400) ; one hundred and twenty (120) sacks of oats 
worth five dollars ($5) per sack, making six hundred dollars ($600) ; 
and on April 20th, 1862, five (5) horses were stolen at Green River 
worth two hundred dollars ($200) each, making for said horses one 
thousand dollars ($1,000); and six sets of ha.rness worth twenty dollars 
($20) per set, making for said harness one hundred and twenty dollars 
($120) ; and about sixty sacks of oats destroyed, worth five dollars ($5) 
per sack, making three hundred dollars ($300) for said oats, and four 
hundred and eighty (480) ·sacks worth sixty cents per sack, amounting 

· to two hundred and eighty-eight dollars ($288). Total value of prop­
/ erty destroyed at this station, seventeen hundred and eight dollars 

($1, 708). 
Affiant further states that the damage done to the station by said In­

dians was at least ($600) six hundred dollars, making total twenty­
three hundred and eight dollars ($2,308). The Indians that came to 
this station numbered twenty-three, and killed John Maloy, the station 
keeper. 

Affiant further states that at Big Sandy Station, on the 17th day of 
June, A. D. 1862, the Indians stole four (4) mules worth two hundred 
dollars ($200) each, making for the said mules eight hundred dollars 
($800) ; and previously at the same station destroyed twenty (20) sacks 
of oats worth five dollars ($5) per sack, making for said oats one hun­
dred dollars ($100), and about three (3) tons of hay worth thirty dollars 
($30) per ton, making for said hay ninety dollars ($90), and damaged 
the station to the amount of five hundred dollars ($500), making total 
loss at this station fourteen hundred and ninety dollars ($1,490). 

Affiant further states that at Muddy Station, on the 12th day of 
June~ 1862, the Indians stole four (4) mules worth two hundred dollars 
($200) per head, making eight hundred dollars ($800), and on the 20th 
of June, 1862, at Bear River Station, the India us stole two (2) hqrses 
worth one hundred dollars ($l00) each, making for said horses two hun-
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dred dollars ($200). Affiant further states that the stations of Pacific 
Springs, Dry Sandy, and Little Sandy have been damaged by Indians 
to the amount of :five hundred dollars ($500) each, making fifteen hundred 
dollars; ($1,500) and that thirty (30) sacks of oats were destroy ell at Lit­
tle Sandy by the Indians worth :five dollars ($5) per sack, making one 
hundred and fifty dollars ($150). Total loss of these stations of six­
teen hundred and fifty dollars ($1,650). All of the above enumer­
ated property ofthe said stage line was well protected by the employes 
of said line, and was stolen and destroyed hy the Indians, supposed to 
have been predatory hands belonging to the Snake and "Bannack tribes. 
That the total amount of property thus stolen and destroyed by the 
Indians on his division of said stage line, in th~ months of April and 
June, A. D. 1862, amounted to seven thousand four hundred and forty­
eight dollars ($7,448) ; and further affiant saith not. 

JAl\'IES E. BROMLEY. 

Sworn to and subscribt>d before me at Fort Bridger, Utah Territory, 
this 23d day of June, A. D. 1862. 

J. F. KINNEY, 
Chief Justice Supreme Court Territory of Utah. 

LOSS AND DAl\IAGE DONE, AS PER AFFIDAVIT OF J. E. BROMLEY. 

At Dry Sandy Station: 
March 15, 1862. 2 mules, $200 each...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $400 

April20. 

June 7. 

12. 

At Green River Station: 
5 horses, $200 each ....................•••......•............. 
6 sets harness, $20 each ..•.•................................. 
120 sacks oats, $5 per sack ......•..•.....••.....•............. 
480 empty sacks,60 cents each .............................. . 
Damage done tostation ..................................... . 

At Big Sandy Station : 
4 mules, $200 each ..........................•................ 
20 sacks oats, $5 per sack ................................... . 
3 tons bay, $30 per ton ..................................... . 
Damage to station ..•••........•...•...........•............ 

At Muddy Station: 
4 mules, $200 each .............................•.... ____ .... 

At Bear River Station : 

1,000 
120 
600 
288 
600 

800 
100 
90 

500 

800 

2 horses, $100 each ...................... , . . . . . . .. . . .. . . . • . . . 200 
Damage to stations at Pacific Springs, Dry Sandy, and Little 

Sandy, $500 each ........................................... 1,500 

At Little Sandy Station: 
30 sacks oats, $5 per sack . . . . . . .. .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . .. 150 

Affidavit of William A. Reid. 

This day personally appeared before me, J. F. Kinney, chief justice of 
the supreme court for the Territory of Utah, William A. Reicl, who, on 
oath, states that he was di~ision agent on the eastern division of the 
overland stage line, from the lOth day of December, A. D. 1861, up to 
the 15th day of April, A. D. 1862; that his division extended from 
Pacific Springs to Sweetwater Bridge, a distance of one hundred and 
ten miles; that during the tiu1e of his said agency the following depreda­
tions were committed by tbe Indians upon tbe property of the said eastern 

. division of the overland Rtage line: On the night of the 1st day of March, 
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1862, a Mexican man in the employ of the line was killed at Split Rock 
Station by the Indians, and ten (10) head of mules and one (1) horse 
taken by said Indians, and twelve (12) set of harness destroyed by them. 
Affiant further states that the mules taK.en by said Indians were worth 
at least two hundred ($200) dollars per head, making in all for said 
mules and horse two thousand and two hundred ($2,200) dollars. Affi­
ant further states that the harness taken and destroyed by the said In­
dians was worth twenty ($20) dollars per set, making an aggregate of two 
hundred and forty ($240) dollars. Affiant further states that on or 
about the last day of March, 1862, the Indians at the said station of 
Split Rock took from said line seven (7) head of mules and eight (8) set 
of harness, and that the mules were the value of two hundred ($200) 
dollars per head, and the harness twenty ($20) per set, making for said 
mules fourteen hundred ($1,400) dollars, and for said harness one hun­
dred and sixty ($160) dollars. Affiant further states that about the 
lOth day of April, 1862, the Indians took, belonging to said stage line, 
at the station at Rocky Ridge, six (6) bead of mules of tl1e value of two 
hundred ($200) dollars per head, making for the said mules twelve hun­
dred (1,200) dollars; all of the said property was in the charge and 
custody of affiant, as such agent, and belonged to said stage line, and 
that the total value of the property belonging to said line stolen by said 
Indians during the agency of affiant amounted to the sum of five thou­
sand two hundred dollars ($5,200). Affiant further states that all rea­
sonable care was taken by said stage line to protect said property, but 
that the Indiaq.s appeared in large numbers and forcibly drove away and 
destroyed said property. Affiant further states that after said depreda­
tions it was determined to run two coaches at a time with a double set 
of men, so as to guard the mails, and that on the 17th day of April, A. 
D. 1862, while thus transporting the mail in company with nine men, 
affiant making one of the party, between Split Rock and Three Cross­
ings of Sweetwater, the party was attacked by about forty-five Indians, 
who fired upon them, and six men were wounded, some of them most 
severely, and after four hours' resistance tl;le Indians retreated, taking 
with them nine (9) head of mules, as stated in the affidavit of Lemuel 
Flowers; and farther affiant saith not. 

W. A. REID. 
Sworn to and subscribed before me, at Fort Bridger, Utah Territory, 

this twenty-third day of June, A. D. 1862. 
J. F. KINNEY, 

Ohief Justjce Suprem,e Court, Territory of Utah. 

LOSS AND DAMAGE DONE, AS PER AFFIDAVIT OF W. A. REID. 

At Split Rock Station : 
March 1, 1862. 10 head of mnles, $200 each ...... • ............... ___ ............ $2,000 

1 horse, $200 ..................... _ ............ __ ....•..... _... 200 
12 sets single harness, $20 each................................ 240 

30. 7 head of mules, $200 each.................................... 1, 400 
8 sets single harness, $20 each .............. ~... . • • • .. .. .. .. . .. . 160 

At Rocky Ridge Station : 
April18. 6 head of mules, $200 each ................................ : ... 1,200 

A:ffidamt of Seaman Johnson. 

This day personally appeared before me, J. F. Kinney, chief justice 
of the supreme court for the Territory of Utah, Seaman Johnson, who, 
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<>n his oath, states that on the 20th clay of April, A. D. 1862, there was 
taken from near Well's Station, between Ham's Fork and Green River, 
two horses worth one hundred. and fifty dollars each, making for said 
horses three hundred dollars (300). Affiaut further states tllat the said 
horses were his own property, and were stolen by Indians unknown, but 
.supposed to be of the Snake tribe; that he counted seven Indians ; that 
the Indians, to the number of seven, met him and oue other man on their 
way from Green River, near Well's Station, aml commenced au attack 
upon them; that they turned back towarcls Green River, and that the 
Indians gave pursuit and got the two said horses. Affiant further states 
that the said horses were as well guarded and protected as was in his 
,power to do. Affiant further states that on the same day, at the same 
place, and in the satue manner, together with his horses, there was taken 
by the same Indians two horses worth one hnndred and fifty dollal's 
·each, making for the said lwrses three hundred dollars ($300), the prop­
erty of the overland stage line ; that said horses were well protected ; 
and further the affiant saith not. 

SEAMAN JOHNSON. 
Sworn to and subscribed before me, at Ham's Fork, Utah Territory, 

this 24th day of June, 1862. 
J. F. KINNEY, 

Chief Justice S~lp 'rerne Court, Territory of Utah. 
LOSS AND DAMAGE DONE, AS PER AFFIDAVIT OF SEAMAN JOHNSON. 

At Well's Station: 
April 20, 1862. 2 horses, $150 each ......................................•.•. $300 

Affidavit of lsa,ac E. Eaton. 
I, Isaac E. Eaton, of Leavenworth, State of Kansas, of lawful age, 

lleing first duly sworn, deposes and says, that in the year of our Lord 
one t.housand eight hundred and sixty-two he was the superintendent 
of the overland mail line from Saint Joseph, Missouri, to Denver, 
Colorado Territory, and also to Salt Lake City, Utah Territory, which 
was engaged in carrying the United States mails daily from the Atlantic 
States to the western Territories and the States of California and 
Oregon; that whilst so engaged war broke out between t.he whites and 
the Snake and Bannock Indians, extending over five hundred miles 
along the line of the road traveled by said mail line; that during that 
period, the year 1862 (whilst he was superintendent of said mail line), 
it sustained heavy losses in life and property from the depredations of 
said Indians on said line of road ; that this affiant and Ben. Holladay, 
the proprietor thereof (to affiant's knowledge), applied to the Govern­
ment of the United States for military protection against said Indians, 
in order to enable the proprietor of said line to carry out his contract 
with the Post-Office Department to transport the United States mail 
over said line of road; but the Government of the United States being 
engaged in a war for the suppression of the rebellion in the Southern 
States, our appeals for protection could not be heard by the War De­
partment, and we were thus left at the mercy of the savages to trao.s­
port the mails as best we could; that in the spring of the year 1862 we 
continued to run said line; but after having a number of the employes 
of said line killed and wounded by said Indians, and having over one 
hundred and eighty head of mules stolen and run off by said Indians, 
the property of said line, was compelled to abandon over five hundrei. 
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miles of said road, and remove the line to what is known now as the 
Bridger's Pass and Buttes Creek route; that at the time of the a ban- · 
donment of the old road the proprietor of the line supposed that as he 
could get no protection from the Government of the Uuited States, that 
the line would he more ~ecure from Indian depredations on the new 
road adopted, and that thereby he could be enabled to transport the 
United States mails with more safety and celerity than on the old route, 
which afterwards turned out to be the fact; that iu the abandonment 
of said old route he abandoned twent.v·six stations, which this affi­
ant, supposes were worth the sum of $2,000 each, and also a large 
amount of forage and other articles of value necessary in running a 
stage line, the amount of which this affiant can form no true estimate 
thereof; that in removing to the new road it was necessary to build new 
stations for the accommodation of the line, and there was built twenty­
five station a on said new line of road, but as this affiant did not erect 
said last-mentioned stations, be is unable to state with an~· degree of ac­
curacy their cost. In addition to the losses sustained, specifically stated 
heretofore in this affidavit, this affiant would state that the compensa­
tion received from the Post Office Department of itself was not sufficient 
to sustain the cost of such a line of transportation without the addi­
tional compensation to be derived from the transportation of passengers, 
but on account of the government failing to afford military protection 
to tlw line the proprietor was almost entirely cut off from this resource; 
where there was no security to life, passengers would not travel, and in 
consequence thereof, the amount of passengers was exceedingly limited 
during that year. This affiant further states that hA is unable to state 
the amount of property abandoned on the old route, as it was desirable 
that the transportation of the mails should be interrupted for as short 
a space of time as possible, and a proper regard for tlie lives of employes 
of the line demanded that no time should be lost in taking accounts of 
property that could not be transported to the new line of road. 

DIS'l'RIC1' OF COLUl\fBIA, 
County of Washington, ss : 

ISAAC E. EATON. 

Sworn and subscribed to before me this second day of March, 1866. 
[SEAL.] JOHN S. HOLLINGSHEAD, 

N ota1·y Public. 
[Five-cent revenue stamp.J 

LOSS AND DAMAGE DONE AS PER AFFIDAVIT OF I. E. EATON. 

In the spring of 1862. 

26 stations abandoned, $2,000 each. ____ .. _ .. __ .... __ •. . . . . . . • . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . $52, 000 
Forage, furniture, and material abandoned .. _ ... _ •... _ .. _ .............. _. . . . . 25, 000 

Affidavit of George H. Carlyle. 

Before me, John C. Liddell, probate judge in and for Kearney County, 
Nebraska Territory, personally appeared George H. Carlyle, of lawful 
age, who, being duly sworn according to law, doth depose and say as 
follows: 

I have been in the employ of the O\~erland Stage Line, Ben Ho}Ja­
day, proprietor, in the capacity of master of transportation, from Jan-
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nary 1, 1863, to the present time, and during that time have superin­
tended the placing of the supplies at all the stations on said line, from 
Fort Kearney to the North Platte, a rlistance of six bnndreLl and fifty 
miles; my duties compel me to be constantly on the road, passing back 
and forth. On the 9th of August, 1864, I left Alkali Station for Fort 
Kearney; o.n reaching Cottonwood Springs, I learned by telegraph the 
Indians attacked a train of eleven wagons at Plum Creek, killed eleven 
men, captured one woman, hurnt the wagons, and run off the stock; 
upon bearing this I started down the road, and when within a few hun­
dred yards of Gillman's Station met a large body of Indians, who had 
just killed Gillette and two other men, a short distance east of Gillman's 
Station, and run off Gillman's and Dan Smith's stock; these In­
dians folJowed the coach 'nearly twenty miles, waiting for a chance to 
attack it. I saw the bodies of Gillette and the two men lying on the 
ground; they were fearfully mutilated and full of arrows. At Plum 
Creek I saw the bodies of the eleven men that the savages had mur­
dered, and helped to bury them. I also saw the fragments of the wag­
o.ns still burning. I saw also the dead body of the man that was killel!l 
by the Indians at Smith's ranche, and the ruins of the ranclw, which · 
bad been burned. On reaching KParney, I turned back to Cottonwood; 
on my way up saw seven Indians at Midway Station,from which station 
the Indians bad driven the employes of the line; these Indians seeing 
the coach corning up, ran off into the bills; on going into the house, 
found they had destroyed all tbe ·dishes, furniture, &c. I then. moved 
the stage-horses to Dan Smith's and Miller and Pennison's ranche, at 
which places the settlers had flocked for mutual protection against the 

.... c;;avages. . On returning down the road, I found the Indians had visited 

.Platte Station and stolen four stage-horses. I continued going back­
wards and forwards over the route until about the 16th of August, when 
orders were gh.,.en by Mr. Otis, the general superintendent of the line, 
to draw off the stock and abandon the road. Previous to withdrawing 
the stock, application had been made. to Brigadier-General Mitchell, 
commanding the district, for troops to protect the coaches anrl stationR; 
be declined to furnish the'tn, giving as a reason that he had not a suffi­
cient nurn ber of men to protect his own posts; we were thus obliged, in 
order to save our lives, to abandon the stations, grain, hay, &c., saving 
nothing but the stage stock and harness; before we left the road, every 
ranch on the road from Julesburg to Fort Kearney had been aban­
doned by tlleir owners_ to the mercy of the savages; after the abandon­
ment of the road it was impossible to get men or teams to remove 
the grain, hay, &c., left at the stations belonging to the stage line; in ' 
consequence the following property belonging to the line, in addition to 
what Riddell and Thomas have testified to, was lost, viz: At Plum Creek, 
two hundred and fifty sacks of corn; at Platte, two hundred and fifty 
sacks of corn; at Craig Station, two hundre<l and fifty sacks of corn, and 
twenty-nine head of work-oxen. I have read the depositions of Thomas 
and Riddell, and fully concur with them in tlleir estimate of losses sus­
tained. on their divisions, having myself placed the supplies at all the 
stations named, and in no instance have they overestimated the amount 
lost. 

GEORGE H. CARLYLE. 

Sworn and subscribed to this 4th day of December, A. D. 1865, be­
fore me. 

JOHN U. LIDDELL, 
Probate Judge, Kearney Oo.,1 N. Territory. 
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LOSS AND DAMAGE DONE AS PER AFFIDAVITS OF GEORGE H. CARLYLE AND SOL. RIDDLE. 

Midway Station: 
Aug. 9, 1864. Dishes and furniture destroyed...... • • • • . • • •• • . . . . • . . • • • •• . . • • • . $500 

Platte Station: 
· 4 horses, $350 each . .••••..•.•..••••..••....••••..•••••.••••.... 1,400 
250 sacks corn, 28,000 lbs., 20 cts .......•••..••••..•....•.••••... 5, 600 
10 tons hay, $40.... ...... .••••• ..•• .•.• ...•. .... ...•.• ..•• .•.. 400 

Plum Creek Station : 
250 sacks corn, 28,000 lbs., 20 cts .•.•..••••..•. ·.• . • • • • . . . • • • • . . • . 5, 600 

Craig Station : 
250 sacks corn, 213,000 lbs., 20 cts ...........•...•..•....•...•.... 5,600 
29 head of oxen, $100 each.... . . • . • • . . . . . . . • • • • . . . . . . . . . . . . • • . . . 2, 900 

Affidavit of Sol. Riddle. 

Before me, John C. Liddell, probate judge within and for Kearney 
County, Nebraska Territory, persona11y appeared Solomon Riddle, of 
lawful age, who, being duly sworn, states as follows: 

I was in the service of the Overland Stage Line as a division agent, 
on the route from Fort Kearney to Julesburg, from August 1, 1864, to 
the 1st of March, 1865. 

About the 16th day of August I was ordered to move my stage stock 
from the stations between Julesburg and Cottonwood SpringK, taking 
part to the former place and part to the latter; this was done to save 
the same from the ludians, as they had begun to kill our people and 
commit tlepredations along the route. 

I did move the stock as ordered to the places named, and proceeded 
to remove my stock also east of Cottonwood Springs, taking part l>ack 
to Cottonwood and the l>alance to Fort Kearney. If this had not been 
done, as events fully proved, the stock of the Overland Stage Line, from 
Kearney to Julesburg, would have all been taken off by the Indians. 

In doing this we had to abandon our stations, all except Cotton wood 
Springs, on my division. Pressed as we were for time, we conld not 
dare stop to move oft' hay, corn, or other property connected with the 
service on the line, and consequently the savages had full possession 
where they desired it, and took what they pleased from the stations. 
During this time there was only one company of soldiers at the post 
at Uottonwood Springs, and these were unable to do more than protect 
that post. 

After our abandonment, it was impossible to have returned at any 
time in season to save the property of the stage line. 

The losses sustained of property by that line in con seq tlence of the 
abandonment of the stations, any one can sec could hardly be detailed 
fully, owing to the. various articles lost and destroyed; and I can only 
remark that the people employed left in haste, without any care tor our 
property, glad to save their lives by :flight, and a few personal goods of 
light weight. 

At Platte Station we abandoned two hundred and fifty sacks of corn 
and ten tons of hay ; at Diamond Springs, two hundred and fifty sacks 
of corn and fifteen tons of hay; at Sand Hill, two hundred and fifty 
sacks of corn and fifteen tons of hay; at Alkali, two hundred and fifty 
sacks of corn and twenty tons of hay; at Elk Horn, sixty-five sacks of 

• corn and ten tons of hay ; at Cold Springs, forty sacks of corn and fif. 
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teen tons of hay; at Gillman's, thirty sacks of corn; at Midway, thirty 
sacks of corn and fifteen tons of hay; at V\'illow Island, fifty sacks of 
corn and ten tons of hay; at Plum Creek, fifteen tons of hay; the num­
ber of sacks of corn I have not the account of; at Platte Station, ten 
tons of hay; at Craig Station, fifteen tons of ba,y; the amount of corn 
also at Platte and Craig Stations I could not correctly give, as others 
can and will. 

Before we abandoned the stations, as I have stated, the Indians killed 
three men near Gil1ette's Ranche, or near it, viz: Gillette, his son, and his 
partner, wuo we.re engaged in putting up a house, having kil1ed Robert 
Corister a few days before. I saw the first party after they were dead; 
was only two miles from the place wllen Gillette alld party were killed, 
and came down the road so soon after that the bodies were yet warm 
~d bleeding. This day I saw the Indians in large bodies frequently 
on the route, and saw them that day drive off stock from Gilman's 
Ranche and Dan. Smith's Ranche also. They followed along after "the 
small part.v I was with nearly to Mid way-say twenty miles. They 
killed also eleven persons with a train only a mile or so east of Plum 
Creek, capturing two women and some children, burnt up the train, and 
drove off the stock; likewise they killed a man at Smtth's Ranche, and 
destroyed the ranche by fire. 

In the latter part of September, succeeding these event~, the road was 
ordered to be stocked again l>y .Mr. Holladay, the contractor. We did 
restock the road as fast as we could. While doing so the Indians at­
tacked a pack-train near Plum Creek Station, within one hundred yards 
of it, and killed one man. A party of men who bad preceded us on tlJeir 
way to Utah, five m number, were all killed by the Indians. I saw one 
of the dead. 

A few days after this, after the coaches had begun to run again, tue 
Indians :fired into a coach at French's Ranche, nine miles west of Plnm 
Creek, doing but little damage. 

Somethreedaysafter this a coach going west was fired at near Freemau's 
Ranche, a man named Jacobs, of Central City, wounded, a soldier wounded 
who acted as guard, aud a horse killed in the team. The passengers 
fought oft' the Indians until the three living horses could be harnessed 
right and then drove off and escaped. 

Again, in the winter following, in November, I think, another coach 
was attacked, a Mrs. Abbott sltot in the al'm, and several persons struck 
with arrows, among them a telegraph operator. 

Following this attack, in July, and on the 7th of the month, the coach 
going west was attacked near Julesburg, but succeeded in getting to 
that place, as stated by Lieutemtnt Browu in his affidavit, and on that 
day tlle Indians took from the station Ht Julesburg a ridiug mule and 
one set of four-horse harness, while tlwy had temporary possession of 
the station. 

On the 19th of January the Indians killed one of my stage-drivers 
named McCook, and took a pair of stage horses and harne~s from bi111. 
He was taking them to au other station. I saw him dead same <la.v. I 
then procet"ded to remove my stock oft' the division a~ far as I could 
west of Cottonwood Springs, concen rating it at Alkali (as ~bt:>re was a 
post at Alkali then, and Oaptain Murpuy in commaud) and Cottonwood 
Springs. 

On the 2ud day of February, 1865, the Indians in large forcP, say 1,500 
wa1 riors, attacked Julesburg Station and destroyed it. 1 wa:-; tbt>rt- aud 
saw all that is perhaps better related, or as well, by others a~ I ,~ould 
state it. They utterly demolished the whole p1ace,_ leaving nothing be-
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hind of any value; all stores of corn, provisions, goods of any kind,. 
everything destroyed or taken away. The property I speak of as de­
stro;yed or taken at any time was the property of the stage line, except 
when otherwise stated to belong to individuals. 

S. RIDDLE, 
Division Jlgent. 

Sworn and subscribed to before me this 28th day of November, A. D. 
1865. ~ 

JOHN J_jiDDELL, 
Probate Judge, Kearney County, Neb. Territory. 

LOSS AND DAMAGE DONE AS PER Al!'FIDA VIT · OF SOL. RIDDLE. 

Diamond Springs: 
Au gust 16, 1864. 250 sacks corn, 28,000 lbs., 20 cts. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . • . .. .. $5, 600• 

15 tons bay, $40 • . • . . • . . • . .. . . .. . . . . . . .. .. . . . .. . .. . . . . .. .. 600 

Sand Hill Station: 
250 sacks corn, 28,000 lbs., 20 cts .. . • • . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . • .. .. . 5, 600 

15 tons bay, $40 .... .... ....... ...... ...... ...... .... ...... 60() 

Alkali Station : 
250 sacks corn~28,000 lbs., 20 cts...... ...... ...... ...... .... 5,600, 
20 tons bay, $40, .... ..•. ••.• •.•• .••••• ..•. •... ..••.. ...•.. 800 

Elk Horn Station : 
65 sacks corn, 7,280 lbs., 20 cts ...... --- .. . . • • • .. .. .. .. .. . . 1, 456 
10 tons bay, $40.... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40(} 

Cold Spring Station : 
40 sacks corn, 4,480 lbs., 20 cts.. .... .... .... .... ...... .... 896 
15 tons bay, $40 ........ -. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . .. .. . . .. . • . .. 600 

Gillman's Station : 
30 sacks corn, 3,360 lbs., 20 cts ...................... :. .. . •. 672 

Mid way Station : 
30 sacks corn, 3,360 lbs., 20 cts.. .... .... .... .... .... .. .... 672 
15 tons bay, $40 .... .. .... .. .... .... .... ...... .... .... .... 600 

Willow Island : 
50 sacks corn, 5,600 lbs, 20 cts.... . .. . .. .. . • .. . .. . . .. • .. .. . 1, 120 
10 tonA bay, $40. .. . . . .. .. .. .... ........ .... .... .... .... .. 400 

Plum Creek: 
15 tons bay, $40 .... .. .... .... .... ...... .... .... . . ...... .. 600 

Julesburg: 
January7,1865. lmule, $100; 1set4-borseharness,$120.................. 220 

On the road: 
19, 

Sept. 4, 
2 stage horses and harness .............................. . 
1 horse shot out of team ............................ ~ - .. 

Affidavit of Geo. M. Lloyd. 

TERRITORY OF NEBRASKA, 
Oo1tnty of Douglas, 88 : 

450 
200 

Before the undersigned, John R. Meredith, a notary public in and for 
sa~d county, personally appeared George .1\f. Lloyd, of lawful age, who, 
being duly sworn, doth upon his oath depose and say that in the month 
of August, 1864, the deponent was tbe agent of the Overland Stage Line, 
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Ben Holladay, proprietor, having charge of the office of said line at Fort 
Kearney, in the Territory of Nebraska. 

That on or about the 9th day of August, 1864, no stage having arrived 
at Fort Kearney from Atchison for three days previous thereto, the de­
ponent, with a driver and twoUnited States soldiers as an escort, pro­
ceeded with a coach and four horses along the stage-road toward At­
chison, to learn the cause of the detention of the mails. On arriving at 
the stage station called Thirty-two Mile Creek, 35 miles from Fort Kear­
ney, we found th~ station deserted by those who had charge, anrl we 
were there met by several families, who alleged they had been living on 
the Little Blue River, and were fleeing from the Indians to Fort Kear­
ney for protection. These persons reported several persons killed by 
the Indians a few miles below the station. Deponent and those with 
him proceeded down the Atchison road six miles, where deponent saw 
the bodies of six men who had been killed, and were being buried by 
some employes of the stage-line, who were escaping up the road to Fort 
Kearney for safety and protection. Deponent being fully satisfied that 
it was dangerous to proceed any further down the toad, or to remain at 
Thirty-two Mile Ureek Station, the deponent and those with him gath-

' ered up the stock at said last-mentioned station and return~d the same 
day to Fort Kearney. . 

At said station the horses that had been driven from Fort Kearney 
were taken out of the coach and others put in their places. The day 
was warm, and two of the horses which had been driven 41 miles down 
the road, from Fort Kearney to the place where the dead bodies were 
found, died from the effects of severe driving. The urgent necessity of 
reaching Fort Kearney for safety cumpelled rapid traveling, and the 
said horses being led, died before reaching the fort, to which.the depo­
nent returned, after traveling 82 miles. Deponent further says that 
the value of the said horses which died was $200 each, at that time ; 
and further deponent saith not. 

G EO. M. LLOYD. 

Sworn to and subscribe.d before me this 5th day of January, 1866. 
[SEAL.] JOHN R. MEREDITH, 

Notary Public. 
[Five-cent stamp.] 

LOSS AND DAMAGE DONE AS PER AFFIDAVITS OF GEO. M. LLOYD, CHAS. IVINS, AND 
S. 0. JEROME. 

Summit Station: 
August 9, 1864. Station, furniture, and bedding destroyed ...•••............•.. 2, 500 

Thirty-two Mile Creek Station : 
Furniture, crockery, stores of station destroyed...... . . . . . . • • . . 2, 500 

Little Blue Station : 
Furniture and grain destroyed.... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • • • . . . . • . . 2, 000 
2 horses killed on the road, $200 each. .. . • . . . . • . • . . . • • . . .. . • . . 400 

Affidavit of Charles Ivins. · 

Before me, John W. 'Hugus, a notary public within and for Kearney 
County, Nebraska Territory, personally appeared Oharles Ivins, who, 
duly sworn. according to law, states as follows: 

About the middle of August, A. D. 1864, just after the Indian mur-
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ders and outrages on the Little Blue River, I came up on business for 
the Overland Stage Line, to see the state of things on the road, 
&c., &c. 

I came from the East up to Fort Kearney. The Little Blue Station 
I found badly injured, windows broken out, doors torn oft, floors partly. 
torn up, chinking of the house knocked out, stable doors torn clown, 
grain scattered about on the ground; how much I could not say. 

Then at Thirty-two Mile Creek, I found that station badly damaged, 
the furniture destroyed, table-ware, &c., &c.; in fact, it was so injured 
that it would have cost near as much to repair as to rebuild it. 

Both these stations had been deserted and abandoned wholly by the 
employes of the said stage line, in consequence of the late Indian mur­
ders. 

I found Summit station with furniture destroye9, windows and doors 
torn out, and generally dismantled by violence. This station bad also 
been deserted by the employes. The stations aforesaid were, with their 
contents, the property of the Overland Stage Line, Ben. Holladay, pro-
prietor. · 

After this trip I was appointed division agent on said line, on the 
route from Kearney to Rock Creek. · 

Since my taking charge of said route the Indians took from Pawnee 
Ranch·e, on my division, four stage horses, three of which were after 
some weeks recovered, but utterly broken down and unfit for service, 
and worthless for use, having been subjected, as their appearance indi­
cated, to the worst usage; the other horse, or the fourth one, has not 
been heard of yet, of course. · ' · 

At Muddy Station }ast winter, the Indians made a descent on that 
station, and destroyed some corn belonging to the stage line, some 
twenty or thirty bushels only. The station then belonged to other par­
ties; at the same period some three or four tons of hay were destroyed 
at the same place. 

In the month of May last the Indians burnt up a station called· Lone 
Tree, a bouse of logs, with two rooms · ready for use, save the windows 
and doors. This occurred within a few days after a detachment of 
soldiers were attacked at Indian Hollow, five or six miles south of Lone 
Tree, and four soldiers killed, and as many wounded, two mortally. 

0. IVINS. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me, this 24th day of November, A. D. 
1865. . 

(SEAL.] JOHN W. HUGUS, 
Notary Public, Kearney County, Nebt·aslca. 

LOSS AND DAMAGE DONE AS PEH. AFF~DAVIT OF CHARLES IVINS. 

Pawnee Ranch: 
Aug., 1864. 4 horses, $200 each·----------·----·----·........................ 800 

Muddy Station : 
1,500 lbs. corn, 12 cts .............. ···--· .............. --~- ·---~- 180 

Lone Tree Station: 
May. Station burned ......... ···--· .................................... 1,000 

S. J\fis. 19--2 
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Affidavit of S. 0. Jerome. 

STATE OF :MISSOURI, 
Buchanan Co~tnty, 88: 

Before met A. B. Lyon, a notary public within and for the county and 
State aforesaid, personally appeared Samuel 0. Jerome, of lawful age, 
who, being duly sworn according to law, makes oath and says as follows: 

I was a division agent on the Overland Stage Line from Atchison, 
Kansas, to Fort Kearney, from April26, 1864, to January 1, 1865. 

On Sunday, the 6th or 7th day of August, 1864, the Indians made 
their first raid on the stage line, taking from Lone Tree Station nine 
head of horses used for staging, the station-keepers flying from the 
several stations on the Blue River to save their lives, and in their flight 
killing five more head of horses by hard driving. 

All of our stations, and all of the ranches of citizens from Thompson's 
to Hook's, were abandoned in consequence of this attack, many persons 
killed by the Indians in the time; eighteen in all killed and four taken 
prisoners-two women and two children. Kiowa Station, the property 
of one Douglass, where I kept my stage-teams, was utterly destroyed by 
fire. 

Little Blue Station, the property of the stage line, was greatly in­
jured, all furniture destroyed, floors torn up, windows destroyed, doors 
also, &c., &c. 

Liberty Farm, the property of one Emery, was also burnt up, houses, 
stables, &c., &c. I kept stage horses there also, and two sets of my 
harness for the horses were also lost. 

Thirty-two Mile Creek was abandoned by the station people, who kept 
it for the line-furniture destroyed, house damaged, so it would have 
been useless to repair it; it was the property of the line. 

Summit Station was abandoned also by our· people; this was the 
property of the line. One. end of the house was torn out, doors, win­
dows, &c., destroyed, so injured that we abandoned it wholly. Over two 
hundred bushels of corn were lost at this place, and two stoves de­
stroyed. Much damage was done in various ways to the prope-rty of tlle 
line that I could not pretend at this time to detail and estimate. 

When the second raid was made on the stage line, and in the year 
1865, I was not employed on it, and cannot state anytlling about it. 

S. 0. JEROME. 
Sworn to an.d subscribed before me this 7th day of December, 1863. 

A. B. LYON, 
Notary Public. 

LOSS .AND DAMAGE DONE AS PER .AFFIDAVIT OF S. O. JEROME. 

Lone Tree Station : 
August 7, 1864. 9 horses, $200 each............. . . . . . . .. . . . • . • . . . . . • . • • • • • .. .. $1, 800 

5 horses killed wllile escaping from Indians................... 1, 000 

Liberty Farm: 
2 sets double harness, $110 each...... . • • • • • . . . • • . .. . . . . . • . . • • 220 

Summit Station: 
200 sacks corn, 22,400 lbs., 12 cts..... ..•... ..••.. •••• .... .... 2, 608 

\ 
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HEADQUARTERS DISTRICT OF COLORADO, 
Denver, Decmnber 2, 1864. 

BENJAMIN HOLLADAY, Esq., 
Proprietor Overland Stage Line: 

SIR: I am directed to furnish your line complete protection against 
hostile Indians, which I can only do by its removal from the Platte to 
the Cut-off Route. As it now runs I am compelled to protect two lines 
instead of one. You will, therefore, remove your stock to the Cut-oft' 
Route, which will enable me to use troops retained for an active cam­
paign against these di~turbers of public safety. 

I am, sir, wit~ respect, your obedient servant, 
J. M. UHIVINGTON, 

Colonel Oommancling District. 

Affidavit of Reuben R. Thomas. 

Before me, John C. Liddell, probate judge in and fo\' Kearney County, 
Nebraska Territory, personally appeared Heuben S. Thomas, of lawful 
age, who, being sworn according to law, says: 

I was a division agent on the Overland Stage Line from January, 
1864, to April, 1865, on the route from Julesburg to Denver City. 

In the month of June, 1864, Indian outrages began on my route, first, 
by a battle with the soldiers under Lieutenant Dunn, who pursued them 
to retake stock stolen by them at Bijou Ranch. About the 2d day of 
July the Indians killed two emigrants at or near Beaver Creek, on the 
stage road; I saw the men dead myself. 

I saw the graves of two emigrants killed in the same month, by In­
dians, near Junction Station, as I was informed, and was so generally 
known to be true. 

On the lOth of January, 1865, the Indians killed four men between 
Valley and Dennison's Stations. I saw these men and helped to bury 
them; they were mutilated in the most horrible manner. 

On the 16th of January the Indians attacked American Ranche, kept 
by Wm. Mares, whom they killed, and his body was afterwards found 
in the river; they killed also, then, three other men, whom I saw dead 
at that place. 

I saw Indians often on the route spoken of; on one occasion pursued 
some of them with a party of men and dispersed t,hem on the hills. Jules­
burg Station was at the end of my route, and my duty confined. me, of 
course, closely to that road. . 

During my stay as division agent on said route, while Indian hostili­
ties were carried on, they took from Junction Station five stage-horses, 
about July 16th, and another stage-horse from Beaver Creek about the 
same date; one from Lupton Station in August, eight from American 
Ranche Station in January following, with two sets of harness, and the 
day that Julesburg was burnt they got two horses belonging to my route, 
making in all, up to the time I .left the route, seventeen (17) head of 
stage stock taken by them from me as agent aforesaid. 

From the month of August to January they took off my route or divis­
ion, in all, fifty-eight (58) head of cattle, which were taken from the fol­
lowing stations of the Overland Mail Line, Ben Holladay, proprietor, 
and the property of the same, as well as the horses aforesaid, viz: An­
telope, Spring Hill, Pleasant Valley or Valley Junction, Fremont's 
Orchard, and Living Springs. 

I would also state that many other injuries were done to the property 
of said Overland Mail or Stage Line by the Indians. They burnt up 
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Antelope Station, with the lwuse of two rooms, a barn, corral, twenty­
five tons of hay, and one hundred and twenty-five sacks of corn; they 
also burnt Julesburg Station entire out and out, with all its warehouses, 
dwellings, offices, shops, barns, telegraph office, with thirty tons of hay, , 
and not less than thirty-five hundred sacks of corn, and other property 
I could not pretend to enumerate, as it was not immediately under my 
charge, and others can better explain the full extent of the losses; they 
burnt up Spring Hill Station, with its dwelling-houses, barn, twenty 
tons of hay and ninety sacks of corn, with all the furniture pertaining 
to the station; they burnt up, also, the barn and corn, all of the Over­
land Stage I-'ine, at Dennison's Ranch·e, with twenty-five tons of hay 
and two hundred sacks of corn ; they burnt up the barn of the Over­
land Stage Line at American Ranche, with thirty tons of bay, and two 
hundred and twenty sacks of corn. 

I would state also, by the superior force of the Indians we were drh .. en 
to abandon all our forage supplies at Beaver Creek Station, l\Iurray's 
Station, Junction -and Bijou, and in consequence we lost fifteen tons of 
bay at Murray's, ten tons of hay at Junction, and seven tons of bay at 
Bijou, as well as twenty tons of bay at Valley Station ; we lost also in 
the same manner seventy-five sacks of corn at Beaver Creek, one hun­
dred sacks of corn at l\furra;y's Station, one hundred sacks of corn at 
Junction, and forty-eight sacks of corn at Bijou. Likewise we lost un­
der the same circumstances, having no control over our property what­
ever, in the general confusion and alarm which prevailed, twenty tons 
of hay at ~roll-Gate Station, ten tons of bay at Box Elder Station, fifteen 
tons of bay at Kiowa, :five tons at Living Springs, an.d seven tons at 
Hock Bluff. 

I would now state, about the first of November, 1864:, as well as I can 
remember the date, I was instructed to move the stage line from J unc­
tiot'l Station to Denver City, over on the present stage route from Junc­
tion to Denver, an entire new route, and many miles east, aud apart 
from the :first-named route. 

This new route I was induced to adopt is and was called the Cut Off. 
The old route to Denver was called one hundred miles; the Cut Off is 
called eighty-five miles. Under the order alluded to, I had to tear down 
and move Fourteen Mile :::ltation barn forty miles; Big Bend Station, 
consisting of a house, barn, and corral, sixty miles; Lotham Station, 
consisting of a house, barn and corral, also sixty miles; and Eagle's 
Nest Station, with its barn, house and corral, twenty-four miles, with 
the hay and grain and all other property pertaining to the said station, 

H. S. THO::.\fAS. 

Subscribed and sworn to this 27th day of November, A. D. 1866. 
JOHN C. LIDDELL, 

Probate Ju(1ge, Kearney County, Neb. Territory. 

A.ffida'oit of William Reynolds. 

DIS'l'RICT OF COL UMBI.A., 
County of Washington, ss : 

William Reynolds, of lawful age, being dnly sworn according to law, 
makes oath and says as follows : 

I am the general superintendent of the Overland Stage Line, having 
been such since the 23d of October, A. D. 1864:, and familiar with the 
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running of the same, and its affairs generally, as my business demands 
a constant supervision of said line, and my presence on the same at 
some point or other. I left the said line to visit the East on business 
on the first day of February present, and expect to return in a few 
days. 

Previous to my coming on to the said stage line to take control of the 
same, the Indians, as I was informed and believed, bad committed many 
depredations upon the same, the extent of which I am not acquainted 
with as fully as others who were there on the line. From the time I 
came on the line, as stated, to the month of December, 1865, in the 
early part of the month, the Indians were engaged at short intervals of 
time in harassing said line, from Little Blue River, in Nebraska, as far 
west as Washkie Station, that station being some eighty-four miles 
west of Fort Halleck. Many of the depredations, of course, could not 
pass under my eye, as they were committed at points distant from each 
other often, and I could not be present always; but, as the general su­
perintendent aforesaid, I bad the duty devolved on me to repair all dam­
ages occasioned by them; that is, to supply horses or mules, harness, 
forage, grain, stores, and provisions, and to set tb~ line running again, 
with proper I'epairs to stations, rebuilding the same when necessary, or 
building stations on routes assigned to the line by the proper military 
authority. , 

For example, over two hundred head of horses and mules were taken 
from the line referred to during my control of it; a large amount of 
grain, harness, and other property taken or de;;;;troyed, which it was my 
duty to replace with other property of like nature, and which it was in­
dispensable to l'eplace. In consequence of these heavy losses, depreda­
tions by Indians, it became necessary, to protect said stage line and the 
traveling emigration, as well as the freighters and carriers gener~lly 
on the plains and mountains, that military forces should be Rcattered 
along the route of said stage line to resist the raids of those Indians. 
A considerable, indeed a large amount of grain and hay was taken 
and consumed by the military forces referred to above; wood hauled up 
for the use of the stations was used by them also ; several houses and 
stables destroyed by said forces, to be used for fuel and other purposes 
by them. The property was used as stated, no vouchers for the same 
ever having been given by any officer whatever, to my knowledge. If 
~ny was given, it was for a trifling amount indeed, and of no official 
consequence. I have seen the order made by Col. J. M. Ohivington, of 
date December 2, 1864, requiring the Overland Stage Line to be removed 
from the Platte route, betw~en Juuction Station and Denver City, to the 
so-called "Out-off" route. The route thus abandoned was about one 
hundred miles long; that is to say, between said Junction Station and 
Denver. All the stations on said route had to be given up, and all of 
them mo\ed on the cut-off route aforesaid, save the station at Fremont's 
Orchard. When this order was made the Overland Stage Line forked 
from the route abandoned at a point called Latham, running thence to 
La Porte and the foot of the Rocky :Mountains (the distance from La­
tham to La Porte thirty-five miles), and thence to Salt Lake City. 

Thus, when the order was complied with, the new line traversed by 
the stages was thrown south of the former or Platte route above referred 
to some twenty miles, at an average. This, then, forced me to send the 
mails intended for the country west of Denver, that is, for Salt Lake 
City, Montana, California, Nevada, &c., from Denver City to La Porte, 
and to abandon, of course, the route between Latham and that place. 

Under the change of route we had to establish a new road, make new 
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stations over a distance of about one hundred and fifty miles, and 
wholly abandon the other road; the new stations thus established be­
ing twelve in number. All this was done in pursuance of the order of 
said officer. 

WM. REYNOLDS. 
Sworn and subscribed to before me this first day of March, 1866. 
[SEAL.] JOHNS. HOLLINGSHEAD, 

Notary Pubz.i~. 
[Five-cent revenue stamp.] 

LOSS AND DAMAGE DONE AS PER AFFIDAVITS OF R. S. TIIOMAS AND W. REYNOLDS. 

July 16, 1864. 

Aug. 

Jan., 1865. 

Aug., 1864, to Jan., 186G. 

Junction station: 
5 stage-horses, $250 each ........................ $1,250 

, Beaver Creek : 
1 horse, $250 ........ _ .............. _... . .. . .. .. 250 

Lupton Station: 
1 

1 horse .•••.•.•••.........•••...•••..........•.. 

American Ranch : 
8 horses, $250 each ..... ~ ........................ . 
2 sets four-horse harness, $110 each ............ .. 
2 horses, $250 each ............................ .. 
58 head of cattle, $100 each .. _ ..... - ........... . 

Antelope Station : 
House, barn, and corral burned ...•...•.••....•.. 
25 tons of hay, $50 ............... - .. - ........ .. 
125 sacks corn, 14,000 pounds, 20 cents_._ ...•••• 

Spring Hill Station : 
Dwelling-houses, furniture, barns, &c ........... . 
20 tons hay, $50 .............................. .. 
90 sacks corn, 10,080 pounds, 22 cents ........... . 

Dennison's Station: 

250 

2,000 
220 
50(1 

5,800 

5,000 
1,250 
2,800 

6,000 
1,000 
2,217 60 

Barn and corral ................. _.... • . . . . . . . . . 2, 500 
25 tons hay, $50............ ... • .. .. .. . • .. .. . • .. 1, 250 
200 sacks of corn, 22,400 pounds, 22 cents._ ... _.. 4, 928 

American Ranch: 
Barn __ . ___ .. __ .. _ .........• _ ••.•••••.. _ . . . . . . . 1, 500 
30 tons hay, $50 ................................ 1,500 
227 sacks of corn, 25,424 pounds, 22 cents...... . . 5, 593 28 

Murray's Ranch: 
Aug, lt:l61, to Jan., 1865. 25 tons hay, $50................................ 750 

Junction Ranch: 
10 tons hay, $50 .. .. . .. .. . . . .. .. . .. . .. .. .. .. .. .. 500 

Bijou 8tation: 
7 tons hay, $50................................. 350 

Valley Station: 
20 tons bay,$50 ................................ 1,000 

Beaver Creek Station : 
75 sacks corn, 8,400 pounds, 22 cents .. _~......... 1, 848 

Murray Station: 
100 sacks corn, 11,200 pounds, 2~ cents .. .. .. . .. • 2, 464 

Junction Station: 
100 sacks corn, 11,200 pounds, 22 cents .. .. .. . .. . 2, 464 

Bijou Station : 
48 sacks corn, 5,376 pounds, 22 cents...... . . . . . . 1, 182 72 
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Toll-gate Station: 
20 tons hay, $50 .•.•...•• _.. . . • • . . • • • • • . • . • . . . . • . . $1, 000 

Box Elder Station: 
10 tons hay, $50.................................. , 500 

Kiowa Station: 
15 tons hay, $50.. . • • • . • • . . • . . . • • • . • . . • • • . • • . • • • • • 750 

Living Springs Station: 
5 tons hay, $50................................... 250 

Rock Bluff Station : 
7 tons hay, $50 ...••••• ····-··---··------.......... 350 

Nov. 1, 1864. Cost of movi'pg stations, hay, and grain and rebuild-
ing the same on 100 miles of road, known as the 
Platte Route, to the Cut-off, by order of Col. J. 
M. Chivington, commanding district of Colorado.. 50, 000 

Oct. 23, 1864, to Dec.,18G5. For graiq, provisions, hay, &c., used by the troops, 
and fuel and stations destroyed by them.... . . . . • . 30, 000 

Affidav,it of Edward B. Murphy. 

Before me, John 0. Liddell, probate judge in and for Kearney County, 
Nebraska Territory, personally appeared Edward B. Murphy, captain 
of Company A, Iowa Cavalry, of lawful age, who, duly sworn accord­
ing to law, says: 

Indian outrages being reported at the time, I was ordered by the 
commanding officer at Fort Kearney, with my company, to proceed to 
the scene of disturbances, and left Fort Kearney on the 12th day of Au­
gust, 1864, for the country 1_ving in the Little Blue River. 

I found, on my way, at Hook'H place, ten miles east of Kearney, a 
number of the people who had fled from that region for protection. 

I found all the ranches deserted from Hook's to Little Blue Station, 
and at a place called Indian Hollow, about thirty-five miles west of Little 
Blue, I found a number of wagons deserted, with their freight, and a 
grave where men had been partly buried, seven in number, it was stated 
by those who 'knew the fact; goods scattered about, wagons damaged, 
&c.,&c. 

Two miles this side-that is, west of Pawnee Ranch, I found a ranch 
burnt up, except a stack of bay. 

At Pawnee l~anch, I found it deserted wholly; at Liberty Farm I 
found the houses and stables all burnt up. Next week we found a coach 
burnt up, the property of the stage line, by whom I could not say. 

I found the ranches all deserted to Little Blue Station, including it 
also; there I found a large train corralled, several wagons burnt, and 
no one on the train, stock all gone, boxes of goods broken open, kegs 
of liquor destroyed, and general ruin of the freight as far as it was capa­
ble of injury. Two miles below we found the bodies of one woman, two 
children, and two men, the bodies badly mutilated; these we buried. 

I then went off north, on the Fort Riley Road, Sfint out flanking par­
ties, and found Indians herding some six hundred head of cattle; we 
recovered these cattle and drove them back to the men who had charge 
of them before on the main road where they had been taken, they re­
turning for that purpose. Before we got back to the main road we had 
a skirmish with a party of Indians to the number, I think, of one thou­
sand, they having their families with them; we lost two men, but killed 
twelve that we were sure of; I would remark that we had a piece of 
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artillery with us. On the next day I returned to the fort, as I was 
about out of-provisions and ammunition; indeed, I had gone further 
and staid long~r than my orders permitted or ant.icipated, owing to my 
anxiety to follow. up the Indians, see what they had done, test their 
force, and recover, if possible, property taken by them, and protect life 
as well. 

On this trip the mail stations of the Overland Stage Line I found de­
serted, left apparently without regard to preserving anything but life. 
Under orders I left Kearney on the 25th of August, proceeded to Plum 
Creek, thirty-five miles west of Kearney, remained there to September 
2d; I found several ranches of citizens burnt on the way from Kearney 
to Plum Ureek. 

The stage line bad then ceased to run, and it could not have continued 
to run withopt a heavy military force with the coaches, which could not 
be had at all. On September 2 I went off s~mth of the main road, with 
the command of General Curtis, returning to the road about the 16th of 

. the month at Cottonwood Springs, about one hundred miles west of 
KeMney. ' 

I then went up the road with the command of General Mitchel, pro­
ceeding as far as Ash IIollow; we found ranches and mail st,ations all 
deserted, Baker's Ranch burnt, and the mail station called Elk Horn 
destroyed by fire. , · 

From this time forward Indian outrages continued from time to time, 
rendering tra\el unsafe up to this date, witlwut military protection. 
During the fall and winter after this period just spoken of, I was engaged 
in building the post of .Alkali, and in command of the same; while in 
command at Alkali the Indians drove off some cattle of contractors, 
about one hundred bead, and some two hundred bead belonging to 
others in the month of January. In this month I was ordered to relie\e 
some troops at Beauvais Station with a detachment of my company; 
thence I went to Julesburg on business. About~ o'clock in the morning 
of the 7th of January, report came to the post that the mail-coach had 
been attacked by Indians; the report was not credited at the time; the 
coach was attacked_, however, below Julesburg, about four miles, but 
was driven to a ranch called Beuler's Ranch, within two miles of Jules­
burg, and found protection till morning. The report came again that 
the Indians bad attacked a train below Julesburg, and at once the avail­
able force then at that post (which was then called Fort Rankin) mounted 
and proceeded to the scene of disturbance; we found that the Indians 
had killed two men of the train and retreated to the hills ; we pursued 
them and fought with their advance for some distance, until surrounded 
by a large force of them, estimated to be from 1,200 to 2,500 warriors; 
they killed fifteen soldiers, all one platoon that they surrounded, and 
one man after that, and three citizens near the ranch aforesaid. 

Our force retreated to the ranch, part of the men eng-aged being 
forced to separate from us, and go in direction of the fort. This day 
the Indians attacked the mail station Julesburg, and would have de­
stroyed it, no doubt, but for fear of the artillery at Fort Rankin, a mile 
and a quarter from Julesburg, which was playing on them acthrely. 
They were in and about Julesburg four hours, destroying the machinery 
of the telegraph, breaking open houses, taking and destroying grain, 
flour, house furniture, bedding, &c. The emplOj'eS at the station bad 
fled to Fort Rankin to save their lives. 

Immediately after the raid the Indians burnt up all the stations of the 
main line, and every ranch on the road between Julesburg and Valley 
-station, except 1\ioors' ranch. 
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They also injured the telegraph line greatly, cutti~g the wire at inter­
vals, all the way to Valley Station from Julesburg, and at one point 
they cut the telegraph poles for ten miles. I repaired all this injury 
under orders given me; they also destroyed the telegraph line for 
twenty-seven miles, I was informed, on the route from Julesburg toward 
Laramie. I omitted to state that in February, 1865, the mail station 
called Sand Hill was destroyed by fire. From .August, 1864, to this day 
the Indians have been in a state of hostility and warfare, committing 
outrages from time to time, killing our people; and robbing trains; a 
short respite from these outrages was gained by the advance of General 
Connor's force into the heart of their country, in pursuit of their villages 
and main body of warriors, last summer. 

E. R. MURPHY. 
Sworn and subscribe<} to before me this 28th day of November, .A. D. 

1865. 
JOHN C. LIDDELL, 

Probate Judge, Kearney Co-., Neb. Territory. 

J,OSS AND DAMAGE DONE AS PER AFFIDAVIT OF CAPT. E. B. 1\'IURPIIY, OF COMPANY A1 
SEVENTH IOWA CAVALRY, 

Liberty farm : 
Aug.12,1864. Coach burne~·-·····----······· .............................. $1,200 

Elk Horn Station : 
Sept.2. Station burned.................................................... 3,500 

Sand Hill: 
Feb., 1865. Station burneu .......... ·---·· ·----- ...... .... ...... ...... .... 2,500 

Affida1;it of W. 111. H~tdnut. 

STATE OF MISSOURI, . 
Buchanan County, ss: 

Before me, C. M. Thompson, a notary public within and for the county 
and State aforesaid, personally appeared William M. Hudnut, of lawful 
age, who, being duly sworn according to law, on oath states as follows: 

On the morning of J auuary 7, 1864, one of the coaches of the Over- . 
land Stage Line, on which I was at the time in the capacity of a messen­
ger for said line, was attacked by Indians about four miles east of Jules­
burg, they firing at the same repeatedly, and following it about two 
miles to Benton's ranch, where we stopped for safety, and the Indians 
left us. 

We proceeded after a time to the station at Julesburg, about a mile 
and a half distant; changed horses, and went on to Fort Rankin, about 
a mile further west, to deliver the mail there and apply for au escort to· 
the coacll, the officer in command, I understood, being Uapt. N. J. 
O'Brien; we stopped at the fort a short time, and the commander being 
unable to give us an escort, I returned to the station at Julesburg, con­
sidering it folly to proceed further. · · 

I had the stage-horses put up in the stable, and determined to pro­
ceed only when assured of safety and protection. In the mean time 
Captain O'Brien, with a company of soldiers, had passed by the station 
to pursue the Indians, and soon after I had put up the stage-horses I 
saw him engaged with them, a short distance southeast of the station,. 
say three quarters of a mile off, and almost immediately I saw the sol-
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diers were retreating toward the station, the Indians in pursuit. Very 
soon the detachment dashed past the station toward the fort, warning 
the people to save themselves if they could. We did flee at once, and 
fast as we could, to the fort, with difficulty escaping the enemy. The 
coach which I had charge of was left standing with all its mail matter, 
express, and money packages, and abandoned utterly, as well as the 
.station and all its appurtenances. 

Whep. the command spoken of reached the · fort, Captain o~Brien was 
re-enforced by some citizens who had stopped there, and a few soldiers 
whom he had not taken out in the morning, and returned to try and pro­
tect the station. He succeeded in repulsing them after they had been in 
possession only a short time. I found the coach ~mpty, the safe gone, 
the mail bags cut open, letters scattered all about, as the wind was high. 
Express goods gone also, with the exception of a letter-press and some 
light packages of small value, such as ladies' dress trimmings. 

One package of $10,000 in Treasury notes was found, belonging to 
C. A. Cook, Denver, picked up where the savages had dropped it. An­
other package of $150.00 was found, another of $50.00, also another of 
$50.00. Express envelopes that had covered money remittances were 
found here and there about on the prairie. The fixtures of the telegraph 
office were torn apart and greatly damaged; grain cut, corn scattered 
about, flour sacks cut, the flour emptied out, and sacks taken; the bed­
clothes and wearing apparel of the station taken, provisions carried off, 
windows smashed in, doors broken down, and much damage that I could 
scarcely enumerate done generally. 

WILLIAM M. BUDNUT. 

In witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my nota­
rial seal, at office in Saint Joseph, Mo., this seventh day of December, 
A. D. 1865. 
- [SEAL.] 

[Five-cent stamp.] 

C. M. THOMPSON. 
Notary Public. 

LOSS AND DAMAGE DO~E AS PEB AFFIDAVITS OF WM. l\L HUDNUT. 

Julesburg station : 
Jan. 7, 1865. Damage to coach .......... -----· .................. -----· ...... $500 

Affidavit of Richard Quinn. 

TERRITORY OF COLORADO, 
County of Arapahoe, 88: 

Hichard Quinn, of Julesburg, in the Territory of Colorado, being duly 
sworn, deposes and says that he now is and during all the time herein­
after mentioned has been the local agent of the Overland Stage Line, 
Ben Holladay, proprietor, :;tt said Julesburg; that said Julesburg was, 
·during the time hereafter mentioned, the junction and headquarters of_ 
two divisions of the said Overland Stage Line, where various shops and 
buildings, and the supplies for t.he said divisions, were located and kept, 
and where much valuable property of the said Ben Holladay, and used 
in the maintenance of said Overland Stage-Line, was stored and kept. 
And the said affiant further says that on the seventh day of January, 
A. D. 1865, the said overland stage station at Julesburg was attacked 
'by hostile Indians at about nine o'clock in the forenoon of that day, and 
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that Llnring said attack the passenger coach of said stage line, bound 
westward, and there standing in front of t.he stage-office at said Jules- · 
burg, was robbed of its contents, and the said contents destroyed by 
said Indians; that there was then destroyed or carried off by said In­
<Hans se\en sac lis of mail-matter and the express-box, with its treasure; 
also two bales of clothing, the property of the said Ben Holiaday; also 
one mule belonging to the said Holladay was run off and taken away by 
said Indians. 

That on the twentieth day of February, in said year 1865, said Jules­
burg was attacked by fully fifteen hundred hostile Indians, the whole 
number of said Indians in the vicinity of Julesburg at that time being 
estimated at from four to five thousand; that at said attack the em­
ployes of said stage line were driven off from said station at Julesburg, 
and all the buildings of the said stage line, consisting of a dwelling­
bouse, warehouses, shops, stage and telegraph offices, barns and corrals, 
all the property of the said Ben Holladay, as proprietor of said stage­
line, were .fired and burned by said Indians; that there was also de­
stroyed by said Indians, by burning the same, thirty tons of hay ~nd 
about six thousand (6,000) bushels of corn, of which said corn a portion · 
w~s afterwards recovered or saved from the fire, but in such a damaged 
condition as to be worthless; that there w~ there also destroyed, in 
manner aforesaid, a quantity of other stores belonging to said station, 
consisting of provisions, the quantity and amount is to this affiant un­
known ; that all of the said property destroyed or carried off as aforesaid 
at the said last-mentioned attack, including one horse not before men­
tioned, belonging to said station, and was for the use of the said Over­
land Stage Line, and was the property of the said Ben Holladay. That 
the said property has not been recovered except a portion of the corn 
as aforesaid, and the whole of said property by said Indians destroyed 
and carried off is a total loss. That the aforesaid depredations were 
committed by Indians of the Sioux, Arapahoe, and Cheyenne tribes, as 
deponent really believes, and depredations could not by any possibility 
bave been prevented hy the employes of the said Overland Stage Line 
then at said Julesburg-; Lhat at the time of said attack there was at 
said Julesburg a number of soldiers, about one-half of a company, which 
said soldiers were unable to repel the attack of said Indians. 

And further depouent saith uot. 

TERRITORY OF COLORADO, 
County of Arapahoe, 88: 

RICIIA.R.D QUINN. 

I, Henry A. Clough, clerk of the district court of the first judicial 
district of the Territory of Colorado, do hereby certify that on this day, 
before me personally Hichard Quinn, whose signature is attached to 
the foregoing affidavit, and made oath that the statements contained in 
said affidavit by him subscribed were true in substance and in fact. 

\Yitness my hand and the seal of said court, at Denver, in said Terri­
tory, this 5th day of December, . ..t\. D. J8G5. 

I SEAL.j HENI"\.Y A. CLO UOH, Clerk. 
[5-cent stamp.] 

TERRITORY OF COLORADO, 
County of Arapahoe, 88: 

I, William II. Gale, associate justice of the Territory of Colorado, and 
judge of the district court of the first judicial district of said Territory, 
do hereby certify that Henry A. Clough now is, and at the time of 
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making the foregoing certificate was, clerk of said court; that the sig­
nature of the said Clough is attached to said certificate, and that his 
said attestation is in due form of law. · 

Witness my hand and seal this 5th day of December, A. D. 1865~ 
WM. H. GALE, 

Associate Justice, &c. 

A.ffida'IYit of Andrew S. Hughes. 

STA'l'E OF KANSAS, 
Atchison County, ·ss : 

Before me, John J. Ingalls, a notary public within and for the county 
and State aforesaid, personally appeared Andrew S. Hughes, of lawful 
age, who, being duly sworn according to law, says as follows: 

On the 2d day of February, A. D. 1864, in company with Mr. Clift~ 
then assistant superintendent of the Overland Stage Line, tra\ eling 1n 
a coach accompanied by a military escort, we carne in sight of Jules­
burg'Station about 2 o'clock, or later, in the evening, v,rhen we perceived 
that place to be on fire, and invested by Indians to the nurn ber, I should 
think, of at least fifteen huqdred. We halted some distance east of the 
place for a time; until the Indians evacuated the premises, and crossed 
tl1e Platte River to the north side. After this halt for, say, an hour,. 
and the departure of the savages, we went to the station, and found 
everything in the shape of a house, or building of any sort, on fire, and 
too far advanced to be extinguished. 

We stopped there, however, to try and save something from the 
flames, but succeeded only in saving some sacks of corn, which was, 
however, so damaged, smoked, and parched by fire, as to be utterly use­
less, I should think, and not fit for any animal to eat. Nothing else 
was saved-nothing at all, that I saw. The destruction of the station 
was full and complete. After we had been there a short time, some 
troops came to the station from the post near tliere, then called Fort 
Rankin, and we passed 'On with them to that post the same evening. I 
remained a week at Julesburg, and while there troops were sent out to 
repair the telegraph lines on the routes leading west and south of Jules­
burg, which had been destroyed for some distance by the Indians. 

ANDREW S. HUGH.ES. 

Subscribed in my presence, and sworn to before me, this sixth day of 
December, A. D. 1865. 

J .OHN J. INGALLS, 
Notary Public. 

Affidav,it of Lieut. J. S. Breu:er. 

Before me, John W. Hugus, a notary public within and for Kearney 
County, Nebra§lka Territory, personally appeared JohnS. Brewer, first 
lieutenant Company F, Second Iowa Cavalry, of lawful age, who, be­
ing duly sworn according to law, states as follows: I was on duty at 
Fort Rankin (now called Sedgwick), about one mile and a half from the 
United States mail station, called Julesburg, on the 2d day of February, 

• A. D. 1865, when said station was attacked by combined bands of Chey­
enne, Sioux, and Arapahoes, about seven o'clock in the morning; the 
force of warriors was variously estimated from fifteen hundred to twenty­
five hundred. They were around that station till late in the evening, 
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'()Ur force skirmishing with them frequently, but unable to succeed in 
driving them ofl'. They drove off the employes of the Overland Stage 
Line to the fort, and got entire possession of the stat:on, with its ap­
purtenances, and all the property connected therewith, and kept them, 
taking off stores of different kinds, such as flour, corn, &c., during the 'day, 
setting fire to the buildings of the station about two o'clock p. m., and 
completely c~est.roying them all, with all the bay and stores there con~ 
tained; some corn was taken out, but this was entin~ly worthless, to 
my own personal knowledge, for I let tpe superintf'ndent have, as a 
loan, for a short time, ~orne corn to supply his stage teams, by order of 
Colonel Livingston, then in command of the district. 

This same party of I11dians, on the 6th of February, drove off nine 
head of beef cattle of the Quartermaster's Department, sixty odd head of 
B-ridgman & ()handler, who were in the employ of the government, and 
·On that day, it is probable, the amount of cattle taken off by the In­
dians would not fall short of five LJUndred head, belonging to various 
persons. 

I was in the battle with the Arapahoe Indians on Tougue Hiver, on 
the 27th of August, 1865, and recognized some articles taken by them 
fmm Julesburg; these articles were found by us, after the defeat of said 
Indians, iu their camp. In 1864 I was stationed at Po~t Cottonwood, 
on the Platte Hiver, about one mile and a half from the mail station 
called Cottonwood Springs. The first attack by Indians on the settlers, 
-or their first hostile demonstration, was in September of said year. 

They took some property from North's ranch, about two miles from 
the post. At the same time they had a professedly friendly deputation 
visiting the post, under the chief named Two Face. The next day thes 
attacked a party of our men in Cotton wood Canon., about nine miles 
south of the post (Cottonwood), and killed two soldiers of the party, 
which was commanded by Captain Mitchell, of the Seventh Iowa Cav­
alry. I could go on and give many instances of their outrages, mur­
ders, and robberies, but deem it unnecessary. I may as well state that 
110 less than thirty-seven of the men of the company I belonged to were 
killed in rencounters with them. 

I knew, of my own knowledge, that tllere was a large amount of 
grain and tlour in the warehouses of the stage line when tlwy were de­
~troyed by the Indians on the 2d of February, as stated by me, in their 
destruction of Julesburg. During the outrages committed l>y the In­
-dians in January and February, 1865, all the mail-stations of the Oyer­
land Stage Line were destroyed by fire, between Julesburg and Valley 
Station, supposed to l>e work of the Indians, of course; indeed, well 
known to be such. After th~ defeat of the Arapahoe Indians, on the 
~7th of August, as stated, there was then found horses and mules be· 
longing to the Overland Stage Line, with Ben. Holladay's brand on 
them, viz, "B. H." The number I do not remember, but they were 
turned overt~ the Quartermaster's Department. 

On the 7th day of January, 1865, the Indiaos made a demonstration 
on a train near Julesburg, and at the same time attacked one of the 
.coaches of the mail-stage line. This fact was reported to the com­
mander of Fort Rankin (now Sedgwick), and about six o'clock in the 
morning a part of my company was ordered to the scene of trouble, 
.<Japtain O'Brien in command. I was one of the party. On reaching 
the place we w~re directed to, we found three citizens dead. Tbe coach 
had, however, reached Julesburg. We saw Indians on the bills about 
.a mile off, a_nd gave pursuit, followed them for some miles, found their 



30 CLAIM OF BEN HOLLADAY. 

force overwhelming, and were obliged to retreat, which we did, with 
the loss of fifteen men, passing Julesburg on our retreat. 

The Indians, on thi6 day, had possession of the mail station for more 
than an hour, taking off flour, clothing, bed-clothes, and much other 
property, besides destroying utterly the telegraph office. In stating 
about the mail station destroyed between Jule3burgand Valley Station, 
I wish to recur to the same subject again and say, that there was not 
a doubt that these were <lestroyed by the Indians ; the facts duly ascer·· 
tained by the military authorities as fully as possible. 

J. S. BREWER, 
Fi1·st Lieutenant, Commanding Seventh Iou·a Cavalry. . 

Subscribed and sworn to before me the day and date first abo,·e 
written. 

JOHN W. HUGUS. (SEAL.l 
Notary Public, Kearney Go., NebYaska. 

J. OSS Ai\'"D DAMAGE DO~R AS PER AF.FIDAVITS OF RICHARD QUINN, R. S. TII0l'I1AS, A. S. 
HUGHES, SOL. RIDDLIJ: 1 AND LIE UT. J. S. BREWER. 

Julesburg Station: 
January 7, 1865. 2 bales of clothing ........•....•.••........•............ 

· 1 mule .•••.•.................••........................ 
E x press box and treasure .•••••...•.•..•..••............ 

Feb. 20. Telegraph office ....•.•.•.••...•.••....••................ ) 
l<~rame station...... . . . . . . . • . . . . . • • . . . . . . . . . . • • • . . . . . . • • I 
Large barn ...•...........•............. - . . ....• - .... - . . l 
Warehouse ............... ----.---· .•.• -- ..... --- - -----. ( 
Blacksmith's shop ...................................... I 
Corrals, &c ...... .. ......•..........•.••••.......... . .... ) 
30 tons hay, $50 ....................................... . 
3,500 sacks corn, 392,000 lbs., 20 cts ...... . ............... . 
Provisions and stores .................................. . 
1 horse .•.•.............•.•.......................•..... 

Affidavit of James Steu;art . 

$1, 500 
200 

15, 658 

35,000 

1,500 
7tl, 400 
2,000 

200 

. Before n1e, John C. Liddell, probate judge in and for the county of 
Kearney, Nebraska Territory, personally appeared James Stewart, of 
lawful age, who, duly sworn according to law, says: 

I have bePn a division agent on the Overland Stage Line since the 
17th of November, 1862, and am yet in that sen·ice; my route extends 
from North Platte River to Green River. 

On the 19th day of May, 1865, the Indians came to the Bridger's Pass 
Station iu the night; the stock-tender saved himself by iigbt, and they 
robbed the station of tlour, other articles of small amount, --and a Sharp's 
rifle; the teams were out on the road at the time. 

On the same day they attacked a train near the statiou, and drove off 
eighty-two head of oxen, the property of emigrants or freighters. 

On the 22d of May, at Sage Ureek, the Indians drove off nine head 
of stage-horses pasturing close to tile station. Captain Brown, of 
Nevada Cavalry, pursued them next day; I accompanied him several 
miles ou the Indian trail, which led off north to Sweet Water River. 
Captain Brown followed the Indians three dnys, lJut returned unsuc­
cessful. 
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On the 26th of May, at Bridger's Pass, the Indians droYe off the stock­
tender, and took nine head of stage-horses, destroying eight harness, 
robbing the station of all portable articles of any value. 

I saw on the 2d of June two men (emigrants) that had been killed by 
the savages. 

On the 8th of tTune the Indians again attacked Sage Creek Station, 
drove off five soldiers and two of my men, pursued them, killed two sol­
diers, wounded two, and killed both of my men. They got from me this 
day five stage-horses, and cut up one set of harness, and burnt up the 
station barn. I saw the men that were killed, and buried one of them 
next day; the soldie'rs that were dead being ltauled· on to Halleck for 
burial. 

At Pine Grove Station, the Indians, on the 9th of June, took off 
many articles from the station, destroyed the cook-stove, and cut up 
two sets harness, the station having been deserted by my men pre­
viously. 

On the 12th of June, the Indians took from my herdsmen at Sulphur 
Springs thirty-four head of stage horses and nine head of mules; they 
fired on the men, three in number, and drove off the animals. This lot 
of stock had been collected in from the other station east of Sulphur 
Springs for safe-keeping. This party of Indians were about twenty-five 
strong; Captain llumphreyville, of the Ohio Cavalry, having reached 
that place that day, escorting a mail with two coaches, or one coach and 
a wagon, pursued the savages, followed them five miles, and returned 
unsuccessful. I was at Sulphur Springs at the time . 

.A.t Washkie Station, on the 2d of June, the Indians attacked the 
place, bad a fight with the soldiers there, wounding one man and driv­
ing off nine head of United States Cavalry horses. I saw the wounded 
man next day. 

JAMES STEW .A.HT. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me tllis 27th day of November, A. 
D. 1865. 

JOH:N C. LIDDELL, 
Probate Judge, Kearney Go., Neb. Terr ,itory. 

LOSS AND DAMAGE DONE AS PER AFFIDAVIT OF JAS. STEWA~T. 

Bridger's Pass : 
May 19, 1865. Flour, Sharps rifle.......................................... $100 

22. 
June tl. 

May 26. 

.June !J. 

June 12. 

Sage Creek: 
9 horses, $200 each .....................................•.... 
5 horses, $2CO each ...........................•••............ 
1 set four-horse harness ..................................... . 
Station and barn .......•.............••......•..•••......... 

Bridger's Pass : 
9 horses, $200 each ..•••.....•..••......•.....•.............. 
8 sets single harness, $30 each .............................. .. 
Supplies about .............................. ---~---- ....•..• 

Pine Grove: 
Property valued at .......................................... . 

Sulphur Springs: 
34 horses, $200 each ..•••....•................•.............•. 
9 mules, $150 each .......................................... . 

1, 800 
1,000 

120 
2, 500 

1,800 
240 
100 

500 

6,BOO 
1,350 
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.Affic.7avit of R. J. S:[otsu·oo 7. 

TERRITORY OF COLORADO. 
County of Arapahoe, ~-s : 

Hobert J. Spotswood, being duly sworn, on oath deposes and says 
That be is the division agent of the Overland Stage Line, Ben. Holla­

day, proprietor, on the division of said road or line, extending from the 
City of Denver, in the Territory of Colorado, to the North Platte River, in 
the Territory of Dakota, and has been such agent during all the time 
hereinafter mentioned; that at the time and places following, the prop­
erty belonging to Ben. Holladay, proprietor of· said stage line, and 
hereinafter mentioned, was run off and taken away by Indians; that is 
to say: 

In the month of June, A. D. 1865, at Elk Mountain Station, on said 
road, twenty-two head of mules, four bead of horses, and two ponies 
were run off and taken away as aforesaid. In the said month of June, 
at Sulphur Spring Station, on said road, si.x mules and one horse were 
run ofl' and taken away as aforesaid. In the month of July, in said 
year, at Medicine Bow Station, on said division of said road, two ponies 
were run off and taken away a,g aforesaid. In the month of July, in 
.said year, at Rock C:reek_ Station, on said division on said road, one 
pony was run off and taken a way as aforesaid. 

At Cooper Creek Statiou, on said division on said road, in tlle said 
month of July, one pony was run off and taken away as aforesaid . 

.A.t Willow Springs, on said division of said road, and in the month 
ofAugust in said year, six mules, two horses, and one pony were run 
off and tak~n away as aforesaid. 

At Virginia Dale, on said division of said road, and in tlle months of 
July and August iu said year, two mules were run off and taken away 
as aforesaid; also one mare and colt, and eight cows. 

At Stonewall Station, on said division of said road, and in the month 
of August in said year, two yoke or four oxen were run off and taken 
a way as aforesaid. 

And the said deponent further saith that at the times and places 
bere'inafter mentioned the following property of Ben. Holladay, pro­
prietor of said stage line, was destroyed by Indians, as aforesaid ; that 
is to say: 

At Medicine Bow Station, on flaiU division of sai 1 road and stage 
line, and in the month of July in said year, A. D. 1865, the corral or 
inclosure for stock was destroyed by Indians as aforesaid. 

At Rock Creek Station, on said division of said road, and in the said 
month of July, one corral or inclosure for stock destroyed as aforesaid. 

At Cooper Creek, on said division of said road, and in the said month 
of July, the corral or inclosure for stock was destroyed; also at the 
same time and place, the doors and windows of the station-bouse were · 
destroyed, and one large cooking stove and one box stove were broken, 
the value of which said doors, windows, and stoves, at said station of 
Cooper Creek, deponent believes to have been the sum of three hundred 
dollars. 

At Little Laramie Station, on said division of said ' road, and in the 
month of August in said year, the station or stage-house, and the cor­
ral or inclosure for stock was Uurnt and destroyed. At Willow Springs, 
on said division and road, and in the month of August in said year, one 
corral destroyed, but whether by Indians or otherwise, after the Indians 
compelled the same to be abandoned, deponent cannot say. 

And deponent further saith that at the times and places hereinafter 
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mentioned the following property of Ben. Holladay~ proprietor said road 
and stage line, was killed by the Indians: 

At the aforesaid station of Virginia Dale, and in the month of July 
Ol' the month of Augnst of sai<l year, deponent not being able to say 
which month, one mule was killed by said Indians, and also one bull. 

And the said deponent further says: That the said propert,y, so as 
aforesaid run off and taken away, destro~·ed; or killed was the property 
of Ben. Holladay, proprietor of the said stage line, and was taken off, 
destroyed, or killed by be stile Indians, of the Cheyenne, .Arapahoe, and 
Sioux tribes ; tlJat the servants and employes of the said Ben. Holladay, 
at the aforesaid respective places, were unable to prevent the said In­
dians from committing the said depredations; tbat the said property 
bas never been recovered, eitber in whole or in part, from the said In­
dianf.l, and is, as the said depouent Yerily believes, totally lost to the said 
Ben. Holladay. 

ROBERT J. SPOTSWOOD. 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
Terr-itory of Colorado, County of .11 rapalwe, ss: 

I, Henry A. Clough, clerk of the district court of the first judicial 
district of the Territory of Colorado, sitting within and for the county 
of Arapahoe, do hereby certify that Robert J. Spotswood, whose name 
is subscribed. to the foregoing affidavit, this day appeared before me in 
person, and made oath that the said affidavit was by him subscribed, 
and that the same was true. In witness whereof I have hereunto set 
my hand and the seal of said court, this 30th day of November, A. D. 
1865, at Denver, in tbe county and Territory aforesaid. 

[SEAL.] IIEN.RY A. CLOUGH, Clerk. 
[Stamp.] 

I, William H. Gale, associate justice of the Territory of Colorado, 
and judge of the district court of the first judicial district of said Ter­
ritory, of which the county of Arapahoe forms a part, do hereby certify 
that Henr.v A. Clough, wbose name is attached to the foregoing certifi­
cate, is now, and at the time of tlJe signing .and sealing thereof was, 
clerk. of the said court, and as such authorized to administer oatlls, and 
that his said attestation is in due form of law. 

Given ttnder my hand and seal this 30th day of November, A. D. 
1865. 

[SEAL.] WILLIAM H. GALE. 

LOSS AND DAMAGE DONE AS PER AFFIDAVIT OF R. J, SPOTSWOOD. 

Elk Mountain Station: 
J nne, 1865. 22 head of mules, $20 each ___ ....•• _ ••...•. _ .•... __ . _____ • ____ _ $4,400 

900 
100 

July. 

~ :~~~~:;~fo2~a~~~~~:::::~::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::~ :::::~ 
Sulphur Springs Station : 

6 rnules, $200 each ...••••.•.••• --------·--- .•.• ·----·-----· ___ _ 
1 horse ...•••.••••....•.•....... __ . __ •. __ •.•. _ . ________ • ___ • _ •. 

Medicine Bow Station: 

2 ponies ..•••. ·----- ..•. ·----· ••••.••••• ---·-----··----·_·----· 
Corrall destroyed .••••• _. ••••. _ ••.•.• __ . _ ..•• _. _________ . _____ . 

Rock Creek Station: 

1,200 
225 

100 
150 

1 pony .•..••.. _ ......••..•.. - ••••••••••.•••••••••• _ ..• _ ..• ___ • 50 
Corral destroyed .•••••••••••••••.•••••.•.•••••.••••• ------ •••• 250 

H. Mis. 19--3 
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Cooper's Creek Station : 
1 pony ............•...••..•.......•••••........•.•.......•••.. 
Corral destroyed ..........•••.. _ ...............••••.•..•.... ~ 
Doors' and windows of station-house ...•.........•........... 

. Cooking and box stove ...........•.•......•.......•...... _ .. 

Willow Springs Station: 
August.. 6 mules, $200 each ..•••.•..•••......................•..••...... 

2 horses, $225 each ....••..................•.•..•..•.........••. 
1 pony .......•.•.....•.•..•••...••...•.•.............••••..... 
Corral destroyed ......•••.•..•....•••..••••.........•.•.. __ ••. 

Virginia Dale Station : · 
July and 2 mules, $200 each ...........•.••............. _. _ ............ . 

Aug. ~ ~:;:, ;~g :~~~ _-_-: _· _-.· _ : ~ : ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ :: : : :: : : : : :: : : :: ::: : :: :: :: :: 

August. 

1 mule killed .••••.••........•••...••... .' •..................... 
1 bull killed .••••.•.••....•..•.••................•.••....••... 

Stonewall Station : 
2 yoke of oxen, $100 each ...........•.•..............•.......... 

Little Laramie Station: 

$GO 

390 

1,200 
4,500 

50 
250 

400 
250 
400 
200 
';5 

200 

Station and ?orral destroyed ............ ·...••.. . . • • . . • • • . . . . . . . . 3, 500 

·A.jfida1.Jit of William Trotter. 

Before me, John W. Hugus, a notary\ public within and for Kearney 
County, Nebraska Territory, personally appeared vVilliam Trotter, of 
lawful age, who, being duly sworn according to law, states as follows: 

I was in the service of the Overland Stage Line, under Reuben 
Thomas, division agent on the route from Julesburg to Denver, from 
August 1, 1864, to February 5,)865. 

About the latter part of December of 1864, the Indians, at night, took 
oft' from the stable of said line at American Ranche several horses and 
some harness; the,y got all the horses in the stable but two of them, or 
took only two of them, aud which I cannot now clearly state; the ani­
mals taken were stage horses. A short time after this occurrence, the 
Indians lmrnt the barn or stable at the same ranche, with thirty tons of 
hay stacked there, the property of the line, all of it; they also, about 
the same time, burnt the barn at Dennison's ranche, with about twenty­
four tons of bay, the property also of said line; they burnt C::\Ud utterly 
destroyed Spring Hill Station, which belonged to the line, consisting of · 
a framed barn, ·and dwelling-house with four rooms, with furniture cqm­
plete, destroying stores, &c.; at this station they burnt up about twenty 
tons of bay. 

In the same raid they burnt up Antelope Station, consisting of a barn 
and house, with the usual furniture for a home station, and about fort.v 
tons of hay. In the raid referrerl to the Indians destroyed fifty to sev­
enty-five sacks of corn at American Ranche, about one hundred sacks 
of corn at Dennison's Hancbe, about forty to fifty sacks of corn at Spring 
Hill; all the property referred to as destroyed b,y Indians IJelonged to 
said stage line, and that it was destroyed by them tl1ere is not any 
doubt. 

WM. TROTTER. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me tlle day and date first above 
written. 

(SEAL.] 

[Five-cent stamp.] 

JOHN W. HUGUS. 
Nota.'ry Public, Kea.rney Gmtnty, Nebraska. 
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GEORGE HENRY OAI~LYLE sworn and examined. 

By Senator CAMERON: 
Question. What is your name, age, and residence ~-Answer. George 

H. Carlyle. I am fifty years old; and I live in Saline County, Missouri, 
at this time. 

Q. What is ymir.present occupation ~-A. I am a farmer. 
Q. Are you acquainted with Mr. Holladay ~-A. Very well. 
Q. How long have you been acquainted .wit!J. him ~-A .. I ll<IYe known 

him since 1862. 
Q. vYere ~: ou at any time in the employ of Mr. Holladay ~-A. Yes, 

sir. 
Q. When were you in his employ ~-A. From 1863 until 1866. 
Q. What was Mr. Holladay engaged in at that time, anti what were 

you doing in connection with his business ~-A.- He was carrying the 
overland mail from Atchison, Kansas, to Salt Lal<e; that was the first 
portiou of his route. I furnished the stations with grain for a certaiu 
portion of the distance-650 miles, from :Fort Kearney to North-Platte. 

Q. State what you did in connection with Holladay's bn:sint>ss, and 
what you know of his business connected with the carrying of the over­
land mail, and state it fully.-A. I was familiar with every part of his 
busi11ess connected with the mail. ' I sometimes assisted and went over 
it in company with the pa;ymaster, and I sometimes purcbasrd tbe 
grain, and sometimes I acted as division agent, and generally I looked 
after thfl business in my idle moments. I acted temporarily at one time, 
during the stampede, as division agent. 

Q. Explain auout the starnpede.-A. Well, the entire sett1emeut all 
aloiJg the plaius and ranch men along the road got up a stampede on ac­
count of the Indians having massacred·people along the road, and tlw 
division agent from Fort Kearuey to Julesburg fell in with the crowd 
and left, abandoned the line, and I knew the impossibility of keeping 
the line open, aud I telegraphed Mr. Holladay the state of affairs tbat 
his divisiou had got into, tor everything else had left except the drivers 
and a few statiou-keepers; and I telegraphed him what I 'should do, 
and he telegraphed me to tr,y and keep tlw line running, regardless of 
expense,until he got there, and he got there shortly afterward himself. 
I made frequent trip!' over the road-two hqndrecl miles from Fort 
Kearney to Julesburg-that was the part deserted hy this division agent. 
I rode that route for two weeks in the coach, until we were compelled 
to draw off the stock of the liue. At times when I could be spared from 
my business and it was necessary to assist in anything I could do, I 
generally went over the line. I remember at one time I passed over the 
line with the paymaster, auu he had a good deal of work to do, and 
tllougbt I could be of assistanee, and so I went over the line with him. 
They settled by certificates that they gave the employes; the certificate 
stated on one side what t,hey were employed at, and any money fur­
nished them was entered on the other side. I summed up this account, 
and all he bad to do was to settle them and take them in and. issue a 
fresh certificate. 

Mr. Holladay started the stages from Atchison, Kansas, on the Mis­
souri Riyer; next Nebraska City, on the .Missouri River; and next 
Omaha, all coming together at Fort Kearney and forming a trunk line. 
The distance from Atchison to junction, Fort Kearney, was 260 miles; 
Nebraska City to junction, Port Kearney, 200 miles, and from Omaha 
to Fort Kearney, 210 miles; f~;om Kearney to Julesburg, 200 miles. 
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The stations on the road were from 10 to 12 miles apart along the en­
tire route. 

Q. Describe them.-A. The stations were either hewn cedar or they 
were frame, except one or two which were of adobe material. 

Q. How much did they cost, generally speaking 0!-A. It would be 
difficult to say what they cost, but I would say they .were worth at least 
$2,000 each. 

Q. Wh.Y were they worth that ~-A. On account of the high price of 
lumber; lumber bad to be frt>.jghte.cl from Denver City down there; the 
logs had to be hewn there 100 miles away; they had to go on the bluffs 
and hew them, and the lumber bad to be haulerl from Denver Cit-.y. 

Q. How far was that ~-A. Well, from Fort Kearney to Denver Oity 
was 400 miles. Generally every other station had a frame house, called 
a home station; there was a dwelling as well as a stable, and a corral 
around the hay and barn, which made them expensive. At Cottonwood 
we also bad a warehouse; about every one hundred miles we had a 
warehouse cnpable of holding four or five thousand bushels of grain; 
this was convenient to seatter along the road, the grain, when it was 
'needed. Cottonwood station is half-way between Kearney and Jules­
burgh. We bad a warehouse there cabable of holding 5,000 bushels of 
grain. At Julesburgh we bad a large warehouse, a blacksmith-shop, 
repair-shop, telegraph-office, boarding-house, and a very large corral 
around them. · 

Q. Now, you may go on and state about the cost of grain and hay­
the aver:age cost of the grain and hay that was used on the ronte.-A. 
I have frequently measured the hay for the line, and all the gr·ain that 
was delivered was delivered by me, or I saw to the delivery. We de­
livered 250 sacks, which averag·ed two bushels and a peck to the sack. 
We delivered that to each station. 
- Q. How frequently ~-A. Twice a year. That grain was purchased 

at Fort Kearne,y, and it cost about six cents a pound during the Indian 
troubles. I saw to the delivery of this grain, and during the In~ian 
troubles it was very difficult to get any one to take the . cllances of 
freighting grain. I was o:fi'ered at J uleshurgh, when our grain was 
burnt up there--General Connor was stationed there, and in the spring 
intended to make an expedition against the Indians on the Powder 
River. He bad his stock there, and they were sh,ort of grain; be carne 
by at Fort Kearney; he said he had not grain enough, and that the 
contract was to be late in July, and he offeree! me ten dollars per bushel 
to deliver' 10,000 bushels at J ulesburgh, and I tried from the 1st of May 
until the 14th of June, and could not get anybody to deliver it. Nobody 
was willing to take their chances and life in their hands in hauling 
that grain. He offered me that in .May and extended the time. That 
was in the spring of the year. To give you an iflea of the cost of freight· 
ing grain in the winter season, Holladay was up at Port Kearney, and 
be was very anxious to get to running early, and the grass being all 
burned ofi', there was no · chance for the stock, the grain being scarce; 
and the division agent thought it would be impossible to start before 
grass; and I suggested that we would send a train load of oats from 
Kearney to Julesburgh, and I loaded that train at Nebraska City-six 
mule wagons-with sixt,y-five sacks of <tats to the wagon, and, of course, 
I had to feed on that going up, and I had to feed going back, and at 
each place I left the sarne amount that I consumed at the place, and I 
just had ten sacks to each wagon to leave at Julesburgh. 

Q. Why was it necessary for you to transport these oats ~-A. The 
stations with all the bay and grain had been burne(L 
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Q. From wllat point to what point ~-A. From Fort K--earney to Jules­
burgh, and J ulesburgh was destroyed; from Kearney I may say almost 
to Denver, with few exceptions. Fort McPherson was not destroyed, 
but with few exceptions the entire stations from Kearney to the junc­
tion, a distance of 300 miles, was destroyed. 

Q. How many stations were there in that distance ¥-A. A bon t 
thirty, I think. 

Q. \'Vhen were those destro.ved ~-A. In 1864. J ulesburgb was de­
stroyed in the winter of 1865-February 2d; the otilers were destroyed 
in the fall of 1864, and in the summer. 

Q. What other property was destroyed except the stations ~-A. Grain 
and bay. 

Q. Did yon furnish the grain for J ulesburgb station in the winter of 
1864 and spring of 1865, aud how much did you furnish there ?-A. I 
furnisiled in tlle neigil borhood of 300 sacks, and then I bought 5,000 
bushels at J ul~sburgl1. 

Q. What waR the average price at the time this grain was destroyed 
to replace it ?-A. It could not ba\·e been replaced at all, because mone.v 
wonld not do it; but I estimate at 20 cent's a pound for corn, because I 
could g~t that price. Tbe ilay we were in tile habit of putting up, 100 
tons at eacil station, an(l that year, on account of Indian troubles, we 
did not gp.t more than about 50 tons at each station. I measured the 
hay, and I thin.k it would average about 50 tons at each station. 

Q. \Vhere did you g-et your hay ~-A. vVe bad to get i t wherever we 
coulll, aud if it was not in the neighborhood, we had to haul it with 
teams. 

Q. How far did you haye to haul it ?-A. Sometimes seventy-five to 
one hundred miles. 

Q. What was hay worth 0?-A. Upon the average, at least $50 a ton. 
It cost that much a ton during the Indian trouble. 

Q. Now yon cau state from your best information how much grain 
and .bow much hay was destroJ·ed at the times the stations were de-· 
stroyed, not counting Julesburgh.-A. Upon the average over the 300 
mil~s I would say, from the best of my recollection, it would a\'erage 
\er.v near two lmndred and fifty sacks at each station. 

Q. And about how much bay ~-A. That would be about forty tons 
upon the average. We had to cut onr hay along the line wherever 

· we could find it, sometimes at a great distance, forty, fifty, and sixty 
miles from tile line. One man 'ivonld go out to cut hay, and a guard 
with rifles in their bands would have to be along to guard, and they were 
taking their lives in tileir bands every time the.v went out. Quite a 
nnmber of these hay parties were kill~d b.v the Indians, and w!Jen we 
weut to look after them, found nothing but their bones bleaching on tbe 
prairie. · When I commenced freighting I could get teamsters for twenty 
to twenty-five dollars a month, but during the Indian troubles I paid 
fifty dollars and seventy-five dollars all the time. 

Q. How long did the Indian troubles continue on the North Platte 
route where you were ?-A. \Ve bad no trouble in 1862 or 1853. In 1864 
was our first trouble. Til<~ :first year I freighted only to Julesburgh; 
that was in 186J, and in 18ll3 T had an uninterrupte~ year freigbtiug, 
but the following year the lllllian troubles commenced ou the Platte 
Vallev route. 

Q. Now state from information when they commenced ou the other 
route.-.A. 'l'iley commenced on the Laramie when I was on tlle Jules­
burgh route-in 1 8G2. 

Q. Yon stated in your examination that grain could not be got at any 
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price after the destruction of Julesburgh ?-A. But could be got at 
Kearney. 

Q. But not delivered along the roa(l ~---.A. No, sir. 
Q. They. had to ha\e corn °?-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How much did it cost to get the corn tllat you did get ~-A. Twenty 

cents a pound. 
Q. After the destruction of tllis graiu you had to take up a train of 

oats and supply the grain that was destroyed ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. You had !:o start from the fiissouri with the oats "!-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And, as you stated, you had to go up, and that the delay was 

damaging, and from thA time you got there and got back you could 
only leave about ten sacks to each wagon, after starting out with sixty­
five sacks to a wagon ?-A. Yes, sir. These troubles occurred during 
the war, when priees were very high. It looks large to speak of twenty 
cents a pound for corn, but when you take into consideration what it 
cost to get it there, it is not so large. I passed over the line with the 
paymaster once, and assisted him in making up his accounts. 

Q. What quarter was it ~-.A. I believe it was in the fall of 1862, when 
everything was peaceable and quie~, and when there were no Indian 
troubles. I went over in company with David Street, and assisted him 
casting up the accounts, arid from my recollection lJe paid over $300,000. 
That was from Atchison to Salt Lake Oity. 

Q. What expenses did that include ~-A. It was to pay for the em­
ployes on the road and all the small contracts, the current expenses of 
the line, not including the supplies of grain. I do not remember whether 
the bay was included or pot, but I am inclined to believe that it was in­
cluded in that quarter's settlement. 

Q. Did you supply the grain from Denv-er City west to the North Fork 
of the Platte ~-A. Not all of it. 

Q. WeiJ, you put grain at the stations ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Was there any purchase of corn made and hauled out between the 

Denver City station and North Platte and deposited at these stations 
by any other person than your.self ~-A. I was making my last trip for 
the far end of my route, intending to winter in the Laramie Plains, ~nd 
I got two trains snowed in at Oheyenne Pass, in the Black Hills, and 
we did not think we could get through until spriog. Everybody in the 
country said we could not get through, and Mr. Holladay saw the con­
dition we were in, and be purchased a train load of grain at Den\er, 
to be delivered where my grain was to be delivered-that was at Fort 
Halleck and North Platte station-and I remember what the contract 
was. 

Q. " 7 hat was it?-A. That was twenty cents per pound. Be gave 
fifteen cents for it ·and was to pay five cents a pound for the deliv-ery, 
but the man was unable to comply with his contract, and I got through 
with my grain and assisted !Jim as far as be went. His name was Alex· 
ander Majors. The reason Majors could not comply with his contract 
was on account of the bad weather and snow in the mountains. The 
reason they were to be refuruh;hed was from the fact that tlw Indians 
had destroyed it before that. 

Q. And you ba~ undertaken to resnpply it ?-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Now, in relation to these stations, you stated that tlJe average of 

stations would be worth about $2,000 each; please state what kind of 
stations they had west of Julesburg.-A. There we had splendid frame 
stables capable of holding a great many teams; they were built of pine 
lumber from west of Denver and they were all well built; a frame cor . 
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ral, and in addition to these stables there was a <1 welling-house of from 
four to six rooms. 

Q. In relation to stock, yon ha<l mules ~-A. Yes, sir; and horses and 
oxen. 

Q. Do you know sometlling about the value of them ~-A.. Yes, sir. 
Q. vVhat would be a fair valuati tm for the llorses and mules 1?-A. I 

know what I llad to pay when I bought any. 
Q. You did not buy for teams as fine mules as were used on the stage 

line ~-A. No, sir; but I paid five or six hundred dollars a pair for 
mules to do freighting. 

Q. How did tltey compare with tlle others ~-A. They were not as 
good as the stage mules. I would not consider $ 200 an extravagant 
price for mules. • 

Q. v\rere there any work oxen used, and what for ~-A,. Yes, sir; they 
were n~ed for supplying the stations with llay and wood. 

Q,. \Ybat were they valued at 1-A. They were worth $100 per head, 
or $~00 per yoke. 

(l Do you kuow of any having been taken by the Indians or <le­
~troyPd by the soldiers ¥-A. I know of twenty-nine being taken from 
Fort Kearney by the soldiers. There was a heavy piece of road from 
Kearney to Plum Creek, very saudy and muddy, and we pickeu out of 
all tlle horses tllat were bought in Chicago the best horses and tlley 
were put on that route. 

Q. You have read these affidavits ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Please give your lmowledge of the affiants' veracity, and whether 

they are worthy of uelief.-A. l have examined those affidavits, and am 
acquainted witll the affia.nts with few exceptions, and I believe them to 
be truthful and worthy of belief, and that wa"' their general reputation 
all through the conntry. Of those affiauts I do not know Mr. Murphy, 
1\Ir. Johnson, or Lieutenant Bruell. 

Q. What is your opinion in regard to the estimate put upon the loss 
and damage; is it a fair one of the value 0?-A. I uave no doubt from 
my experience in putting on supplies but what the losses would amount 
to what is stated. 

Q. What is ,Your opinion, whether due diligence was exercisP.d by Mr. 
Hollad".Y and hiR men in protecting the property and stations ~-A. I 
do not know a single exception where they neglected doing everything 
in tlleir power to protect their property, and in a great many instances 
risked their live~ in the care of the propert.y along the line. 

Q. And of your k11owledge you know that these Indians did attack 
the Rtations at various times ~-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Go on and make any statement you may desire to.-A. I will 
state, if I have not already that from the time the line came into the 
po~:session of Mr. llolladay until he left the road, I was with him and 
I had witnessed the uestrnetiou of property in many instances. In speak­
ing of the damage done the line at Julesburgh, I neglected to mention 
th e amount of wood that we had at this point. Coming down Pole Creek 
on my return trip from Spotswood's division where I deli\·ered grain, I 
loaded tiJese trains of twent;v-fi ve wagons to the train, and several trains, 
with wood, and deposited it atJulesburgh for convenience of distribution 
along the :road, which I could have sold for from fifty to one hundred 
dollars a cord at that place. That was taken by the soldiers and bnrnt 
for their benefit. I mu8t hav~ had one hundred cords of wood, and I 
know it was wortll fifty dollars a coni, and might have been worth 
seventy-five dollars. 

Q. From October, 186-!, to December, 18G5, the grain and provisions 
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nsed by the troops, including the fuel at J ulf'sburg, including the vari­
ous stations, the entire loss, according to the estilllate, seems to be 
$30,000; what is your opinion from what you know personally as to tlle 
correctness of that estimate ?-A. From what I know to have been de­
stroyed and used by the soldiers, I would say it was not an overesti­
mate, that amount. 

Q. Did you bear of any receipt by any officer or any one connected 
with the troops for tlw supplies taken a~-A. No, sir; I never heard of 
one being given to any one. 

Q. Were there any receipts askeq for by the station-keepers or any 
oue else who witnessed the destruction of this property ?-A. Yes, sir; 
the station-keepers have asked for receipts. 

Q . .,Vbat was tbeir reply generally ?-A. "I will chalk you out a re­
ceipt "-tbat is, they would invariably refuse. 

Q. \Vere they or were they not in the habit of corning to stations and 
gett-ing whatever they wanted in the way of grain or anything to eat 
and rPfusing to pay for it uutil an order was issued by General Mitchell 
prohibiting· them from using the property belon~dng to the line 0?-A. 
'l'hat was the case. Tllese raids became so frequent that I got onr 
agent at Fort Kearney to go to headquarters at Omaha and complain 
to tbe commanding officer of the department; and he wrote to General 
1\fitchell at Fort Kearney, and it was then that General Mitchell issued 
ti.lat order prohibiting the troops from interfering in any way whatever 
with these stations, or even camping witbin a reasonable distance. 

Q. Do sou recollect as to whether an order was issued by Colonel 
Chivington to remove the line on to the cut-oft ?-A. Yes, sir; I was in 
charge of the transportation. , 

Q. Did you remove the s.tations from the route sou tben occupied to 
the cut-off?-A. I assisted in moving them. 

Q. TJ ow did ~·ou get that grain over; and lww d i<l you move the sta­
tio us ?-A. V\"' e had to tear the stations all to pieces, and move them 
over to the new route on the cut-off from the Junction to Denver. 

Q. How far was the distance ?-A. From twenty-five to sixty miles. 
Q. How was the grain removed 0?-A. It was emptied out in bins.; 

and I rem em her I had to empty this graip, and took: tbe empty sacks­
back to Fort Kearney, with a view of selling the saoks in Kansas tp 
people there who could not get sacks, so that they might deliver their 
corn to Fort. Kearney. Then, afterward, I bad to make a trip back to 
Kearney for empty sacks, and we bad no-way of getting grain over there 
without the sack~, and we bad to resack it and take it over to the new 
cut-ofl'. That winter I wintered my stock in the cut-off. In moving the 
stations they had to be taken piece by piece to this new cut-off, and 
loaded in the wagons attld then moveu. 

Q. Wbat would it cost to do that work ?-A. I believe the item of 
$50,000, for removing the stations, and loss in grain and bay and cor­
rals and wood, and everything, was not overestimated. We had tbe 
best ~tock from Fort. Kearney to Denver. 

Q. Wlmt was tlle character of the stage-horses and stage-mules to 
Fort Kearney; was the stock valued at higher pri'Jes between Kearney 
and Denyer than on the line east of that 0?-A. 'fbere was the heaviest 
travel between Kearuev and Denver, ar1d therefore we had the best 
horses there. The sand ... was heavy, and the tra\el was greater, and we 
ilad to have the heaviest and best stock from Kearney to Denver. 

Q. I see the horses are valued at fifty dollars more between J uiesbnrg 
and Denver ¥-A. Because that was tbe heaviest sand we traveled over, 
and we had the best horses there. 
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Q. 'l'he stations are valued. at higher prices between Jnleslmrg and 
Deuver. Wby was that "?-A. Because they were built better, being 
built of lumber and. sllingles, and hauletl to snch a great distance; the 
shingles and uails, and e\erything used to build them, were worth so 
much more money ; besi<les, they were the best stations along the road. 

Q. Were you present at a hearing in the fall of 1864, between Col­
onel Ohiventon and Mr. Ben Holliday ¥-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Do you remember whether he protested against the removal of the 
stock and stations ~-A. Yes, sir; I remember distinctly the conversa­
tion. 

Q. What was it ~-A. My recollection is, he was urging Mr. Holi<lay 
to remove and run the cut-off and pass through Denver. 

Q. For what reason ~-A. He had few troops along that line and the 
great travel was on that line, and it compelled him to keep two lines 
open- the mail line and the one on the cut-off, to protect the traveling. 
Be urged that as a reason-that he bad not troops enough to guard bo11ll 
lines. 

Q. Was it under tllis order that the stations were removed over to the 
cnt-off¥-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you see this order yonrself?-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Do you know that an affidavit was waG!e here by R. L. Pease,_ 

A. 1 saw tlle affidavit. 
Q. Do ~'OU know wllere. he resides~ and, if so, state it.-A. I under­

staud he resides in Kansas at this time.· 
Q. Do you know anytlling about his character as a man of truth¥­

A. Yes, sir; I know him well and regard him as a man of truth. 
Q. Do you know Lemuel Flowers ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What is his character for truth and veracity ·~-A. He was as good 

a man as there was iu the employ of the stage line, and I regard him as 
a man of truth and veracity. 

Q. Do you know H.ichard Murray ~-A. Yes, sir; he was a driver. 
Q. vVhere does he li \'e ~-A. I do not know. 
Q. Do yoll know Slarle ¥-A. Yes, sir ; he is dead. 
Q. He makes an affidavit here; do you not consider he would swear 

to the truth and nothing else ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Do you know Mr. Babcock ~-A. I do know him very well. 
Q. \Vhat was his character for truth anu veracity "?-A. He is truth· 

ful. 
Q. vVonlcl you believe him Ullder oath ¥-A. Certainly. 
(~. Do you know James Bromley "?-A. I know him very well. 
Q. vVhat character has he fur truth a.ud veracity ~-A. I believe he 

would swear to the truth. 
Q. vVhere does he reside ~-A. I do not know. 
Q. Do :you know William A. Heiu ~-A. Very well. 
Q. Do you know where he resi<les ~-A. I unuerstand he lives in vVy­

oming. 
Q. \Vllat was llis character for trutll and veracity ~-A. He was tr~th· 

ful. 
(~. Seeman Johnson, do you know him '-A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know Ezekiel_ Eaton "t-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What was his characte[' for truth and veracity ¥-A. I believe he 

would swear to the truth. 
(~. Do you know Mr. l~eynolds ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. ¥11Jat was his character for trntll and veracity f-A. He was trnth· 

ful and an honest mau. 
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Q. Do J·on know f:}eorge M. Lloyd ~-A. Yes~ sir; I lived with him at 
Fort Kearnes. a long time. 

Q~ Do you kuow where he is ~-A. He was drowned in the Sacra-
mento River; he was a man of veracity and tru~h. 

Q. Did you know Charles Ives "?-A. Be is a good man. 
Q. Did you knowS. 0. Jerome 1-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Do yotl know where he is ~-A.. I do not. 
Q. What was his character for truth and veracity V-A. I do not think 

be would swear to a lie. 
Q. Did you know Reuben S. Thomas "?-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What was his character for truth and veracit.y ~-A. Be was a 

truthful man. 
Q. Where is be ~-A. He is in Arizona. 
Q. Did you know Mr. Riddle ~-A. Yes, sir; very well. 
Q. What was his character for truth and veracity ~-A. He was a 

trntbful and an honest man. 
Q. Do you know Captain Murphy, of the .Army 1-A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you kuow Mr. Hudnut ¥-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Wllat was his character for trut,h and veracity ~-A. He was a 

good man ; he was a messenger. 
Q. Now Richard Quinn ~-A. I know him very well; be Lad charge of 

the property at Kearney and J ulesburgh. 
Q. Do you know where he is now ~-A. I do not. 
Q. What was his character for truth and veracity 1-A. He was as 

good a man as we bad on the road. . 
Q. Do you know Andrew S. Hughes ~-A. Very well; I believe he is 

in Denver now. 
Q. What was his charaoter for truth and veracity ~-A. It was good. 
Q. Did you know 'Lieut. S. Bruell ~-A. I do not know whether I 

know him or not. 
Q. Did you know James Stewart ?_:_A, Very well; he was first di· 

vision agent and afterwards assistant superintendent. 
Q. What was his character for truth and veracity ~-A. He was a 

good man. 
Q. Where does Le reside 1-A. He is in California running a stage­

line there. 
Q. Do J'OU know William Trotter~_:_A, Very well. 
Q. What was he ~-A. He was first a driver, then a station-keeper, 

and then division agent. 
Q. Wbat was his character "?-A. It was good. 
Q. Do you recollect the burning of J ulesburgh ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Do you recollect the attack uponJulesburgh,before it was burned, 

and a coach being taken there-if it was taken ?-A. Yes, sir; the 
coach was robbed at Julesburgh. 

Q. At that time were you acting as local agent at Kearney ~-~1\... Yes, 
sir. 

Q. What were your duties at Fort Kearne.v ~-A. To make out the 
local wa.v-bill from Kearney west, and t<J check for any packages on the · 
through bill. 

Q. What do you understand by checking a through bill.-A. Writing 
your name on it. 

Q. That is to say, the name of everything called for is on the c~>ach, 
and you have to note its date of arrival ~-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Do you recognize this paper 0? (Handing paper to witness.)-A. 
Yes, sir. 

Q. What is it 1-A. It is the loc~tl way-bill that I made out. 
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Q. Do you recognize this paper~ (Handing witness a ' paper.)-A. 
Yes, sir. 

Q. \Vhat is it ~-A. It is a duplicate through way-bill. 
Q. vVbat is your recollection of the amount of treasure which was on 

the coach at the time tlleJulesburgh station was robbed; when it pasRed 
you ~-A. I remember that I told the agent that it was a large amount 
of treasure; and that I told him that there was one package alone, di­
rected to C. A. Cook & Oo., that bad $10,000 in it. It was the agent 
who relieYed me. The next day we bad the news of its loss, and I stated 
it would ue a great loss to the line, because I noticed that there was 
heavy treasure. 

Q. You identify this as a duplicate or copy of the through way-bill~­
A. Yes, sit·. I know it from the fact, particularly, that 1 received a pack­
age of $4:,000 mysf'lf at that time and receipted for it. 

Mr. R. J. SPOTTSWOOD sworn . 

.By Senator CAMERON: 

GEOHGE H. CARLYLE. 

Question. What is your name, ag·e, aud residence ~-Answer. My 
Jiarue is Robert J. Spottswood. I am 3S years old; and I Jive in 1\iorri-
son, Colorado. · 

Q. What is your present occupation ~-A. I am aU nited States mail­
coBtractor, carryiug mails in Colorado. 

Q. Are you acquainted with Mr. Holladay ?-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How long have JOU been acquainted with him~- ..... <\... I have known 

him since 1863. · 
Q. Were you at any time in his employ ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. When ~-A. From November, 1862, to the fall of 1866. 
Q. What was your business while you were in his employ ~-A. I was 

express messenger between Atchison, Kansas, and Denver, Colorado. 
I was then appointed division agent from Julesbnrg to Den\Ter, and 
from tlwre to Central City, in the mountains, 45 miles from Denver. 
In 1864 I was sent west by Mr. Holladay to assist in stocking the road 
from Salt Lake City to Virginia City, Montana. After remaining there 
.six months and getting the road ~tocked I was sent down to take charge 
of the first division out of Denyer, from Denver to North Platte, 226 
miles. 

Q. Please look at these (copies of affidavits, marked Exhibit A) and 
state what you know in ref(jrence to the loss of stock and other property 
ownetl by Mr. Holladay, as therein stated.-A.. I do not remember the 
days, but the amount of stock and the property destroyed .is correct in 
my affidavit contaiued in this pamphlet marked Exhibit A. 

Q. Do yon recollect the contract that was made by Alexander l\Lljors 
for taking grain out on the line of the mail-route ~-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. W-hen was that contract made and executed ~-A. I cannot state 
from positive knowledge. 

Q. \Vhat was the price of grain at that time ~-A. I know that t.lle 
usual price was 20 ceuts a pound at Denver, and I have paid as high as 
25 cents a ponnd for the stage-line on my division at Big Thompson. 

Q. How far was that from Denver 0t-A. It was 52 miles west frorq 
Denver. 

Q. Was there any station destroyed on your dh'ision, and how was 
the station coustructed, and what wad their order 1?-A. TIJere was one 

. ' 
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station burnt on my division and that was Litt1e J,a,ramie; that was 
built. of bewn logs; it was daubed and pointed out. This was a swing 
station, and thPrc ~as a stable 25 feet front and 45 feet deep. It would 
bold 25 bead of horses, witll a well in it, and one room fitted upS by 10, 
and a cooking stove, with furniture, &c. Tlle station and corral there 
destroyed was worth $3,500. I tllink that is a fair valuatioa. Tlle logs 
of the corral were dove-tailed together; they were very Leavy logs. It 
would seem impossible for a man to climb over. They were put up for 
the purpose of protecting the stations, and built so high tllat no one 
could climb o,·er. They ~ere destroyed August, 1865. 

Q. Between what dates were you in charge of this division of the 
stage line "?-A. From October, 1864, to the fall of 1866. 

Q. How long a time during the period of the ln(lian disturb :-mce was 
it tllat sou failed to carry the mail there, regularly or irregularly ?-A. 
During the Indian troubles I carried the mail, with few exceptions, reg­
ularly once a week from Virginia .Dale to the end of my division; from 
Denver to Virginia Dale seven times a week regularly. · 

Q. Did the government furnish you any assistance in carrying them 1 
-A. Sometimes, and sometimes not; sometimes tive or six soldiers, and 
sometimes they would furnisll tlle road witll a guard, and sometimes I 
would furnish the guard myself. 

Q. Did the government furnish yon with any stock at any time ~-A. 
They did on two occa,sions. 

Q. How much ~-A. Twelve head of mules, when making a trip be­
tween Virginia Dale and North Platte, and six head of mnles at another 
time between North Platte and Sulphur Springs. 

Q. What is the distance between Virginia D£1le ami North Platte~­
A. One hundred and twenty-six miles. 

Q. What military officer, if any, was in command at North Platte¥­
A. Captain Humphrey~ville. 

Q. Are you positive that the government did Hot carr.v the mail for 
you, or did they furnish mules or soldiers, except as a loan ~-A. They 
never by themsel\es carried the mail. Tltey mel'el,y assisted as a, guard, 
and uo mail was carried oYer my division unless I accompanied it, and 
no Yehicle of the government went except Holia<lay's coaches. On one 
occasion I borrowed an am bulanoe from an officer at Fort Halleck. 

Q. vVhat waR done at Sulphur Springs by the Indians 0?-A. They 
made an attack in the morning of the 16th of J nne. I went there with 
six head of overloaded mules belonging to Mr. Holladay and the ambu­
lance bclouging to the government. Iliad four mules of the ~tage -line 
and two mules belongiug to the government aud a v-aluable saddle­
horse belonging to tlle stage-line. l got tllere in the evening, and t.he 
next morning al>ont sunrise-I had gone forty-five miles ofl:' m.r own di­
vision across a break in Stewart's division to assist llim. and the stock 
was all turned out a quarter of a mile back of the station, in what is 
called the "meadow." vVe had a gnard of four or five men, and w·ere 
sitting in the house, and we bad a guard of fifteen Indians as an escort 
from l:l'ort Halleck to Sulphur Springs, and their horses were picketed 
around the station, and all at once we heard the cry of Indians. Stew­
art and myself were tlle fil'.st out of the house. As we ruslleu out we 
saw the ludians coming over this meadow-seventy-five or one hun<lred 
Indians-they running the stock out of the mea<low down over the sage 
brush a quarter of a mile below·-runlling the stock into the mountains. 
Lieutenant Brown, who was in charge of the soldiers, or<lered them to 
saddle and mount and follow the Iudians. Stewart and myself went 
with them. \Ve followed tlle trail about six miles be~·oLHl tlle station. 
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The officer in command remarked there was no use of going any further; 
that they were too strong and might overpower us, so we returned to 
the station. Stewart lost about forty-five bead of stock belonging to 
Mr. Holladay, and I lost my horse and six mules. 

Q. How rlid you conduct the bnsiness of carrying the mail ~-A. I 
frequently passed over the road, and sometimes would take two coaches 
and sometimes three. From Denver to Virginia Dale we bad no ln­
<1ian trouble, and the mail ran daily to Virginia Dale. At the end of 
the week I would have seven mails there, and I would load that seven 
mails on two or three coaches, and would take the soldiers that were 
there and what men of my own that I tb0nght were necessary and pnt 
a guard upon each coach, armed with breecll-loading guns, and I would 
bave this protection. One hundred and twenty-six miles I wouhl drive 
at night, and lie up in the day-time, In the day-time 1 would get a 
high, commanding view, where I could see everything, and lie there all 
day. I would go to the North Platte, the end of my division, across 
the break made by the Indians on that part of the road, and if I did 
not find Mr. Stewart there I would ·go farther on his division; but if I 
did find him there we would exchange mails, aud by doing that I would 
keep the mails going. 

Q. If an officer had carried mails on Stewart's route, which was di­
rectly west of yours, would .you have known it ~-A. YeR, sir. 

Q. Did or did not the government carry it on the west route ?-A. 
No, sir; only to assist Stewart with soldiers, as an escort, in carrying 
the mails. · 

Q. You also run a division from Julesburg to Denver ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. The stations seem to be valued, on that division, at a greater 

price; wily was that ?-A. They were built differently~ These stations 
were built in better shape than on any other part of the route. The 
lumber was hauled from the divide southwest of Denver, and the lum­
ber sawed and freighted over there-and lumber was high at that time. 
The stables were built 50 feet long by 25 feet wide, and they had large 
granaries bujlt to them, and they were battened up, and shingled roof. 
The bouses were shingled roofs, and had uprigllt bolts, and were bat­
tened tight; very nsat kitchen and diu in g-room; most of them had 
four rooms l>eHides the dining-room and kitchen. These stations were 
the best on the liue. Passengers got their meals there, and they were 
eating--stations. 

Q. Did you ever know of any of the stations being used for any other 
purpose except for the purpose of the company and except as an ~ating­
station ~-A. No, sir. 

Q. Did you know of any trading of goods, or anything being sold at 
· any of the stations ?-A. No, sir; my instructions were positive, to 
allow no goods or liquors to be sold within a quarter of a mile of any 
station. I do not know of any being sold on the route. Tiley were 
used entirely for the company purposes, tor feeding passengers and em­
ployes along the line. 

Q. Did passengers have any other places for eating ~-A. No, sir; 
there were no other ranches along the line. 

Q. Do you know Stewart's route ~-A. Yes, f?ir; his stations were 
generally stone or wood. Some of them were built as at Sulphur Springs, 

. of hewn logs and shingled roof. 
Q. From that down how were they built ?-A. They were built of 

stone. They were large stations. There was a station-keeper and wife 
at each horne station. 
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Q. Wllat was tile length of Stewart's division f-A. Two hundred 
miles from North Platte to Green River. 

Q. What time did you run his division f-A. I was appointed <lids­
ion agent tllere in 1868. 

Q. State what those stations on Stewart's division were worth.-A. 
I think they were worth about $2,000 apiece. The Pine Grove Station 
was partinlly destroyed. 

Q. 'Vhat kind of stock was there between Julesbnrg- and Denver ?-
A. At the time I run that division w·e ha.d mules. -

Q. Who was in command in tlle spnng and summer of 1865 on your 
dh·ision ~-A. Captain Humphrey ville. 

Q. Wl10 was tlle commanding officer at Denver "?-A. I know Gen­
eral Moonlight \Vas there a. short time. General Connor was in com­
mand of the district. General Potter was at Fort Halleck in 1866. 

Q. \iVhen did the Indians cease to trouble ~-A. They quit in Septem­
ber, 1865, and in Septembet: again in 1866; the last Indian depredation 
was in 1866. I had no grain or bay destroyed on my route. 

Q. You were tllere during the Indian depredation '?-A. I went there 
in the fall of 1864, and the Indian trouules began in 1865. 

Q. You are acquainted with Mr. Stewart ?-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Where is he now ~-A. He is in California, I think. 
Q. ~~hat is his clmracter for truth 1-A. I would believe auy state­

ment lle would make. 
Q. You haYe examined his atlidavits ~-A. Yes, sir; and belie\~e them 

to be true. 
Q. Were you e\·er on the old South Pass route ~-A. I was there in 

the summer of 1862, and I commenced working for Holladay in the fall 
of 1862. I am speaking of between Fort Laramie and the old South 
Pass road. 

Q. In 1862, you went over tllat road ?-.t\. I have been over it sev­
eral times. Iu 1864, when I took stock out to Montana, I went over 
that route. 

Q. In the summer of 18G2 did you pass over tllat road ?-A. Yes, 
sir. 

Q. \Vhat was tlle condition of the stations ~-A. Tile Rtations on the 
Dig Sandy and the Little San<ly, ou tile Sweetwater, aud the last cross­
ing on tlle Sweetwatm·, were <lestmyed. 

Q. vVere there any troops when you went across there ~-A. There 
were troops statioued at Fort Laramie, til en at Louis Guinand Bridge at 
the upper crossing of the North Platte, and no more troops until you 
got to Ji"'ort Bridger; but the stage line then had been removed from 
that route to what is known as the Laramie Plains and Bitter Creek 
route. After tlie road was located and the stock moved on it, tllen I was 
division agent on the new road. 

Q. Did you, or dill you not, cousitler that as safer than on the Sweet 
\Vater road ~-A. I considered the new road safer, because the Sioux 
could come from the north on to the old road quicker than on the new 
route, which was fartlwr to the south. 

Q. Please look at the statement of loss and damage appended to your 
affidavit contained in the exhibit marked .A, and tell the committee 
whether that is a correct statement, and the propert,y worth the amount 
set forth ?-A. The statement is correct in e\·ery particular, and the val­
ues are just and correct. 

Q. You have examined tlle affidavits before the committee in relation 
to the losses of the claim of .Mr. Holladay ?-.L\. I have, sir. 

Q. Are you acquainted with most of · these persons making the affi.-
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davits, and what do you know of them ~-A. I was personally acquainted 
with pretty near all of them, with but two or three except,ions. I con­
sider them good and honest men, and I would believe them under oath. 

Q. You know Mr. Flowers ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Do you know what his office was on the road ?-A. Division agent. 
Q. Please state what were the duties of the division agent ~-A. He 

had charge of from 150 to 200 miles of road daily, which was stocked. 
It was his duty to see that the stock was properly tak.en care of, and 
that the coaches over his diYision were ou time with tile mail, and tllat 
the mails were taken care of properl,y, and safely conducted over his 
division. He had full charge of the drivers; station-keepers, local 
agents, stock-keepers, and all the employes of his division. lt was his 
duty to S<'e that they performed their duties. Be was responsible for 
everything. Be reported from time to time to the general superin­
tendent of losses of stock, &c. A division agent h·as a position of great 
responsibility. I received my instructions from Mr. Holladay direct, 
during the Indian troubles. The first time I telegraphed Mr. Holladay 
was at the time of the raid on the Laramie plaius. I telegraphed him 
as to what I should do, and he telegraphed me back that,- being on the 
ground, I should use my own judgment, but to conduct the mails 
through at all hazards; and if we could not run out daily, to run out as 
often as we could. 

Q. What protection did you receive from tlle government? What 
number of troops were there in your division during the Indian troubles, 
and what was the protectiot;~ afforded ~-A. I cannot tell the number, 
but I can describe the protection. The Indian troubles broke out in 
June, 1865. Tllere \Tas a post at Camp Collins, and 105 miles west of 
there, or north west, there was another military post called Fort Hal­
leck. At each one of these posts, I think, there was about one com . 
pany of soldiers. I applied to the commanding officer of each post to get 
soldiers to post along at the different stations, where I considered there 
was the most danger. I got from tl1ree to fi\'e soldiers, with a non-com­
missioned officer; and then at different times I got an escort of mounted 
troops to go with the coach in Limes of great danger. ·Along in tlle 
summer of 1865 I got an escort for the coach, and at stations where I 
considered there was the greatest danger StDd needed the most protec­
tion. 

Q. What protection, if any, did :ron have, aside from the military pro­
tection~ Was anybody residing on this route ~-A. There were some 
few r~mclles. A ranch cousists of a log house with three or four rooms. 
dirt roof, staked corral-that is, sta.kes put into the ground and set very 
close tog-ether, and about ten feet high. They were there to trade with 
the emigrants along the road, and to trade iu stock, sell a few goods aud 
a little 'Yhisky; and where they were half a mile or a mile from those 
stations they would all come in to the station in time of trouble, and the 
rancbmen and employes and soldiers at the station would combine to­
gether tor protection. 

Q. Do ron know of any negligence on your division, or any other, 
whe1e there was a failure on the part of the emploj:es to carry the 
mails w ben it was possible to do so ~-A. I never heard of anything of 

. that kind. I never bad a man refuse; when I told him to go he always 
went. 

Q. How is it as to the danger ~-A. Across from Virginia Dale to Bit­
ter Creek-whene\'er a man left Virginia Dale and started on that break 
he was in danger of his life, for an Indian was likeiy to jump up from 
behind a bush at any point and shoot him down. 



48 CLAIM OF BEN HOLLADAY. 

- Q. How far is that break ~-A. About 280 miles. Vir~iuia D elle was 
my headquarters, where I }{ept all of my extra stock, extra supply of 
gra.in, and all extras appertaining to running stage-lines, and that made 
it a very important point. I had more supplies and more soldiers there 
than at any other point on the route. Some time in August this station 
was attacked by a large baud of Indians. vVe fought them for two days, 
and it was only by the most strenuous efforts the station was saved 
from capture and being burned. They killed James Ennis, an employe 
of the company. Two men were wounded and a bull and mule killed. 

Q. How many men on Stewart's division were killed ¥-A. IIe had 
two men killed at Sage Creek in 1865. He had three or four killed 
.altogether. 

Q. How many men were killed on your division ¥-A. In 1865 and 
1866 there were four emplo_yes killed. 

E, F. HooiCEl~ sworn. 

By Senator CAMERON: 
Q. Where do you reside ~-A. Des Moines, Iowa. 
Q. What is your business ~-A. Railroading is my business. 
Q. What business have you generally been engaged in '-A. Staging 

all my hfe-tbat is, since 1840. 
Q. Where did you commence staging ~-.A.. In Ohio. 

· Q. In your business, did you ever run a stage-line from Fort Kearney 
to Denver "?-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. In what years ~-A. 1860 and 1861, I think it was. 
Q. Had you any difficulties at that time on the road ¥-A. Nothing 

serious. 
Q. What year did yon stop running to Denver ~-A. The fall of 1861. 

We sold out to the 0. 0. C. and Pike's Peak Express Company, I think, 
in the fall of 1861. 

Q. That was a line between Fort Kearney and Denver ~-A. Between 
Fort Kearney and Central City by way of Denver. 

Q. Did you ever pass over the line after you sold out ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What year ~-A. I passed over it once when .Mr. Holladay owned 

it. . ' 
Q. Do you recollect the year ?-A. I think it was in 1863 I was fre· 

q uently at Fort Kearney. . 
Q. Were there any Indian depredations on the road when you passed 

over it after selling it 0~-A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know anything about the character of the stock of the over- · 

land. road after Mr. Holladay commenced runniug it '-A. Very well; 
.I know all about it. 

Q. What was the character of the stock used ~-A. Mostly mul~s, 
west of Fort Kearney. , 

Q. In your judgment, what was a fair price for such animals as were 
used on that road 1-A. Tile average cost of those mules would be about 

.$200. 
Q. How about the horses ~-A. The horses cost about the same; that 

would be the average cost of them. 
Q. Do you recollect the road between Julesburg and Denver '-A. 

YeR, sir; know all about it. 
Q. What was the nature of the road 1-A. It was a heavy, sandy road, 

·most of it, all but about the last thirty miles. 
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Q. vVhat kind of stock was required to carry the mails ~-A. Very 
heavy stock. 

Q. What was the value of this stock ~-A. l\fore valuable, I should 
think, than it was on the balance of the road. Yes, sir; more valuallle 
on the balance of the road further east. ' 

Q. Do you know anything about the price of grain, what grain was 
worth in the years of 1862, 3, 4, and 5, after the Indian war corn me need ' 
-A. It averaged twenty to twenty-five cents per pound delivered at 
the stations-corn and oats-oats were just as valuable per poun.d as 
corn. 

Q. Do ym1 recollect anything about the stations that were on the 
road, especially those west of Julesburg-what was their value' State 
all you know about it.-A. The stations that I saw would cost from 
$2,000 to $3,000 apiece, including the Btables and corrals and houses. 
All the lumber for thDse stations had to be transported from Denver and 
the mountain country west of Denver. The glass and nails were trans­
ported b.v wagon from the Missouri River, either Atchison or Saint Jo­
seph. The expense of the long haul of material made those stations 
very valuable; also the nails and glass being hauled from the Missouri 
River made them very expensive. The wood for fuel all had to be hauled 
from one hundred to one hundred and seventy-fivp, miles. 

Q. Do you recollect anything particular about the situation at Jules­
burg~ If you do, tell what you know about it as to its value.-A. My 
recollection is, that there were three buildings for supplies and houses 
for the employes of the st.age company to live in; a stable and corral. 
I do not recollect how large the stable was-probably would accommo­
date fifty horses. Then there was a storehouse for corn and supplies, 
which would hold, probably, six or eight thousand bushels of corn; a 
large shed for coaches, blacksmith's shop, telegraph office, repair shop, 
and other buildings, but I don't recollect what they were used for; the 
lumber for which all had to be hauled from the mountain country west 
oLDenver. These buildings ·were all frame, and of as good material as 
could be secured at that time-shingled throughout. 

Q. Do you think the valuatiQn of $35,000 was more or less than the 
property was worth~-A. I should not have supposed it could have been 
put up for less than that amount. The wages of meehanics were worth 
from $5 to $6 and $7 a day, and, in addition, they had to be fed; and 
the supplies for all these men had to be transported from the Mis­
souri River-bacon and everything of that kind. There was nothing in 
the country then. 

Q. What would you consider th~ average value of stage-harness, E~uch 
as was required on that road~-A. Probably $100; they would average· 
that throughout the road; when new they would cost $110, and during 
the war the cost was $120 a set. When I said it cost $110 a set I meant 
at Concord; the transportation of harness from Concord west probably 
averaged $5 a set. 

Q. You have passed up the . Platte. Did you ever go on the Cut-off 
road ~-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Have you examined the affidavits of R. S. Thomas and W. Rey­
nolds '-A. I have. 

Q. Estimate as near as you can, or approximate the cost of removing 
eight stations, including the corn and hay, and putting the stations upon 
the Cut-oft' road.-.A. I have no idea that the labor of removing the hay 
and grain, and the loss in hay and grain, and putting up the new sta­
tions could be done for less than $5,000 a station. 

Q. As far as your knowledge went about the coaches and horses and 
S. Mis. 19--4 
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stock of the road, bow did it compare with other stage-routes ~-A. It 
was one of the finest stage-lines, without exception, that there was in the 
country; they would have been so conceded by all stage-men . 

. Q. Do you think it was necessary and proper for the maintenance of 
the line to establish a depot of supplies at Julesburg ~-A. I considered 
it quite· indispensable. The road forked there for Denver and for all 
the country west; consequently it was necessary to have such a depot 
for supplying those different lines, and this being the only safe, or, at 
least, the safest place-a military depot being near-! do not con­
sider the outlay for building, under the circumstances, too great. The 
countrv both east and west was infested at that time with Indians who 
at times were very troublesomo. Large amounts of grain and supplies 
for the road, of clothing, coffee, sugar, forage, and everything of that 
kind, were necessary to qe stored at some point where they could be 
easily transported without loss. 

Q. Have you examined the affidavits filed in this ~ase, marked "Ex­
hibit A" ~-A. I have. 

Q. Do you know the parties making the same-any of the affiants ~­
A. I know a majority of them. 

Q. And as to their character for veracity, would you be willing to 
take a statement made by them under oath 1-A. I would. 

Q. And the general opinion in regard to them, was it good or bad~­
A. It was good, generally. 

Q. And so far as your know lege goes, the estimates appended to each 
affidavit as to the value of property lost and destroyed is a fair and 
equitable valuation 1-A. From my knowledge of the country, I should 
think it was. 

Q. And that the amounts, as estimated as having been lost and de­
stroyed, it would be fair, would it not;· and that the amount of supplies 
so estimated was on the grot!nd at the time ~-A. I should think it 
would be quite necessary to have that amount to keep the line running. 

Q. And when you bad charge of the line yourself, in your opinion the 
road could not be run unless such an,amount of supplies was always on 
the ground ~-A. It would always be necessary to keep that amount of 
grain on band for immediate use. 

Q. Why was it necessary to keep such a large amount of supplies on 
band ~-A. The reason was because the supplies could not he hauled in 
the winter season. It was only during the summer and fall that these 
supplies could be hauled from the Missouri River, where all grain had 
to be transported from, and all the supplies necessary for the stations. 

Q. How was that transportation usually made ~-A. By wagons, both 
with ox and mule teams. 

Q. Could not supplies be hauled in the winter sea$on ~-A. It would 
not be possible, unless at a very great expense, to haul -those supplies 
during the winter time-next to impossible, and it hardly could have 
been done. 

Q. Why would it have been impracticable to convey grain in the 
winter time by mule-team-either in the fall, winter, or spring ~-A. 
The cause of the impracticability of hauling supplies for the road dur­
ing the three seasons would be the want of grass, as it would be ei'tber 
killed by frost or burned up. It was the usual custom in the fall and 
winter to burn it off; and to haul supplies for the road and feed with 
grain during transportation would require more feed than a train could 
haul to supply them both ways, and consequently they could not leave 
any at the different stations. 

E. F. HOOKER. 
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DAVID ST.REET sworn. 

By Senator CAMERON: 
Question. What is your name, and where uo yon resi<le ~- .... ~nswer. 

Davi<l Street, Kansas City, Mo. 
Q. You have heard the resolution of the Senate under which you 

were summoned to appear before this committee to give testimony in 
the case of Ben Holladay. Please state what you kncfw about his claim.­
A. Ever since 1858 I have been engaged in the bu:::iness of freighting and 
staging on the plains; am familiar with all the various routes as they 
existed prior to the completion of the Union Pacific Railroad, and know 
all the risks, dangers, and other incide~ts to which the business was 
su~jected iu that country. vVheu the property of the Central City and 
Pike's Peak Overland Express Company was transferred to the Overland 
Stage Line, Ben Holladay, proprietor, I entered his service as paymas­
ter, and continued in that capacity until November, 1866. In this posi­
tion I had to discharge the duties also of auditor and purchasing agent, 
and whenever Ben Holladay was on the line I acted as his private secre­
tary. In this way I became thoroughly familiar with the business 
carried on, the capital involved, and the losses and damages sustained 
from different causes. In May, 1862, I met Mr. Holladay at Port Kear­
ney and accompanied him to Denver; remained with him during his 
stay there, and accompanied him to Salt Lake City, he having been in­
structed by the Postmaster-General to keep the overland mails moving, 
and if not possible in the face of Indian depredations and want of pro­
tection on the South Pass route, to try some other route. Prom such 
reports as he received before leaving Denver of the condition of affairs 
on the stage road on the Fort Laramie and South Pass road, in regard 
to the depredations of the Indians and the inability of the military 
forces to afford him protection for his stage line, and upon consultation 
with persons thoroughly acquainted with that portion of country and the 
habits and customs of the Indians, he believed that the only safety for the 
overland stage line lay in getting out of the Sweet Water and South Pass 
country, which was the favorite hunting ground of several tribes of InQ 
dians, and seeking a more southern route, though he was aware in so doing 
he would have for some two hundred and fift.v miles to pass through a 
region of sage-brush plains, where was no grass, no game, alkali water, 
and heavy sand, but these disadvantages were the best guarantee of 
exemption from depredations of the Indians. He therefore sent John 
Kerr, a practical and competent man, with a party of men over the 
Bridger Pass and Bitter Creek route, or as it was sometimes called the 
" Cherokee Trail," with instructions to make a careful examination and 
measurement of the road, and report to him at Salt Lake City. On our 
trip to Salt Lake, west of Fort Laramie, from Horseshoe Creek station to 
Ham's Fork, the part of the line on which the Indian depredations were 
committefl and which was then threatened by Indians, we found the stage 
line in a disorganized condition; stations and property abandoned. The 
employes had taken the stock, coaches, and such property as they could 
haul in them to places which afl'orded the most security from Indian 
attacks, or in stage phraseology had "bunched the stock." We found 
mail matter strewn in and about th!3 station, in some places to the depth 
of a foot or more, where the Indians had emptied it in order to get the 
mail bags. It was about three or four weeks after the last raid of the 
Indians on the line, and the fight of the mail party (nine men and two 
coaches), had with the Indians near Three Crossings of Sweet Water, in 
which six out of the nine men were wounded; the employes were ex-
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cited and alarmed, for the Indians were known to be still in the vicinity. 
We were joined at Fort Laramie by General Craig, in command of 
troops in that district, and at Horseshoe Creek station by J. A. Slade, 
division agent, whose division comprised a part of the line upon which 
the most of the depredatious had been c6mmitted. · The only troops 
we saw between Fort Laramie and South Pass was a small detachment 
of cavalry under Liel\tenant Wilcox, at the last crossing of Sweet Water. 
General Craig left us at South Pass, and admitted that with the small 
force of troops at his disposal he could not protect the stage line for such 
a distance. 

From such information as Mr. Holladay gathered from his agents and 
others, he was confirmed in his belief of the necessity of abandoning the 
South Pass and Fort Laramie route. John Kerr, the man sent over the 

. Bridger Pass rc:rlite, arrived in Salt Lake and made his report. After 
full deliberation, Mr. Holliday determined upon the removal of his stage 
line to the Bridger Pass route. He ordered Kerr back over the same 
route, with instructions to get wagons at Fort Bridger, load some tents, 
and remeasure the road, and locate and stake out places for the stations. 
I was sent back over the South Pass route, carrying the news of Mr. 
Holladay's determination to remove the road, and his instructions in re­
gard to the same. In the mean time the stock had been " strung out" 
at the stations and the mail service resumed. I fountl the line still 
threatened with Indians, and the employes alarmed so much that but 
for my assurances that the removal from that country would certainly 
be made within the shortest possible time, they would not have re­
mained at the stations. .A few days after I passed over the line, and 

just before the removal the Indians made a raid on different parts of 
the line, running off stock, and committing other depredations. 

In making the removal in the hasty manner in whicQ. we were com­
pelled to, we bad to abandon a great deal of valuable property. The 
.stations were all of a substantial character, and at the supply stations, 
~especially at Horseshoe Creek station, were blacksmith shop, coach and 
harness shops, warehouses, lodging houses, offices, and corrals, all of 
the most substantial character, and owing to scarcity of suitable mate­
rial in that region bad been erected at heavy cost. From my observa­
tion and knowledge I was convinced that the mail service could not have 
been performed on that route in the condition the country was in. I 
know the most of the employes of the line and others who have filed 
affidavits in this case, and know them to be men of truth and veracity. 
I know of the depredations committed from time to time on various 
parts of the line, bought and paid for horses, mules, and supplies tore­
place those stolen by the Indians, and paid for stations built to replace 
those burned by the Indians. I was compelled to buy grain wherever I 
could find it, to replace that stolen by Indi-ans, and was compelled to pay 
exorbitant prices for it. To replace that destroyed at J ulesburgh, and 
in that raid, I bought grain of the government grain contractors and of 
emigrants at a very high price. 

Passing as I did over the line every quarter, m'aking t tt- regnlar 
quarter-yearly payments of the line, the full details of depredations 
would rea~h me. During the stoppage of the service by Indian depre­
dations we were obliged to keep the full quota of men on the pay-rolls, 
and they were .paid their regular wages the same as though they had 
been at work. The line was subjected to heavy losses in consequence 
of an order given by Colonel Chivington for the removal of the line from 
the South Platte to the cut.off route to Denver, a.t the commencement of 
winter, when all the supplies for the winter had been put at the stations, 
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and again subjected to serious losses in conse·quence of dam(:tge done 
and property taken by United States soldiers. Mr. Holladay's instruc­
tions to me were to keep the mails going at all hazards and regardless 
of cost; and I take pleasure in bearing testimony to the courage and 
worth of the overland men under Ben Holladay; but for that and the 
determination and the money of Mr. Holladay, an overland mail service 
during the above-named period would have been an impossibility. 

Q. Have you read the affirtavits filed in this case ?-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. In your opinion founded on your knowledge of the whole matter, 

do you or do you not think that the amounts appended to each affidavit 
for losses and damages are fair and just valuations ?-A. From my 
knowledge of prices and. the cost of replacing materials, &c., I think it 
is fairly valued. 

Q. Did you ever purchase horses for the line? 'Where and what 
prices did yon pay. ?-A. I was continually purchasing horses and mules 
and paying for horses and mules purchased by the agents of the line, 
and my recollection is that the average cost of horses delivered on the 
line was about $200 each. I purchased at one time two hundred horses 
from persons in Iowa, delivered at Conucil Bluffs, at $190 per head; 
these horses delivered on the line would have cost more than $200 each. 

Q. In ;your opinion, could Mr. Holladay afford to carry the mails under 
the contract for the mail pay alone l-A. I do not think be could with­
out the receip.ts from passenger and express business. He co~1ld not 
have paid his expenses. 

Q. What effect did the Indian war have on the P.aRsenger and express 
business of the line ?-A. It had a very disastrous effect on it; at times 
almost ceasing entirely as the persons would not risk their lives and 
property on the line at such times. 

Q. What do you know about the employment of soldiers in cutting 
hay, rebuilding stations, and other services for the stage-line ~~A. I 
know that at the solicitation of the men tllemselves, and frequently at 
the solicitation of the officers, soldiers were given employment in re­
building stations, cutting bay, &c., and I have paid considerable sums to 
them for such services upon the certificates of division agents, and my 
understanding was that they were always paid in full for every sucil 
service done the lirJe. 

Q. , What do you know about the depredations by Indi;tns on the plains 
prior to 1862 ?-A. I crossed the plains in 1858, from Nl~hra,ska Oity to 
Salt Lake Oity; part of the distance I was accompanied by only one 
man, and at no time were there more than ten men in the party. We 
saw many Indians; but all were perfectly friendly. I remained in Utah 
and Colorado until I went into the employ of Mr. Holladay in 1862, and 
was familiar with that country, and know of no Indian depredations 
committed. on Vllat route during that time. 

General CRAIG sworn. 

By Senator CAMERON: 
Question. Please state your present occupation and resillence.-An­

swer. I reside in St. Joseph, Missouri; I am municiral-bontl agent for 
the State of Missonri, appointed by the governor of the State; I llave 
beeh a railroad-man twenty years, an(l until very recently. 

Q. What was yonr occupation in 18ti~ 1-A. I was in command of the 
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troops running from the Missouri River to Utah for the protection of 
the Ov·erland Mail-Route and Telegraph-Line. . 

Q. What was your military rauk at that time ~-A. Brigadier-gen­
eral. 

Q. When did you go on that line ~-A. In the spring of 1862; prob­
ably April. 

Q. Go on and state what condition of affairs you found on the line; 
how many troops you had; what you did, and wlJat was done by the 
Indians. Give the narrative in your own way.-A. Before I arrived on 
the line the Indians bad broken up a section of the mail roate between 
Green River and Fort Laramie, and before arriving at I~aramie I com­
menced to give orders for the protection of the stations-that portion 
of the line where the Indians had worked-and to restore the stations 
and the service on the route. After getting to Fort Laramie, where I 
made t;ny headquarters for the time, I employed the troops generally in 
protecting the line between F9rt Laramie and the South Pass. The 
Indians generally seemed to be aware of the United States being en- · 
gaged in a civil war, and with the advice of and incited by ba<l white 
men among them they were disposed to make war upon the whites, that 
is, the Cheyennes, Arapahoes, Shoshones or Snake Indians, and all of 
the bands of the Sioux tribe, with perhaps the exception of the band of 
Little Thunder. I repeatedly asked for reinforcements, and at one time 
Col. C. 0. vYashburne was ordered to report to me, but on account of 
the necessities for troops South, the order was countermanded, and I 
was left with six companies of Ohio troops, commanded by Colonel Col­
lins, and two small c·ompanies of the Fourth United States Cavalry in 
command of Colonel Alexander, and one company soon afterward sent 
to me from Kansas. I afterward procured aulhority from the War De­
partment and asked for troops to Utah, and about one hundred men 
were sent to me, commanded by Capt. Locke Smith. I found these 
troops scattered, as I was obliged to scatter them, from Fort Kearney 
to Fort Bridger, utterly unable to protect a line of that length, and so 
notified my superior officers repeatedly. I then thought and yet think 
the removal of the Overland Mail·Route from the Sweetwater to the 
Cherokee Trail and Bridger's Pass a necessity. 

Q. Explain why, in your opinion, it was a nece.3sity.-A.. The Sweet­
water route was readily accessible to the Snakes, Crows, Shoshones, 
Arapahoes, and 8ioux, with an occasional visit from the Blackfeet. 
TlJey were all, with the exception noted, both in bad temper, and dis­
posed to bring on a general war. Some of these tribes were enemies to 
each other, but at that time the government had not adopted the use of 
Indian scouts, or Indian troops, to fight other Indians with. I had no 
reliance, therefore, as to the "bite troops furnished by the lJnited 
States. · 

Q. State any personal knowledge that you have of damages done by 
the Indians to the property of Mr. Holladay on the northern route, or 
if you have information that you received officially, of any such darn­
ages, state that.-A. I bad official information of depredations upon 
and destruction of the property of the Overland Mail Company, and on 
one occasion I was in sight of a band of Indians, then engaged, or had 
been the evening before, in the destruction of property; but the Sweet­
water was then very high, and between myself and my escort and the In­
dians, and I could not get to them. I passed over the line from my head­
quarters at Laramie and Pacific Springs, near the South Pass, and saw 
the ruins of the property of stations; but I could not even approxi­
mate the amount of loss sustained by the stage company on account of 
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these depredations. I also saw a couple of coaches that had been at­
tacked before that b,y the Indians, and saw all the rifle-pits that were 
dug bythe men in charge of the coaches, and I also saw one of the young 
men who was in the fight, and wounded in the back. 

Q. Please identify this letter.-A. This letter now shown to me is, I 
am satisfied, a copy of the letter written by me to General Blunt. 

Q. I will ask you whether, at or about the time of the date of that 
letter, you wrote a communication to the Postmaster-General in regard 
to matters on this route ?-A. I so stated in rny letter, and I know I 
wrote something to him on the subject, but I carmot recall the language 
used by me or anything particular about the letter, except that it was 
upon the subject of the dangers of that route and the necessities I 
wanted. 

Q. How long did you remain in command on that route f-A. Ire­
moved my headquarters from Laramie to Omaha in the winter of 1862 
and 1863, and remained in command of the troops on that line until 
some time in the summer of 1863, when I resigned. 

Q. With your knowledge of the country, was it possible or not for 
the company to have can::ied mails on that Sweetwater route with the 
number of troops you bad ?-A: It would only be possible with the con­
sent of the Indians. 

Q. What time elapsed after the removal of the line to the new route 
before the stages were interfered with on that route ?-A. I cannot re­
member any interference on that route during the time I remained in 
command. 

Q. Was there a made road on this new route ?-A. There was a trail 
made by the Ollerokee Indians in going to San Francisco in 1849 over 
a portion of it. 

HEADQUARTERS FORCES I!'OR DF.FENSE 01!' OVERLAND MAIL, 
• Fort Laramie, July 10, 18G2. 

Brig. Gen. J. G. Br.UNT, 
U. S. Vols., Commanding Department of Kansas : 

GENERAL: I am in receipi; to-day of a dispatch informing me that the Postmaster· 
General bas ordered the Overland Mail Company to abandon the North Platte and 
Sw~etwater portion and remove their stages and stock to a route south of this running 
through Bridger's Pass. As I feel uncertain as to my duty, and as the stages and stock 
are now ~eing concentrated preparatory to removal, I have thought proper to send 
Lieutenant Wilcox, Fourth United States Cavalry, to you with this letter. My in­
structions require me to protect the Overland Mail alone, the telegraph line and emi­
gration not ueing mentioned. I have, up to this time, directed my attention to them 
all. 

My recollection of the act of Congress is that the mail com.pany are not confined to 
any particular pass or route; but are to run from the Missouri River to a point in Cali­
fornia daily, supplying Denver City and Salt Lake City twice a week. On the requi­
sition of agents I have to-day ordered two small escorts, one of twenty-five, the other 
of thirty men, to accompany the stages and protect them to the new route; and until 
I receive your orders I wHl retain upon the present route the larger portion of the 
troops to protect the telegraph line and the emigrants, at least, until the emigration, 
which consists principally of family trains, has passed through my district. I do this 
because the Iudians evince a disposition to rob the trains and to destroy the wires. In­
deed, I am satisfied that unless the government is ready to abandon this route, both 
for mails and emigrants, an Indbn war is inevitable; all the tribes in these mountains 
except perhaps one of the Sioux bands are in bad humor, charge the government with 
bad faith and breaches of promises in failing to send them an agent and presents. 
They have come in by hundreds from the Upper Missouri, attacked and robbed emi­
grant trains and mail stations, and in one instance last week they robbed a mail station 
within two hours after a detachment of Colonel Collins' troops bad passed and carried 
the herdsman away with them to prevent .him from notifying the troops in time for 
successful pursuit. That renegade white men are with them I have no doubt. I have 
a white man now in the guard-house who was found in possession of the pocket-hook, 
money, and papers of an emigrant who is missing, and believed to ba\'e been murdered. 
I am satisfied that the mail company and the government would both ue benefited by . 

.. 
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the change of route at a proper time, and so wrote the Postmaster-General some weeks 
since . . Then everything was quiet. Since that time the Indians have made hostile 
demonstrations, and I fear if the mails and all the troops leave this route now the In­
dians will suppose they were frightened away, and will destroy the telegraph line, and 
probably rob and murder such small parties as are not able to defend themselves. I 
have directed all officers on the line to urge upon emigrants the necessity of forming 
strong companies and exercising vigilance. In obedience to your order and the urgent 
calls of the mail company, I send the Utah troops to Bridger to guard the line 
from that post to Salt Lake City, which leaves me only Colonel Collins' 6th Ohio 
Cavalry, about three hundred (300) strong, and two skeleton companies of 4th Reg­
ular Cavalry, about sixty men, mounted upon horses purchased seven years ago, 
io protect the 400 miles intervening between this PQSt and Fort Bridger. I need 
not say that this force cannot protect a line of such length unless the Indians 
are willing to behave well. I think I am doing all that can be done with the 
small force mounted as they are and without any grain forage. My scouts inform me 
that a portion of the stolen property is now in an Indian village on Beaver Creek, but 
little more than one hundred miles north of this post. I suppose I could whip these 
Indians if I could concentrate my command and go against them; but, in the first 
place, my troops are distributed along a line of 500 miles, and in the second place, if I 
take the troops all away from the line, the mail, stock, telegraph-line, and emigration 
would be almost certain to suffer. I am therefore compelled to await re-enforcements, 
or ai least till emigration is out of danger. If a regiment qf mounted troops could be 
sent by boat to Fort Pierre, which is only 300 miles north of this post, a joint cam­
paign could be made against these tribes, which I think would result in giving peace 
to this region for years to come. Presuming it to be the intention of the government 
to keep the troops somewhere in this region during the coming winter, I beg to urge 
the necessity ,of sending authority to procure hay for the animals, and also to send 
grain or authority to purchase it in Colorado. Unless the hay contract is let soon it 
will be difficult to procure it within reasonable distance. Parties here are anxious 
to furnish it at less figures than it cost last year. I omitted to say above that under 
your telegraphic order I have kept the escort at this post furnished by you to governor 
of Utah. I al8o sent to Denver City to inquire the number and description of troops in 
that vicinity, and received for answer that there were four officers and six privates, all 
told. The troops ordered from California on this line have probably not started; they 
have not got as far east as Carson Valley. 

This letter is already too long. I leave Lieutenant Wilcox to explain anything I 
have omitted. I this evening tendered by telegraph to the superintendent of the tel­
graph-line the protection and assistance of the troops under m:y command, if the com­
pany desire to remove their line to the new mail-route. I do this because I do not 
think the line can be kept in working order if the troops leave. The Indians have re­
peatedly cut the wire within the last two weeks. They fired at an operator when he 
was repairing it, and it was repaired only with the assistance of a detachment of 
troops. Regarding the line a public necessity, I felt authorized to make the offer, and 
hope it will be approved. 

I am, general, respectfully, your ob't serv't, 
JAMES CRAIG, 

Brig. Gen'l Com.rnanding Troops for Defense of Overland j]fail-Route. 

GEORGE K. OTIS sworn. 
By Senator C.A:M:ERON: 

Question. State your name and place of residence.-Answer. George 
K. Otis; I reside in the city of New York. . 

Q. What is your business ?-A. Mail contractor. 
Q. Did you ever have any connection with the Overland Stage Line or 

-A. I did. 
Q. In what capacity ~-A. AR general superintedent. 
Q. Please tell wbat you know al)Out it from the commencement of 

your connection with it.-A. From the lOth of October, 1861, to Septem­
ber, 1863, I was in the employ of Mr. Holladay, as his general financial 
agent, auditor, accountant, and purchaser of supplies~ and was perfect­
ly familiar with all matters connected with the stnge-line. From Octo. 
ber, 1863, to Septern lwr, 1864, I was general superintendent of the entire 
stage-line from Atchison to Salt ~ake; had full control of horses,· men,. 
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material, and everything connected with the line; was perfectly familiar 
with the cost of putting on supplies and the cost .of running the road; 
was frequently over the line, and in many instances saw many of those 
depredations committed; stages burned and men killed. 

Q. Have you read the affidavits which have heen submitted ?-A. I 
have read fully all the affidavits which so far have been made concern­
ing the losses aud damage sustained by the stage-line. I knew the men, 
most of them, personally who have made such affidavits, and most of 
the affidavits were taken in my presence as to the damages sustained, 
and I can testify that the losses and damages as appended to each state­
ment were estimated at a fair and reasonable price, and that in no in­
stance have they" been overstated. The s.upplies that bad to be put upon 
the road to replace those destroyed and burned by the Indians really 
cost much more then the losf3es claimed. 

Q. Do you know anything within your knowledge of the protection 
that was promised Mr. Holladay for the 'overland road either by the 
President, Postmaster-General, or officers of the Army, and indemnifi­
cation for losses sustained 1-A. Some time in May, 1862, I accompanied 
Mr. Holladay to Washington. The Indians had been very bad upon the 
road, and a great deal of property hadlJeen destroyed, and the line was 
about to be broken up west of .Fort Laramie, on the old road. Mr. Hol­
laday went to see President Lincoln, accompanied by Senator Milton 
Latham. I was not present at the interview, but Mr. Holladay returned 
and informed me he bad a very pleasant interview with President Lin­
coln, and tbat President Lincoln said that on no account must the road 
be stopped; that at all hazards the mail must be carried, and that he 
would be fully protected by the government, and that he would be 
indemnified for his losses. At the same time, by instructions from the 
President, the Secretary of War telegraphed to Brigham Young to send 
troops east to protect tlle line; and my remembrance is that about 100 
were sent, under the command of Captain Lot Smith, and orders were 
given to General Craig, whose headquarters were at Laramie, to place 
troops upon the road to protect the Overland Stage Line. 

Q. From your knowledge, as gained from long connection with Mr. 
Holladay's business, do you believe that he would have restocked the 
road had not the promises been made by the President for protection 
and indemnification for losses ?-A. Considering Mr. Holladay a very 
prudent and shrewd business man, I do not think that by any possible 
cllance on earth would he have done so unless he had been promised 
protection, because he would have been a ruined man to have under­
taken this great enterprise without a promise of that sort. In other 
words, it could not have been done, but would have ruined him finan­
cially, and broken his credit. I would also state that in 1864 the Indian · 
troubles assumed very alarming proportions, so much so that our line 
was stripped and the stock withdrawn for hundreds of miles, and we 
had them bunched at various points upon the road. I came to vVash­
ington (Mr. Holladay being in San Francisco) to see, personally, Mr. 
Lincoln. Assistant Secretary of the Interior, Mr. Otto; Acting Post­
master-General, Alexander W. Randall; Mr. Bennett, Delegate from 
Colorado, and the Hon. Nesmith, Senator from Oregon, at my request, 
accompanied me to see the President and ask,him for protection. I saw 
President Lincoln, and told him what I wanted and what we must 
have. President Lincoln listened to what I had tJo say, and said, "Mr. 
Otis, we are in a great strait with the country to·day; at this time we 
have very few, if any, troops to spare. But I want yon to understand, 
as the agent of .Mr. Holladay, that this line must, under no consiuera-
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tion, be stopped." I said, "l\'fr. Lincoln, unless we have troops to pro­
tect us we cannot restock the line; our men will not go .out, and if you 
haven't any troops that you can furnish us, if yon will give me per­
mission to raise 500 or 1,000 men, it can be done in twenty-four hours." 
Lincoln said he could not do that; ''but," says he, ''this thing must 
be protected, and it shall be protected, and I will give you a letter 
to one of my generals" (putting the emphasis upon the word general), 
and said, "all these generals are not mine; but I will give you a 
letter to one whom I consider to be one of my generals, and I think 
will do what I want, and that is General Curtis, at Fort Leavenworth." 
He then sat down, and with his own hand wrote a letter introducing 
me, as the general superintendent of the Overland Stage Line, to Gen­
eral Curtis, saying that he had had a full conversation with me, and 
that he must, at all hazards, take steps to furnish the line with troJps, 
and see that it was thoroughly and fully protected, as it was of the 
most vital importance to the welfare of the country. I took his let­
ter and presented it to General Curtis. General Curtis did everything 
that was in his power to protect us, and the line was restocked, and we 
continued to run it. .After presenting thJs letter to General Curtis, I 
requested, as a favo~, that he would allow me to retain it, which he did. 
I kept it for a number of years, but it has been stolen from me. 

Q. Have you any knowledge of the order from Colonel Chivington to 
remove the stage-line from the Platte route to the cut-off route ~-A. I 
have. I was with Mr. Holladay at the time the order was given. .At 
the time the order was given, quite a spirited conversation was had be­
tween Colonel Chivington and Mr. Holladay, Mr. Holladay protesting 
against the removal of his line; that he was entitled to protection on 
that line; that the expense of the removal would be enormous at that 
season. It was in the fall or early in the winter. Colonel Uhiving­
ton, however, insisted and compelled Mr. Holladay to make the removal, 
threatening·that if the removal was not made he would not undertake 
to protect the route; and as the route could not be run without protec­
tion, Mr. Holladay was compelled to make the removal. 

Q. As the whole matter was under your charge, what would be your 
estimate or approximation of the cost of removing the buildings, forage, 
corrals, &c., from the Platte route to the cut-off route 1-A. I ·gave full 
in~tructions to the division agents in regard to the removal, and made 
a computation at the time and estimated the cost, knowing the number 
of teams req aired, and the distance to make, and a fair estimat~ of the 
destruction and loss of grain and hay in the removal; and as you will 
see, my estimate is already appended to the affidavits of Reynolds and 
Thomas, amounting to $50,000, and I am well satisfied tllat it cost us 
fp.lly that or more. And I might say here that most of the estimates 
and prices of grain, forage, horses·, and stations, that is the cost, were 
made by myself and appended to these affidavits. I did it fairly and 
honestly, and I do not think that in any one instance I have overesti­
mated any item contained in any.one of the estimates. 

Q. Did you make the estimate of $30,000 damages by the military~­
.A. I did. I made it upon consultation with the different division agents 
and men employed upon the line. We could keep no record, and you 
could not exactly tell what was destroyed, or what was eaten up and 
consumed, our men not being v-ery much given to writing or keeping 
accounts; but from the number of troops cons tautly passing and patrol­
ling up and down the road, I am satisfied that there was that amount 
fully consumed, which Mr. Holladay, to my personal knowledge, never 
has received one cent for. · 

GEORGE K. OTIS. 
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General RoBERT B. l\frTCHELL sworn. 

By Senator CAMERON: 
QueRtion. Where do you now reside ~-Answer. Paola, Kansas. 
Q. What military position diu you hold in 18G4 ~-A. I was brigadier­

general of volunteers-brevet major-general. 
Q. Where were you on duty at that time ?-A. In the. district of Ne­

braska, embracing a good deal of Colorado, Nebraska, and a portion of 
Utah, and all the territory this side of the mountains in Idaho and 
Montana, covering the Overland Mail Route; and in addition to that, 
a portion of Dakota, all that part south of the Missouri River. 

Q. What, if anything, did you do in reference to protecting the Overland 
Mail Route ~-A. I used all the troops within my reach and endeavored 
to protect the Overland Mail Route under instructions from the War 
Department and from the department commander at Fort Leavenworth. 
I had specifie instructions from the War Department to use every means 
in my power to protect the Overland Mail. 

Q. State whether or not you were able to protect it.-A. I was not. 
I could not possibly protect it in consequence of a lack of forces to 
cover the country. 

Q. State if you know personall,y, or if you learned officially, of dep· 
redations committed on the Overland Mail Line.-A. Yes, sir; I know 
personally and I know officially. I know better personally than oftl­
cially that the whole country was laid waste from Kearne.v; in fact 
east of Kearney, along the Overland Mail Line. To Fremont's Orchard 
and to Laramie, and from there to Green River, there were points 
along that I could protect, but I had not force enough to protect be­
tween points. 

Q. State what injury was done to the property of the Overland Mail. 
-A. I think most all the property was destroyed and taken from one 
point east of Kearney and Fort Kearney clear through to Green River, 
with the exceptions of these forts, where the forces protected the stage 
property. We at times protected the line pretty well, and at other 
times they would make a sweep on us, and divide up for a thousand 
miles on that line, and lay waste to everything. I really had not force 
enough to whip the combined forces of Indians. They never whipped 
us, but their policy was not to stand a fight, but get property, stages, 
mules, provisions! and everything, and run off. There was scarcely a 
ranch except at Fort Cotton wood-well, there was no ranch from Cot· 
tonwood to this Fremont Orchard left along the road-everything, the 
citizens and everything were wiped out, the stage company's property 
and all. At Julesburg I had occasion to examine the Indian affairs 
there personally; that was the supply post for the entire line for grain 
and provisions, and there were fine stables and houses there, and that 
was a good eating-place-it was called an eating-station. I was after­
ward through there and found it all destroyed ; that I know also from 
official reports. I was not there at the time of the fight, but I was 
there two days afterward, and saw eviden$3es of the fight. l bad fifteen 
men killed there, and another company three or four. There were only 
two companies there, and they would all have been killed, but that they 
bad two ho'vYitzers and good arms. There were from fifteen hundred to 
two thousand five hundred Indians; there were about eighty men to a 
company. 

Q. How many men di<l you have under your command as an average~ 
-A. I had, covering a country of eleven hundred miles of hostile In­
dians, sixteen hundred and eighty troops. That was the most I had 
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during the time of that warfare, and I w~s occupying eleven hundred 
miles, or doing the best I could toward it. I do not think any time I 
bad over that number of men. 

Q. What Indians were hostile ~-A. Sioux, Arapahoes~ and some 
Cheyennes and Comanches. There was a number of bauds of Sioux, 
Ogalallas, Brules, and those northern Sioux, and the Arapahoes and 
Comanches and Apaches from the south. There was a conglomeration, 
and with bad white men among them. 

Q. How were they armed ¥-A. They were armed better than my sol~ 
diers, and well mounted. 

Q. You have read the afthladt of Mr. Murphy ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. ·what do you know of him ~-A. He wa~ captain in the 7th Iowa 

Cavalry, under my command. I knew him, and be. is a very reliable 
man, and was a good officer. 

Q.. Do you know Lieutenant Brewer ~-A. Yes, sir; he was lieutenant 
in Seventh Iowa Cavalry, and was a good, reliable, and truthful man. 

Q. You know something about the accounts they have given in their 
affidavits ~-A. Yes, sir; I couid not specify them, but they are mainly 
true. 

Q. How about the prices of forage, &c. ~-A.. Tiley were very high. 
I remember paying eighty dollars a torr for bay at Fort Kearney. \Ve 
had a contract out on the hay-ground, but the hay was burned, and 
there was but oue man in the country that had hay. I protested against 
giving him his price, which was very high, but he would not take less 
and I bad to take it; and I was informed that he got eighty dollars­
the government afterwards paid him. Grain in that country is hard to 
get. Corn was high, and it was almost impossible to get transportation 
to haul grain over the line; and when I did not have sufficient, when­
ever I found a train loaded with corn coming to Denver, I pressed it 
into service for the government, used it, and gave them a receipt, and 
it was paid for. 

Horses were almost impossible to obtain in that country. I got au­
thority to buy three hundred and fifty head of horses, and went to Iowa 
and Omaha and at every point that I thought would be available to 
purchase horses at reasonable terms. My price was limited to one hun­
dred and twenty dollars, and I could not get a dozen cavalr.v horses at 
that price, and finally had to give up horses and use Indian ponies. 

Q. How long were you in command out there 0?-A. About ten 
months. 

Q. You hav-e looked over these aftldavits in relation to the destruction 
of property on this line ~-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. What do you say of the information set forth in them ~-A. I 
think the affidavits embrace all the facts, as I understand them. 

Q. How about fuel in that country ?-A. It was not unusual to haul 
fuel over sixty miles for military purposes; and it was a very cold coun­
try, and wood was an expensive luxury; we made it go as far as possi­
ble. At Laramie, the largest post of the line, we used to haul fuel 
twenty to twenty-five miles from the Black Hills; then there was no 
fuel from Laramie clear down pretty near to Julesburg on that line ex· 
cept occasionally an old cotton wood tree that could not be used for fuel. 

Q. State about the original Overland South Pass route.-A. That 
was the only feasible route over the plains at lhe time, but it was dan­
gerous. 

Q. \Vas it or was it not difficult to keep the road running without a 
large number of troops ou tllat road around Laramie ¥-A. Tllere was 
no possibility of protecting the stages except with a strong escort daily 
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to go with the stages. The country was easily accessible from the Black 
Hills and Wind River Mountains, and Indians could not be 8een easily 
until they were ready to attack. I have a general knowledge of the 
country. I built what is known as Fort McPherson, on the Platte River. 
It was then called Fort Cottonwood. 

Mr. B. HoLLADAY sworn. 
By Senator CAMERON: 

In April, 1862, I was informed of the Indian depre<lations on the over­
land road between Horseshoe Creek and Ham's Fork with the loss of 
many stage horses, mules, coaches, &c., belonging to the Overland Stage 
Line; indeed, the entire line for a distance of some 300 miles was de­
stroyed by Indians and abandoned by employes through fear of the In­
dians; I made up my mind to abandon the mail contract and withdraw 
my property unless I got protection from the government, and for this 
purpose I left my home aud came to this city; conferred with Postmas­
ter General Blair, who called on the Secretary of War and urged pro­
tection. In company with Senator Latham, of California, we called on 
President Lincoln, who was very much interested, and Baid: "Mr. Hol­
laday, you must have protection; the mails must be carried." I ex­
plained the distances from the military posts and depots, and the 
necessity of immediate relief, and suggested that Brigham Young, of 
Utah, be called upon for relief, he being but 150 miles from the west 
end of the break in the road; he liked the suggestion; said he would 
call attention to it at cabinet meeting next day; that he feared, 
however, Secretary Stanton would decline any communication with 
Young. We called next day, when he showed us the order for 100 
mounted men. I told the President that unless I had guarantee of 
protection, with payment for losses, I could not afford to restock the 
line and keep it running. I explained the expense and difficulty of 
sending horses, mules, and coaches 800 miles to replace those that were 
lost; he said, "You can rest assured Congress will fully reimburse 
you.'' On his promise I left within a few days for the plains to super­
intend in person the restocking of the line. In an interview with the 
Postmaster-General, before leaving, I explained, from my thorough 
knowledge of the country northwest ,of Fort Laramie, along the stage­
road frQID Horseshoe Creek up the Sweetwater, through South Pass, 
to Green River and Ham's Fork, a mail never could be carried 
with any certainty, for the reason it was· through a mountainous coun­
try, with fine grass and water, and full of game, a great hunting-region 
for several tribes of Indians, all refusing to sell or treat with the gov­
ernment; but little open country; Indians could drop.on a station or 
coach without a moment's warning. After several interviews, I ex­
plained my knowledge of the country south of this, ·having passed 
through it in August, 1850. There was no road except an Indian lodge­
pole trail for 250 miles, no grass, and bad water; but it was an open 
country, and I believed there would be less Indian troubles. He said 
the mails must go to the Pacific; if not one road, must try another. 
After full consultation, I agreed to go to Denver, and from that place 
send a competent man with men, outfit, and odometer, with instruc­
tions to make a measurement and complete a thorough examination of 
the route, and meet me at Salt Lake City with his report. If I was 
satisfied from his report the change would expedite and secure 
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the transportation of the mails, I would order It. l!,rom Denver I 
I went to Fort Laramie: found General James Craig commanding. He 
rode with me over the route w:est, to join a detachment of soldiers 
in ad-vance. We found complete destruction at all stations along 
the lines-mails scattered over the plains, and communication en­
tirely interrupted. .At the upper crossing of Sweetwater found his 
soldiers preparing for a fight with a band of Indians; after some hours 
the Indians retreated. There was rio stock on tlJe road until we reached 
South Pass. I arrived at Salt Lake, and in due time John Kerr, who 
had been sent over the new route, arrived with his report of the 
Bridger Pass and Bitter Creek route. A full interview with him and 
examination of his notes convinced me I was right, and unless we 
moved that portion of the route, with the stock and entire outfit, 
between Julesburg and Green River, over to the BridgeP Pass trail, 
the overland mail would be a failure. It was a great risk on my part, 
leaving a fine broad road, with excellent water, grass, and fuel, for 
a country without a road, and for 250 miles no grass, no fuel, and al­
kali water. I sent 1\rir. Kerr back with loads of tents and stakes, with 
instructions to remeasure and at proper distances locate the stations, 
and designate the location by driving a stake. I hired men, teams, 
mechanics, loaded supplies, lumber, and material, dispatched them im­
mediately to construct stations, make roads, &c. , On July 8th the or­
der was given for removal. I deserted and abandoned all stations and 
moved south from various points 100 to 300 miles for the new route, 
where my men were quartered in temporary huts and tents until perma­
nent stations were built; which were comple.ted before winter, with 
forage and full supplies at each. . All this was done without interfering 
with the regular schedule time of the mails. This removal cost me a 
large sum of money; passing through an unknown country, building 
stations, bridges, ferry- boats, and roads. '\\r e had no serious Indian 
troubles on this part of the road until the spring of 1865. I can state 
under oath that the mails could not have passed over the old road with­
out enormous expenditure of money and loss of life and property. In­
deed, I know it was impossible to carry the mails regularly on that 
route. General Craig ag-reed with me that it was impossible to afford 
me protection with his force. 

In 1864 the Indian war was begun on the South Platte. .Again I had 
frequent interviews with the Postmaster-General and President Lincoln. 
The latter expressed the greatest anxiety. He said, ''Our sea maiLs only 
semi-monthly, conveyed by naval vessels, are liable to be stopped at any 
time by Confederate cruisers ; the overland must be maintained at all 
hazards without regard to cost." I explained that the mail pay alone 
would not supply us with forage and fuel, and without passenger travel 
it would ruin any fortune. The Indians were murdering my people, 
burning stations, stealing stock, attacking coaches, and that ruin stared 
me in the face. His reply was, "These are perilous times, Mr. Holladay, 
all over our oountry; my anxiety is great." We have no soldiers to spare, 
but I will do all in my power." ''That," I said, "Mr. Pl'esident, will not 
pay me for my losses." His reply wa8, " You will be reimbursed for all 
losses and damages ; like all patriotic men you must trust to the honor 
of our government," he holding me by the hand while saying thiR. 

As to the Colonel_ Chivington order, the amount of damages claimed, 
$50,000, does not reimburse me by a large amount. I protested against 
it in person; · told him the season was far advanced; all stations had 
winter supplies of grain emptied from sacks into bins and the sacks sent 
off several hundred miles to be refi lled, and fuel, &c. We would have 
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stations to tear down, haul, and put up. It ~ould compel us to carry 
the great through mail at least eighty miles farther. His reply was, "I 
have no troops to protect you, hardly enough to protect the cut-off; 
you must move." The order was complied with. The estimate of horses 
and mules lost from time to time is under the cost of putting them on 
the spot. As to prices of grain and ha,y, I know it is under cost. The 
item of $30,000 damage by soluiers is, to my knowledge, far less than 
actual cost. 

The average cost of stations at $2,000 each on the Laramie route, and 
damages of $25,000, as per affidavit of Isaac E. Eaton, would not cover 
the losses. 

Q. Did you consider the government bound to you to repay and reim­
burse you ~-A. I did. IIaving been assured by the President that it 
was necessary . that these mails should be continued, and , that I could 
safel,y rely upon the honor of the government to reimburse me for losses, 
I relied implicitly on those promises and assurances. Had it not been 
for those assurances of protection and reimbursement, I would have 
been compelled to suspend, and the overland mail would not have been 
continued in my opinion. 

I wE.nt back from Washington relying upon those assurances of the 
President and the Postmaster-General as to this protection and reim­
bursement in case of lo~ from hostile Indians, and therefore of course 
I obeyed the orders of the government through its military officer when 
it was given to me. 

My assurances to the employes that full protection would be given 
alone kept them on the road. 

Q. During the year 1865, or at any other time, did the troops, with 
their own men, horses, and wagons, transport the mails, as far as you 
know ~-A. No, sir. At all times, and most particularly during the In­
dian war, I was daily advised by my agents on the road of all depre­
dations, murders, &c., both by telegraph and letters. The military, on 
various occasions, rendered the line assistance in the way of loaning 
mules, corn, men to drive when mine had been killed, stations burned, 
and stock stolen. We always returned the forage and paid the soldiers 
for their work. At times, also, soldiers, with the consent of their offi­
cers, assisted in cutting and hauling hay, rebuilding stations, &c.; but 
they were paid for all work. (See copies of military reports :filed with 
the committee.) What I have stated included all assistance. All was 
paid for except the use of mules. I will also state, as a military fact 
of record from the War Department, and before the committee, that my 
coaches in dangerous times were escorted by soldiers, eitller mounted 
or on the coach; but not always. Frequently they could not respond 
to our application. As to the removal from the Fort Laramine road to 
the Bridger Pass one, see General Craig's report to General Blunt, July 
10, 1862. 

Q. Mr. Holladay, how much had been expended in the establishment 
of this line ~-A. About two millions of dollars in stocking the road and 
building stations; the whole investment was about two millions of dol-
lars. · 

Q. You say that you relied upon the assurances of the Executive and 
the Postmaster-General for payment and reimbursement ~-A. Yes, sir, 
I did; because I thought if the government went down, of course I would 
go down with it; but if the government was successful in re-establish­
ing the Union, I never doubted but that it would reimburse me for the 
losses sustained. I was willing to take the risk, as the President had 
frequently said to me that he regarded it to be my duty as a patriotic 
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man to go on with this thing and rely on the honor of the government 
to pay me. The President in all of our interviews stated that it was of 
the greatest importance to keep up the constant intercourse with the 
Pacific States, and he was fearful it could not be done by sea; that he 
did not want me to abandon this line and having the government re­
duced to the necessity of carrying these mails as a military necessity on 
its own account. I was the sole owner of the Overland Stage Line ; bad 
no partners or parties in interest, either directly or indirectly. 

Indian dep1·edations. 

As per affidavits of R. L. Pease and others .............................• 
Lem. Plowers, Richard Murray, William A. Trotter, et al. .••••.......... 
J. A. Slade et al ..•••.....•............•.•........•..•••...•....•...... 
S. B. Babcock et al ...••..•..•.........•....••...•...•.....••......•••• · 
J. E. Bromley et al .........•........•......••..........••.•......••..• 
William A. Reid et al ...••..•.•....••......•...••••..•...........•..•..• 
Seaman Johnson et al •••••.......•.••...•........ , .•••••......•.•...... 
George H. Carlyle, Solomon Riddle, et al. ........ -·o ..•...••......•...... 
George M. Lloyd, Charles Ivins, S. 0. Jerome, et al .................... . 
Reuben S. Thomas, William Reynolds, et al ........................... . 
Capt. E. B. Murphy, United States Army, et al. .••........•.•....•.....• 
William Hudnnt, Richard Quinn, R. S. Thomas, A. S. Hughes, Solomon 

Riddle, Lieutenant Brewer, United States Army, et al. (burning of Jules-
burg) ..•. .•.•.•..••••••••••..••.•......••.••••......•••............. 

James Stewart, et al ..•••.•..•••...•...•....••.••• ~ •.•....••••.••..••• 
R. J. Spotswood et al •..•.•.•............... : • ......................... 

Damages by removal. 

Prom South Pass route to Bridger Pass route: 

$41,400 00 
18,930 00 
12, lfiO 00 

8,310 00 
7,448 00 
5,200 00 

300 00 
49,086 00 
15,008 00 
59,217 60 
7,200 00 

134,958 00 
16,310 00 
14,550 00 

Affidavits of Isaac E. Eaton et al . . • • . . . • • • . • • • • • . • • • . • . • • • • • . . . . . . . • . • 77, 000 00 

Prom Platte route to Cut-off route: 
Affidavits of Reuben S. Thomas and William Reynolds et al.... . . . . . . . . • 50, 000 00 

Damages caused by soldie1·s. 

Affidavits of Reuben S. Thomas and William Reynolds et al. ..• -::·· .• • ••• 30,000 00 

ADDITIONAL TESTIMO~Y AS TO THE CLAIM OF BEN HOL­
LADAY. 

RoBERT FooTE, called on the part of the United States, sworn and 
examined. 

By Senator CAMERON: 

Question. Where do you reside ~-Answer. Fort Halleck, Wyoming. 
Q. What is your age ~-A. l1,orty-tbree years . 
..._~\.. How long have you resided at Fort Halleck ~-A. I have been 

there since 1864, I think. 
Q. What is your occupation and busirnss ~-A. I am a stock-grower. 
Q. Row long have you been engaged in that business ~-A. I have 

been engaged in it some sixteen years. 
Q. What was your business when you first went to ~,ort Halleck in 

1864¥ -A. I w~s trading in stock and raising stock. 
Q. Are you acquainted with Ben Holladay~-A. I have seen the gen­

tleman. 
Q. When did you first see him, as near as yon can recollect the time~ 

-A. I believe I saw Mr. Holladay in 1865; pe~haps previous to that 
.,ime. 

. I 
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Q. You were then at Fort Halleck ~-.A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Residing there '-A. Yes, sir; in 1865. 

65 

Q. What business was Mr. Holladay engaged in at that time ~-A. 
' He was carrying the overland mail. 

Q. I will state the nature of this case to you. Mr. Hollad-ay makes a 
claim against the government for losses sustained by him while he was 
engaged in carrying the overland mail. The losses arise from three 
causes: First, he says that his property was depredated upon and injured 
by the Indians; second, he says that the soldiers, the military that were 
on the line, appropriated more or less ot his property; and a third cause 
is the removal of his route, stations, &c., , from one route to another. 
Now, I have been told that you know something about these things. 
Please go on and tell the story in your own way-what, if anything, you 
know in regard to any of th"ese matters.-A. I was at Fort Laramie in 
1862, and talked with Slade. From Fort Laramie I moved to Fort Hal­
leck in 1864. I did work for Mr. Holladay in building stations and such 
like. I built Pine Grove station and Bridger Pass sta'tion. For such · 
stations I received $1,500. They were stations that were burnt by 
Indians, and when I built those stations the Indians w~re very trouble­
some, and I had to keep a guard while men were at work. The wages 
were very high; also provisions. I do not know of Mr. Holladay giving 
forage to the troops. 

Q. What, if anything, do you know in regard to the cost of labor at 
the time you were engaged in building those stations, or at any time 
during the time Holladay was running the overland stages ~-A. Wages 
were from $50 to $60 a month for laboring-men. As to the material 
that tlle stations were built of, it was logs; no fancy work about the 
stations whatever; they were very plain. Labor being high, that 
brought all prices up. 

Q. Did you take the job to do this '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. You furnished all the material, did you ~-.A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What buildings did you put up at these stations ?-A. I put up 

the stations. 
Q. Just describe the bdildings.-A. The buildings were about 25 by 

60 feet, and they had rooms for passengers to eat, and robms for forage 
on one side-plain log buildings. 

Q. Do you know anything about the destruction of any stations on 
the line by the Indians ~-A. Those stations that I mentioned are the 
only ones I know to have been destroyed by Indians. 

Q. When were they destroyed ~-A. They were destroyed in 1867, in 
the spring of that year. 

Q. Do ;you know anything about the destruction of any of his coaches 
or stealing or stampeding of any of his stock ~-A. I do not, sir. 

Q. Were you employed by ~lr. Holladay at any time except while you 
were engaged in building those stations ?-A. I hauled forage from 
]"1ort Halleck to Sulphur Springs, in 1866. 

Q. How long were you engaged in hauling forage ~-A. From May 
to July; perhaps into August. ' 

Q. What distance did you haul forage ?-A. Seventy-five miles ·or 
more; from Halleck to Sulphur Springs; I think it covered about sev­
enty~fi ve miles. 

Q. What compensation did you receive for hauling it 1-A. I hauled 
for one cent per hundred for one hundred miles. I believe that was tlle 
agreement between myself and Spottswood. 

Q. Do you know anything about the value of grain on the line or at 
any station on the line of the overland mail during the time Holladay 

S. Mis.19-5 
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was running it 1-A. Well, I did a little freighting myself at different 
times. Grain was from 15 cents per bushel to $1.50 per bushel. In 
1862 I bought for 15 cents at Marysville, and in 1864 at $1.25. 

Q. Uorn or oats ~-A. It was corn. 
Q. Now, anything else that you think would be pertinent you cau go 

on and state.-A. I do not know of anything else at present. 
Cross-examined by Mr. WELBOURNE : 

Q. Are you not mistaken about the price of freight 1 I understood 
you one cent a hundred. Do you not mean a dollar a hundred 1-A. I 
meant a dollar a hundred, or one cent a pound. 

Q. Will you explain where Marysville is 1-A. It is on the Big Blue 
and Kansas. 

Q. Where did you haul from :Marysville; to what poiut ?-A. I hauled 
to Fort Halleck. 

Q. How far was that 1-A. It was something over 400 miles, I think. 
Q. You say you got one dollar a hundred for hauling that freight 01-

A. Yes, sir. You mean the freight that I hauled from Fort Halleck to 
Sulphur Spring~~ · 

Q. No; from Marysville. I understood you to say that you hauled 
from MarysYille to Fort Halleck~-A. Yes, sir; I did. 

Q. How much did you g~t for th(tt 1-A. It was for myself. I said I 
boug}lt corn for 15 cents a bushel. 

Q. For 15 cents a bushel ~-A. Yes, sir; in 1862. 
Q. That was bll.ck in Kansas, was it not 1-A. Yes, sir; L said so. 
Q. Was it shelled corn 1-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Can you give the price of grain in Colorado and Fort Laramie in 

1862, 1863, and 1864, and also at Fort Halleck 1-A .. I was not at Fort 
Halleck in 1862. I was at Fort Laramie in 1862. 

Q. Do ;you know the price of it there at that time 1-A. I should say 
it was- worth ten cents in 1862. 

Q. Ten cents a pounc11-A. Yes, sir; ten cents a pound. 
Q. vVhat was it worth in 1864 at Fort Halleck, whel'e you were ~-A. 

From ten perhaps to twelve, retail, a pound .• 
Q. Do you ,remember this as a fact or are you speaking of it as your 

impression now ?-A. I am speaking of it as a fact. 
Q. Diu you buy corn or sell ans at that time at Fort Halleck 1-A. I 

do not remember that I did now. Fort Laramie-are you speaking of 
about 18(12 "? .. 

Q. YeF, sir; either time.-A. I do not remember that I did. 
Q. Yon speak of having built two stations '?-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you ha\e anything to do in the construction of any others 

except those two ~-A. Those are the only two that I re.member of at 
present. 

Q. Do you know Robert J. Spottswood 1-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How intimate1y do you know him ~-A. Well, I have known him 

for years. 
Q. In what capacity was he when you knew him 1-A. He was divis­

. ion agent. 
· Q. What is the character of tile man 1-A. He bore a good char­
acter. 

Q. :F'or responsibility and integrity 0?-A. He was a good man in every 
respect. 

Q. Did you go o\er the north route after it was abandoned by Holla­
day, and he removed to. the south route 1-A. I went over part of it. 

Q. Over what part did you go ?-A. After the stages were takeu off' 
I went down nearly to Julesburg, and up as far as Horseshoe. 
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Q. What distance was that ~-.A. On each side of Laramie, west and . 
-east, say thirty to sixty miles. 

Q. How many stations did you pass within that distance ~-.A. Per­
haps six-that is, six in all ; three on each side of Fort Laramie, imme­
(liately after the stages were taken off. 

Q. What coudition were those stations in when you passed them at 
tllat time ~-A. They were abandoned apparently; there was some Ohio 
cavalry camped around and the stations apparently abandoned. 

Q. You may describe those stations as you saw them at that time; 
what material they were constructed with and what was the size of 
them, &c. ~-A. 1::hey were made of logs, in size varying from 30 to 50 
feet, I should say. 

Q . .Are you acquainted with the value of such buildings ~-A. No 
more than judging from what I got for the stations that I built myself 
when the Indians were troublesome. I should say they would cost up 
from $600 to $800. 

Q. How far was it necessary to haul the material of which those sta­
tions were built?-A. On an average oftwenty-iive miles-those stations 
I am speaking of. _ 

Q. Where was the material hauled from 1-A. From the bluffs around 
there and on the streams that were near them. 

Q. Were you acquainted with J Llleshnrg before it was destroyed~­
A. I was not very often down as far as Julesburg. When I did go down, 
I did not stop there. 

Q. Were you at Julesburg at any time before it was destroyed ~-A. 
Yes, sir. 

Q. You may describe the buildings that were destroyed at Julesburg. 
-A. I could not give a fair description of the buildings at.Julesburg. 

Q. Can you give us any idea of the value of the buildings destroyed 
at Julesburg ~-.A. I could not. 

Q. Anything else that you desire to state in regard to these matters~ 
-A. I do not know that I can state anything more. 

T. B. MURDOCK. called on the part of the United States, sworn and 
examined. · 

By Senator CAMERON: 
Question. Where do you reside1-Answer. ElDorado, Kans. 
Q. How long have you resided there ~-A. About eight years. 
Q. What is your occupation ~-A. I am publisher of a newspaper. 
Q. Where did you reside from 18tH to 1867 ~-A. From 1861 until the 

spring of 1865 I was in the army. · From 1865 to 1867 I resided at Em­
poria, Kans. 

Q. Where were you stationed in the Army, and to what regiment did 
you belong ~-A.. I belonged to Company .B, Ninth Kansas Cavalry; 
was at Leavenworth in the spring of 1862. In the spring of 1862 I was 
ordered from there to Salt Lake, as an escort to Governor Hardin, Lin­
coln's appointee for Territorial governor. I started from .Atchison on 
the 1st day of June and arrived at Fort Laramie about the 28th of 
June. We were there, probably, a week. We were then ordered as an 
eRcort, by General Craig, to accompany the Overland Stage Uompany's 
stock that was g-atllered there from points west, on the line of the Cher­
okee-trail route, or 'the Laramie plains, through from Julesburg, up by 
way of Denver. 



68 CLAIM OF BEN HOLLADAY. 

Q. OYer how much of the old ·stage-route did you go J?-A. I went 
from Atchison to few miles west of Fort Laramie. 

Q. About bow many stations did you see or pass on the overland 
route at that time 1-A. I could not tell. The statiops were about from 
10 to 15 miles apart for the distance. 

Q. About what distance did you go over the route ~-A. About 600 
or 700 miles, I should say. 

Q. Of what material were tlwse stations built, generally t-A. Of logs 
covered with poles and dirt. The bulk of the stations were built oflogs 
covered with dirt. 

Q. Of what were the stations built that were not built of logs covered 
with dirt ?-A. Frame, or boards. 

Q. About how many of them, according to your recollection, were 
built of boards or frame ?-A. ProlJalJlv one in five. 

Q. What, in ~'OUr opinion, was the value of these stations? Describe 
them, and give an idea in regard to the ntlue of them. State what in­
formation you have in regard to their value, .and bow you got that in­
formation.-A. The stations from Atchison out as far as the timber-line 
runs-on the Platte River I am not so well conversant witll-the sta­
tions, though, from the mouth of the Cache la Poudre to Fort Halleck, 
on west to ,the North Platte, I believe (I am not certain as to that) where 
timber could be had (which could be had along that entire route), the 
stations built of logs-the stations that were not eating-stations-would 
probably be worth from $300 to $500 each. The stations were sur­
rounded with corral generally, of poles or logs put in the ground. 

Q. About how much space was inclosed in the corral ?-A. Enough 
to comfortably hold ten or fif~een or twenty mules-not more than a 
quarter to half au acre of ground. 

Q. Were there any stables or barns erected at those stations ?-A. 
At a number of the stations there were; I do not know what they called 
them, whether Swing stations or not. At least one party would have 
charge of the station; the eating and sleeping departments would be 
under the same roof as the stable. There wa~ at Virginia Dale, where 
Slade resided, a good building, a good house. I cannot tell what it 
would be wort~ in that country. 

Q. Were you there when the route was changed from the north to 
the south route ?-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Do you know why the change was made ?-A. It was reported 
and believed to be a shorter route, and it was also considered safer. 
My understanding is they had to carry the mail by the way of Denver, 
and t'lle passenger traffic was, of CQUrse, valuable at that time. It was 
further removed fr<,>m the Sioux Indians, and was considered a safer 
and shorter route, and probably a more profitable one. 

Q. Was or was not the north route exposed to the Sioux and other 
northern Indians ~-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And it was easy for them to drop down on the stations and destroy 
them ?-A. Yes, sir. · 

Q. Were you on the new route after it was established ?-A. Yes, sir; 
from the middle of July, 1862, until the 1st day of November-about 
the 1st of November-1863. 

Q. Were you in the Army at that time, and engaged in guarding the 
road ?-A. Yes, sir. -

Q. Who was the commander of the regiment ~-A. It was a company. 
Asaph Allen was the commander of the company. 

· Q. Who was the district commander at that time ?-A. General 
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Craig a portion of the time. I think Colonel Chivington a part of the 
time. 

Q. Where were Craig's headquarters ?-A. Craig was at Fort Lara­
mie when we went there in ·June, 1862. 

Q. Do you know anything about the kind of stock Mr. Holladay had 
on the stage line-horses, mules, coaclles, &c.1-A. The coaches were 
what are called the Concord coach. They were good. As a rule, the 
coaches were first class, I should say. Some of the time they run what 
they call mud-wagons, that is, covered with cloth instead of leather; 
not exactly a Concord coach. Mules were used almm;t exclusively in 
that country. The tongue or pole mules were generally fair-sized ani­
mals, and the middle and lead mules were not generally very large. 

Q. Did you know anything about the value of mules in that country 
at that time ?-A. There were mules and horses bought there at Hal­
leck of pilgrims coming over the plains. I should say that $100 or $125 
would be a fair value of the majority of the mriles used by the Overland 
Stage Line. .. 

Q. Did you see any mules bought and sold on the line during the 
time you were there 0?-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. About how many "? State generally what information yon have in 
regard to tile value of the horses and mules on the line during that 
tim~.-A. I presume 25 or 50 were bought there by traders at our fort 
wllile we were there of pilgrims going over the plains. 

Q. What was about the usual price paid ?-A. About $100 to $125 
for a fair mule. . 

Q. Do you know anything about the amount of hay and grain that 
was usnally kept at Mr. Holladay's stations on the line of the road 1 If 
so, you can state what the amount was.-A. I have been at a great 
many of the stations ou the road a number of times. A large amount 
of hay and corn was not kept at the stations, as a usual thing. In the 
winter, of course, it was put up at the stations, if it was to be had. If 
not. it bad to be hauled from wherever it could be had. 

Q. State, if you know, what the usual price of corn and hay and oats 
~ was on the line of the road while you were there ?-A. Corn was worth 

75 cents to $1 on the Missouri River, or in Kausas, where it could be 
obtained in large quantities in J863, but it cost about 8 or 10 cents to 
transport it to Fort Halleck. I believe that it was about one cent per 
pound per mile. About $8 a hundred at least was the government price 
paid there at Halleck in 1863. 

Q. You may state what you know, if anything, about Indian disturb­
ances on the old line and on the new line during the time that you were 
there.-A. There were six or seven bead of mules taken from Pass Creek 
station, the second station west of Fort Halleck, in the spring of 1863. 
They were taken by the Ute Indians, and were returnerl to Halleck sta­
tion, and a llounty of $5 claimed for the return of the mules. 

Q. '\"IV ere t.hey captured by some one and taken back ~-A. The Ute 
Indians claimed that the Sioux had been over and stolen some ponies 
from them, and they wanted to borrow the mules to hunt for their stock. 
The station agent refused to let them have them, and so they took them 
anyway. The agent came down to Haileck immediately after, and in­
vited us, and we went in pursuit, but were unable to overtake the In­
dians. The stock was brought back to Halleck station some time after­
wards, to George Launsberry, who was keeping the station at that time, 
and they claimed $5 reward for the return of tbe stray animals. Along 
in July, 1863, there was a bell-mare shot at the second station east of 
Halleck by what were supposed to be Ute Indians. The· Utes came 
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down during the summer to Fort Halleck and over f,o Fort Laramie, and 
stole from 200 to 400 head of stock, horses and mules, from .Renshaw, I 
think. They came back past Halleck, and our soldiers bad a fight with 
them, and several of our men were killed and a number wounded. I 
think these are all the Indian depredations I know of, of any kind, on 
that line of road, while I was there, from the 1st day of. June, 1862, 
until November, 1863. 

Q. What was the value of the stock taken during the time that yon 
were there ~-A. Six mules were brought back. One horse, a bell-mare, 
was killed. I presume she died. She was full of arrows when I saw 
her. 

Q. You stated, I believe, that you were there at the time the route was 
moved ~-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. State whether or not the mail was carried during the time that the 
removal was being made.-A. I think not; for ' a portion of the time. 

Q. About how much of the time ~-A. A large collection of mail ac­
cumulated down the route somewhere-! don't know where-and for, I 
should say, ten days to two weeks at least we did not get any mail 
over the route at all. 

Q. How long did it take Holladay·and his men to remove the line 
across from the old to the new route ~-A. From gathering in the stock 
from the old route and distributing again on the new, I suppose it could 
not be done in less than twenty days, probably. 

Q. About how many soldiers were on the line of the route during the 
time that yon were there; I don't suppose yon know the exact number, 
but from the general information you had ~-A. There was a battalion 
of the Eleventh Ohio Cavalry, under Lieutenant Collins-! think five 
companies-and a portion of the Fourth Cavalry-probably two com­
panies-the Fourth United States Cavalry. Our company was full, and 
a portion of the time two or three companies of the Second Colorado 
were on the ro.ute-were at Halleck at one time. 

Q. How effectually did they protect the Overland Stage Line during 
that time~ State, generally, what they did, and how they protected it, 
&c.-A. We arrived at Laramie in June, 1862; we were out as the es­
cort to the governor, who got to Laramie and did not think it was neces­
sary to take an escort farther, and he went through to Salt Lake by 
stage without any escort. There were no Indian depredations on the 
line of that route, except what I have mentioned, during the time tbat I 
was there, in reasonable distance up and down the route. We were al­
ways notified if there was anything up, to go one way or the other to 
protect the line. 

Q. There were no disturbances on the western end of the route ~-A. 
No, sir; no disturbances for a hundred miles each way while we were 
there, except the stealing of the six mules and killing of the bell-mare. 

Q. Do you know whether or not disturbances occurred after you left, 
in June, 1863?-A. Yes, sir; they did occur after we left there. 

Q. Have you any particular information in regard to those ?-A. No, 
sir. 

Q. How far were you from there ~-A. I think I was in Chattanooga, 
Tenn. 

Q. You were South ~-A. We were South. 
Q. Have you examined a copy of the testimony that has been taken 

in this case ~-A. Yes, sir, I have. 
Q. Have you noticed the affidavit of Mr. R. L. Pease ~-.. A ... Yes, sir. 

Mr. Pease makes the statement that it was reported (I don't know that 
he makes the affidavit direct) that the mules were stolen. I was at Fort 
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Halleck at that time, and it was about that time the six mules were 
taken or borrowed. There were not 36 mules stolen from that station 
by Indians, or by anybody else, at that time. 

Q. You heard nothing of it ?-.A. No, sir. 
Q. Were yon acquainted with stations on the north route-the route 

that was abandoned ?-A. Not very well. 
Q. Do you know anything about the value of these stations ?-A. I 

should judge they were about such stations as those on the lower route. 
Q. Describe the stations on the lower route; state generally what 

they were built of; about the size, and what, in your opinion, the value 
was, there, at that time.-.A. The station at Pass Creek, I should judge, 
was 20 feet square, and of pine logs covered with dirt. I sta~yed there 
one night. Tbe station near Halleck was partly of boards and partly 
of logs. The station at Medicine Bow was probably about the size of 
Pass Creek station-! should say from 20 to 25 feet iu dimensions on 
the ground, and 8 to 10 or 12 feet in height; of logs, and covered, as a 
rule, with dirt. 

Q. Can you state about what the cost of them would be at that time?­
.A. I should say from $300 to $600. 

Q. Did you ever build one there yourself, or have any pat:ticular 
knowledge of the building of any ~-A. We built a stable at Camp Col­
lins, and built nearly all the quarters at Fort Halleck; chopped the 
logs, and hauled them down from the timber, and put them up; we 
hauled what timber there was in them from Laramie Peak. 

Q. Were you at Julesburg before its destruction by Indians ?-.A. 
Yes, sir. 

Q. Describe what buildings were there.-A. I should judge there 
were from eight to a dozen buildings of various kinds. There was a 
blacksmith's shop there, belonging to the Overland Stage Company. 
We bad some borseR shod down there. There was a home station. a 
store-house, pr )bably; a good sized barn and store or ranch. I think 
probably a dozen buildings altogether. 

Q. Of what materi;ll were these buildings constructed? Were they 
frame or log ?-A. I think one or two were of frame; probably three of 
them were frame and the balance were of logs. 

Q. What, in your opinion, would be a fair valuation for those .build­
ings that were burned ?-.A. All the buildings at Julesburg-! should 
think 1110,000 would put up all the buildings that were there in 1863. 

Q. When was Julesburg destroyed; do you know1-A. No, sir; I do 
not. 

Q. Accordtng to your general information, how long after you were 
there was it destroyed ?-A. I was there in November, 1863. My rec­
ollection is that it was destroyed about eighteen months after that. 

Q. You do not know, as a matter of fact, whether the buildings had 
been increased prior to the time you were there until they were destroyed 
or not ?-.A. No, sir ; I do not. 

Q. Were you ever at Little Laramie station ·q-A, Yes, sir. 
Q. Describe that station and the buildings that were there.-A. It 

would compare with the others-it was of pine logs, I should think, prob­
ably. worth $600. It was not far from timber. Not a very costly build­
ing. Of course, under some circumstances it might have been made 
costly, but they did not put much time or money in those stations. 

Q. There has been a good deal said about the cost of wood, fire-woQd, 
at these stations. What information, if any, have you in regard to 
that ~-.A. Well, I presume that wood was as costly at Julesburg as at 
any point ou the line of tile road. I think on Pole Oreek, say fifty-five 



72 • CLAIM OF BEN HOLLADAY. 

miles from Julesburg, wood was plenty-that is, reasonably plenty. If 
a man contracted to have a certain number of cords delivered at Jules­
burg, probably it would come pretty high, but if a man had teams and 
horses of his own, an(_). time, and nothing to · do much, it would come 
cheaper. 

Q. Can you state what it cost at Julesburg ~-A. We bought wood 
there, but I don't know what we paid. • 

Q. On what part of the route was the best stock, the eastern or the 
western ~-A. From Atchison to Fort Kearney. 

Q. About what distance was that ~-A. From 100 to 200 miles, I 
should say ; I don't recollect. 

Q. What was the difference between the stock on that end and be~ 
yond that ~-A. I think that on the eastern end of the road horses were 
used more than mules. 

Q. Can you give us any other information in regard to the stealing of 
stock by IndianR on the line of the road ~-A. No, sir; I have stated 
about all the stock that I knew of that was molested by Indians while 
we were there, of my own knowledge. 

Q. Do you know whether the soldiers (the military) either helped 
themselves or received from Mr. Holladay's agents any supplies during 
the time they were there ~-A. No, sir; we received none, and I don't 
know of any others that received any. 
, Q. Give us any further information that you can.-A. I don't think 
of anything now. 

Q. Do you know whether any of Mr. Holladay's employes were killed 
by the Indians during the time that you were there ~-A. No, sir; I 
know of none that were killed. 

Cross· examination by Mr. WELBOURNE: 

Q. What is your age now ~-A. I am thirty-eight
1
years old, I believe. 

Q. You joined the A:~;my in 1861 ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. "\Vas twenty-one years of age at tliat time ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What regiment did you belong to ~-A. Ninth Kansas Cavalry. 
Q. What time did you go to Fort Lamarie ¥-A. I started from Atchi-

son the 1st of June, 1862. 
Q. How long did you remain there ?-A. Until about the first day of 

November, 1863. 
Q. You were there sixteen months, then, at Laramie ~-A... On the 

Overland Stage I .. ine, at Fort Halleck, Laramie, and Camp Collips. 
Q. How long were you at Fort Laramie-you first went to Fort Lara­

mie, as ! understood you to say ?-A. Ten days. 
Q. In all; from Laramie you went where ~-A. To Camp Collins, on 

the Cache la Pondre. 
Q. How long did you remain there ?-A. Probably three months. 
Q. How far is that from Laramie ~-A. I think we were five days 

going over. 
Q. You remained at Laramie three months?-A. At Camp Collins three 

months. 
Q. I mean Camp Collins. So, then, about the 1st of October, 1862, 

you left Camp Collins 0?-A. Yes, sir; on the 1st of November; some­
where about that. 

Q. Having remained at Fort Laramie ten days. You think that was 
about 100 miles from Laramie, Camp Collins is ~-A. I have no means 
of knowing--

Q. Except the time it took you to move; it would indicate about 100 
miles ~-A. I cannot recollect. 
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Q. In your opinion is it (let us get at your opinion) ~-A. I could not 
make a guess as to the distance. · 

Q. Which direction is it ?-A. South. 
Q. Laramie is in Wyoming Territory, is it not ~-A. It is now; yes, 

sir. 
Q. Camp Collins is in Colorado ~-A. Yes, sir; in Colorado. 
Q. Then about the 1st of November, 1862, you left Oamp Collins?-

A. Yes, sir. · · 
Q. Where did you go ?-A. To Fort Halleck. 
Q. How far and in what direction is that from Camp Collins ?-A. 

Northwest; north of west. 
Q. How far from Camp Collins ?-A. I should say 125 to 150 miles. 
Q. How long did it take you to go 0?-A. Five or six days, I should 

say. 
Q. How long then did you remain there, at Fort Halleck ?-A. Until 

about the 1st day of November, 1863. 
Q. You were there, then, about one year ~-A. Yes, sir; about one 

year; 
Q. What position did you· then occupy in the service ~-A. I was 

private, bugler, corporal, and .sergeant, while I was there on the plains. 
Q. During all that period ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. When you were at Camp Collins, you were a private ~-A. No, 

sir; I think I was a bugler at Camp Collins. 
Q. You were made a sergeant after your arrival at Fort Halleck 'I~ 

A. Yes, sir. · 
Q. At what. time ~-A. I do not recollect . 

. Q. What sort of sergeant-in the line ?-A. I think there were eight 
sergeants in a company; I do not recollect how many there were; just 
a straight sergeant. 

Q. You had nothing to do with the Commissary Department ?-A. 
No, sir. • 

Q. You described the buildings at Fort Laramie, did you not ¥-A. 
No, sir. · 

Q. At Littlo Laramie ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Where is that ?-A. On the Laramie Plains, between Camp Col-

lins alHl Fort Halleck. . 
Q. How long were you at that point ?-A. I have been there half a 

dozen times, I suppose; a dozen times, probably. 
Q. Do you mean during the period you were out there at Fort Hal­

leck ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. You had come back to Little Laramie from Fort Halleck, from the 

time you were stationed there ~-A. I presume I was up and down the 
road a dozen times. 

Q. You say you have built buildings of that character ~....:...A. Helped 
build them. 

Q. As a soldier ?-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you pay for any of the material ?-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you see any paid for ¥-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. B.Y whom ~-A. By the lieutenant and post quartermaster at Fort 

Halleck. 
Q. To any extent ~-A. Well, yes, sir; considerable. 
Q. 'Vhat did he pay for~-·A. Wood, lumber, hay, and corn. 
Q. I am speaking about the buildings now; do you know how much · 

umber it would take to build one of those stations ~-A. I know about 
how much was in them. 

Q. Did you then know ?-A. I presume I did. 
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Q. I am asking you as a positive fact ~-A. I cannot say positively 
whether I did or not. 

Q. Did you know the value of lumber at that time; what they paid 
for it at this point~-A. I think we got lumber at Halleck at about $85, 
from Laramie Peak saw-mill. 

Q. You think you did ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. For what purpose ~-A. For the purposes at the fort-building 

officers' quarters, flooring, and soldiers' quarters. 
Q. Did you know what lumber was worth at that time ~-A. No, sir; 

I do not know that I did. 
Q. Did not know what it cost to get out those logs and haul them. 

Suppose they had to haul them 30, 40, or 50 miles. ·Do you know about 
what it cost to do that~-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. You did know at that time 1-A. I had a fair idea. 
Q. I am asking you if you knew ?-A. I cannot say that I knew. 
Q. That is what I want precisely. Did you know at tbat time what 

it cost to move those logs from where they were obtained and put them 
in the buildings ~-.A.. I know what they cost at Fort Halleck. 

Q. Did you bring them the same distance to the fort that they were 
brought to Little Laramie, for instance ~-A. Not quite so far. 

Q. How did you buy them at the fort ~ Hire men by the day to get 
them out~-A. No, sir. 

Q. Bought the logs after they were obtained and prepared 1-A. No, 
sir. 

Q. How did you do it ~-A. Soldiers on extra duty. 
Q. You did not pay the soldiers ~-A. The government did. 
Q. Sixteen dollars a month ~-A. No, sir; paid them on extra duty. 
Q. How much per day ~-A. I think it was forty cents and a jug of 

.whisky. 
Q. Twenty-five cents, was it not ~-A. I said I thought it was. 
Q. You know nothing about what Holladay r his superintendents 

had to pay at Little Laramie for the building of that building ~-A. No, 
sir. 

Q. Nothing as to what he had to pay for lumber or labor for the erec­
tion of any of hiR buildings, of your own knowledge ~-A. My own 
knowledge is that laboring men were getting from $40 to $60 a month 
there. 

Q. And kept themselves ?-A. No, sir. 
Q. Those were common day laborers ~-A, Yes, sir; common day la­

borers. 
Q. You say these buildings cost from $300 to $600 apiece. Did you 

at the time you were there estimate their value ~-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you look at them with a view of determining their value at the 

time ~-A. No, sir. 
Q. You did not know anything of the cost of the material of which 

they were made ~-A. I knew what some of the material cost. 
Q. You did not know what they paid for it, as I understand you¥­

.A. I know what a bm:iness man would have paid on a business propo­
sition. I do not know what they paid, of course. 

· Q. How do you know ~-A. I know timber was free, to be had for the 
cuttmg and hauling; and knew what hay and corn was worth. I knew 
from my own knowledge about what it would cost to build a station of 
'the kind. 

Q. You say you did not estimate the value of the buildings at tile 
time you were there. When did you make those estimates of the cost~ 
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-A. I refreshed my memory in regard to the matter in the last month 
or six weeks. 

Q. For wbat reason, sir ~ What occasioned you to refresh your mind 
in regard to it ¥-A. I lettrned that there was a claim of the Overland 
Stage Company for damages oYer the line on which I was, and I, from 
self-interest, probably curiosity, looked over the matter a little and t.alked 
with other parties who were there at the time with me. We discussed 
the matter. 

Q. You were a boy at the time you were on the line ~-A. I was old 
enough to be sworn in the Army-twenty-one. 

Q. Fifteen years since that time you investigated and looked over the 
matter ~-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. At whose instigation were you prompted to investigate or look 
over the matter 1-A. No body's. 

Q. Purely self-interest ·~-A. No, sir; I do not know it was purely 
·self-interest. 

Q. As you did not know the cost of anything there, is it not a little 
presumptuous on your part to come here and fix the value of the build­
ings fifteen years after you had seen them f-A. I did not say that I did 
not know the value of the buildings. I said I knew the value of lumber, 
and I knew the value of timber; and I knew the value of dirt. 

Q. But you said you did not know what Holladay paid.-A. No, sir; 
I do not know what he paid. 

Q. Nor his agents ~-A. No, sir. 
Q. What he paid for the lumber, nor what he paid for his hands?­

A. No, sir; I knew what hands were getting there at the same kind of 
business. 

Q. Row did you know that ~·-A. Because they were employed at the 
fort? 

Q. By whom ?-A. By the quartermaster or sutler. 
Q. Did the quartermaster tell you what he was paying ?-A. I was 

his clerk. 
Q. When and where f-A. At Fort Halleck, in 1863. 
Q. What time of the year ¥-A. After he was shot in the arm ; I do 

not recollect. 
Q. About the time ?-A. I should say July. 
Q. After the 3d of July ?-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How long did you serve in that capacity ~-A. I cannot say. He 

was wounded in the arm, and I attended to his business for him. 
Q. Ten days or two weeks 0?-A. I was the company's clerk, keeping 

the books for the company. 
Q. Did they buy lumber ¥-A. Yes, sir; they bought some lumber. 
Q. For what purpose ?-A. I said before for the officers' quarters and 

for :flooring. 
Q. Did they pay for it ?-A. It was paid for. 
Q. Did the company pay for it ?-A. I think they paid for part of it. 
Q. What did they pay-how much per thousand ~-A. I think about 

$85. 
Q. What fund did the company pay for the lumber out on-A. W 

had a beef fund. 
Q. To what extent did you purchase out of that fund ?-A. I think 

we bought two or three thousand feet of boards. 
Q. As to the value of the mules; at what point was it that you stated 

you saw a few mules bought ?-A. At Fort Halleck. 
Q. When was that~-A. In the summer of 1863; some mules and 

some horses. 
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Q. Who bought those ~-A. I bought some of them myself-two 
horses. 

Q. For what purpose ~-A. Speculation. 
Q. You bought of pilgrims, you stated ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q . .And now, do you fix the value of mules and horses in tllat country 

during that time according to the price you paid for those horses and 
mules ~-.A. I fix the value according to my understanding at the time 
of the value of horses at Denver and along the line of the road ; the 
value of horses in Kansas and the expense of getting them out there, 
and the value of mules in New Mexico and of Mexican mules, and the 
cost of getting them up there. 

Q. \.Yhen did you learn these values ~-A. I learned them from time 
to time as I went along. 
· Q. While you were a corporal1-A. Probably I learned some of the 

values while a corporal. 
Q. Did you buy any at that time ~-A. Two horses. 
Q. Stage horses ~-.A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know the value of stage horses ~-A. I know the value of 

horses at Leavenworth. 
Q. Do you know the value of stage horses at Fort Halleck~ -A. Con-

structively I know. 
Q. Did you then, sir ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How do you know it ~-A. The way I would know anything. 
Q. Did you bu,y any stage horses ~-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you sell any ~-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did yon see any bought ~-A. I knew the price of horses at Leav­

enworth and the cost of getting them out there. 
Q. How did you happen to know in the summer of 1863, being at Fort 

Halleck, what the prices of horses were at Leavenworth ~-A. I had 
some horses to sell, and saw the Leavenworth papers. 

Q. The value of stage hor-ses published in the Leavenworth papers~­
A. No, sir; government horses-first-class horses. 

Q. Did you know the value of mules at that point-stage mules, or 
suctt as were used on the stage line ~-A. I stated in my testimony about 
what I thought they were worth. 

Q. Those were some you saw purchased. By whom were they pur­
chased ~-A. Bv settlers at Fort Halleck. 

Q. On speculation ~-A. For use and for speculation. 
Q. Was that a fair valuation of property in that country at that 

time ?-A. At that place at that time I presume it was. 
Q. You presume it was ~-A. It was the market, and the demand gov­

erns the price, of course. 
Q. How did you find out in 1863 out there, during the time you were 

serving, the value of mules down in New Mexico ~-A. I knew what 
New Mexican mules were worth at Denver. 

Q. How long before ~-A. In 1862 and 1863. 
Q. How did you find that out f-A. I was down there. 
Q. When ~--A. Half a dozen times or more, in 18u2 and 1863. 
Q. Did you inquire. as to the value ~-A. I do not know that I did~ 

specially. 
Q. Upon what information is it that you are willing to swear now~­

A. I had some idea of buying some mules there and sending them up 
to Fort Leavenworth, if there was anything to be made. 

Q. Then you did inquire the value~-A. Not specially, as I know of. 
Q. Did you know of whom you inquired ~-A. No, sir. 
Q. Was he a stock man "?-A. Probably a livery man, if I made in-
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quiries. I tried to keep posted on the value of horses and mules in that 
country. 

Q. You were speculating in them ~-A. Yes, sir; a little bit. 
Q. What were mules worth in Denver in the summer of 1863 ~-A. A 

first-class mule would be worth from $150 to $200. 
Q. In Denver ~-A. Yes, sir; in Denver, in 1863. The average mule 

was worth $100 to $150. 
Q. What would he be worth at Fort Halleck ?-A. They could be . 

taken up there for two or three dollars a head I suppose, if a fellow bad 
enough of them to take. 

Q. If you had bought mules in Denver at $150 a piece, you would 
have sold them at Fort Halleck at $152.50 apiece, do I understand 
you ?-A. I would say the cost would depend on the number of mule.s 
a man wanted to take from Denver to Halleck; if he had one mule it 
would cost more; if he had a large number it would be less per bead. 

Q. You passed through Julesburg in 1863 °!.:._A, I passed through 
Julesburg in 1860, 1862, and 1863. · 

Q. How long were you there in 1863 ~-A. I think we were there a 
portion of two days. 

Q. Did you look at that property then with a view of fixing the 
value ~-A. No, sir. 

Q. Did you have any idea at that time of lits value ~-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you know the cost of any of its construction at that time~­

.A.. Yes, sir; I did. 
Q. How ~-A. I knew the price of labor. 
Q. At Julesburg 1-A. No, sir; not at Julesburg; I knew the price 

of labor on the Overland Stage Line, that is, out in that country. 
Q. Did you estimate the amount of labor on that property ~-A. No, 

sir. 
Q. Did you at that time fix a value upon that property ?-A. No, 

sir. 
Q. When did you do it ~-A. I did it from I,Dy recollection of the 

property at that time and the conversation with other gentlemen who 
were acquainted with Julesburg, its location, number of buildings, &c., 
within the last six weeks. 

Q. And now swear it was worth $10,000 ?-A. I now swear, in my 
judgment, all the buildings in Julesburg in 1863 could be put there for 
$10,000. 

Q. At that time ?-A. Yes, sir ; at that time. 
Q. You are liable to be very greatly mistaken, are you not ?-A. Any 

ma'n is liable to be mistaken. 
Q. It is fifteen years since you were there ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What was your purpose of fixing a value upon this at all, or com­

ing to this city at all ?-A. I saw a pamphlet printed of a claim pre­
sented by the Overland Stage Company for damages done by Indians 
in the years from 1862 to 1866, I believe. I thought the matter over · 
under the impression that the estimate for damages was overestimated. 
No special object that I know of. 

Q. But they may not be ?-A. They may not be. 
Q. It is just a matter of opinion on your part ?-A. A matter of opin-

ion. · 
Q. Who furnished you with this statement-this printe~ pamphlet? 

-A. The first statement I saw was, I think, in some Kansas paper; an 
Atchison paper probably. 

Q. Where did you get_ the pamphlet testimony ?-A. I sent for it 
here. 
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Q. To whom ~-A. To Colonel Plumb. 
Q. Your Senator ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. With whom did you talk in regard to · the value of the property at 

Julesburg~-A. I talked with a gentleman named George Launsberry 
who kept Latham station and Halieck station, and one or two other sta­
tions on the route; with a man named John Betts, a former driver 
there, and I talked with one or two other 'parties who had been there. 

Q. Did you talk with anybody who built the premises ~-A. No, sir. 
Q. Or paid for any of them· ~-A. No, sir. · 
Q. You say there was no property lost in 1863, that Mr. Pease speaks 

of ~-A. I said that there were those mules taken from that station. 
Q. I am speaking about property lost, excepting the bell-mare killed. 

-A. And the mules that were taken and returned. 
Q. In and about Little Laramie, I am inquiring now; Mr. Pease says 

there were thirty-odd head of stock lost in and about Fort Halleck; 
thirty -four stage mules taken from the line in the summer of 1863; what 
do you say about that ~-A. I stated that in my judgment that number 
of mules were not taken from Fort Halleck that summer. 

Q. In your judgment '~-A. I am sure they were not taken. 
Q. How do yon know, attd why ~-A. I rely on my own recollection 

and on the conversation with other gentlemen who were there at the 
time. 

Q. Who were those gentlemen ~-A. George Launsberry was one; he 
was there at that time, and an employe named Watson. 

Q. Where is Launsberry ?-A. He is in Butler County, Kansas. 
Q. How far from you ?-A. He lives eight mites from me. 
Q. What is his business 0?-A. Farmer. 
Q. What was he engaged in at that time ~-A. He was keeping La-

tham Station a part of the time, and another station a part of the time. 
Q. For whom ?-A. Ben Holladay. ' 
Q. What years 0!-A. I do not recollect; in 1862 or 1863, I think. 
Q. What is the name of the paper you publish ?-A. Walnut Valley 

Times. 
Q. I..~et me call your attention to this, and ask if you ever saw that be­

fore (exhibiting paper).-A. No, sir. 
Q. I will then ask you this: if you were tile author of or if you pub­

lished a piece in your paper reading as follows: 
Senator PLUMB: The Walnut Valley Times devotes a column and a half to exposing 

Ben Holladay's attempt to steal $550,000 indemnity for losses sustained by the stage 
company from depredations by Indians near Fort Halleck, from 1863 to 1865, inclu­
sive. 

Were you the author of tha.t~-A. No, sir. 
Q. Was it published in your paper with your knowledge~-A. No, 

sir. 
Q. An article similar to this, purporting to be as this states, was pub­

lished in your paper.-A. An article published in my paper~ 
Q. As this states.-A. There was an article published in my paper; 

yes, sir; but that article I never published. 
Q. When did you publish that article that you refer to ¥-A. Three, 

four, or five weeks ago. 
Q. Where did you get your information that you then relied upoa ~­

A. I then wrote on the spur of the moment ; probably I was not so well 
posted then as I would be now. . 

Q. You then characterized it as an attempted steal ~-A. I do not know 
that I used that language. 

Q. You say you published something purporting to be like this ~-A. 
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That editor says that an article appeared in my paper, but he did not 
attempt to quote any of the language from my paper. 

Q. \!\'hat did you characterize it in your article ~-A. I do not recol­
lect what the headin~ was of the article. 

Q. I mean the body of it, what did you term it ~-A. I characteriz'ed 
it as an unjust claim. 

Q. You did not state where you got the information at the time you 
wrote this article. Was it based upon your own knowledge of the ex­
istence of facts in that country from 1862 to 1865 ~--A. I saw an item, 
I think, in some Kansas paper first setting forth some facts in regard to 
the presentation of this claim. I published my article from the infor­
mation I obtained from what I saw in another ·paper; afterward I ob­
tained this printed testimony, and found I was mistaken as to some of 
the claims that were presented. 

Q;. Do you know any of the parties who have testified in that pamphlet, 
whose testimony is set forth ~-A. No, sir; I do not believe I know one 
of them. 

Q. Do you know Mr. Pease ?-A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know Mr. Spotswood ~-A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know Mr. Hughes ~-A. I did know him at one time. I 

presume I would not know him now. 
Q. Do you know Mr. Carlisle ~-A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know Mr. Otis ?-A. I knew Mr. Otis. 
Q. Did you know Mr. Street ~-A. I do not know that I did. 
Q. Do you know many of these gentlemen by reputation °!-A. All of 

them by reputation. 
Q. Do you know what their reputation is for truth and veracity ~-A. 

Some of them good and some of them bad. 
Q. Do you know Mr. Hughes's reputation ~-A. Good. 
Q. Mr. Street's ~-A. I do 11ot know anything about that. 
Q. Mr. Pease ~-A. No, sir; I do not know anything. 
Q. Aud about Mr. Spotswood's ~-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you base your opinion of the valuation of that property upon 

the testimony of these gentlemen or the statements ·that other men 
made to you ?-A. Both; a comparison of ideas. · 

Q. Not that you knew yourself absolutely ~-A. After consulting 
with other parties, I do not know that I have changed my mind 
greatly. 

Q. To sum up, I will ask you this: Up to a month ago, or six weeks 
ago, you never had an idea or thought, or expressed one, in regard to 
the value of this property, did you~ You had no occasion to ~-A. No, 
sir. 

Q. And it was at that time and sirH"ie that time ;you have made up 
your mind as to the value of the propert.Y supposed to have been lost; 
am I right J~-A. Not entirely; I knew the value of some things at that 
time as I know now. 

Q. You made an estimate of the value of the: property lost within the 
last six weeks, have you uot ~-A. I have refreshed my memory some­
what in regard to the matter. 

Re-examined by Senator CAMERON : 
Q. You can make any statement now you wish to in regard to this 

matter.-A. I would state for the information of the committee there 
are other parties in Kansas who were older than I was at that time, and 
who know more than I do about that stage line. 

Q. Give us the names of such as, in your opinion, would have the 
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information you speak of.-A. I would say Capt. Henry Brandley, l\Iat­
field Green, Chase County, Kansas. 

Q. Was he in the military service on th&t line at tlJat time '-A. Yes, 
sir. 

Q. Was he captain ~-A. Lieutenant. 
Q. Give the names of others.-A. JolJn S. Watson, Emporia, Kans. 

Those gentlemen, I would say, were with me all the time I was out there, 
and probably their knowledge would cover the same ground that I have 
covered, either to modify or substantiate my testimony; I should call 
them fair witnesses, gentlemen of standing there in the State. That 
is alll have to say. 

Q. You say that some witnesses who have testified in this claim are 
not remarkable for a good reputation ¥-A. I had in my mind's eye one 
that i8 since dead, and I have no desire to cast any shame on his name; 
he was not considered a first-class man in that country at that time. 

Q. Do you know anything about the facts that that witness testified 
to ~-A. No, ·sir; I only know his subsequent reputation in that coun­
try, tllat is all. 

Q. Was it a bad reputation for truth or was he a \riolent man ?--A. 
A violent man, probably. 

Q. You probably never beard a great deal in regard to his reputation 
for truth and veracity~-A. No, sir. 

Q. Un the border you have frequently found men violent and ug1y 
who would still tell the truth ¥-A. There are some people in that coun­
try who will tell the truth. 

Q. If you think of anything else, please sta'te it.-A. I desire to state 
that I am satisfied that Mr. Holladay has a first and valid claim against 
the government. All that I find fault with in his claim is, that in my 
opinion, although I may be mistaken about this, be charges too much 
for the property destroyed. 

N. F. FRAZIER sworn and examined. 
Question. Where do you reside ¥-Answer.:El.Dorado, Kans. 
Q. ·What is your age 0?-A. Thirty-one. , .;. >Iii 

Q. Ho~v long have you resided in El Dorado,:Kans. ?-A. Nearly nine 
years; eight years past. . 

Q. Were you ever in the employ of Ben Holladay ~-A. Yes. 
Q. When ¥-A. From November, 1864, to some time in 1866, I think. 
Q. Where were you in his employ ~-A. On the overland stage line. 
Q. Where were you first employed by him 1-A. At Atchison. 
Q. What were you doing~ Go on and tell the history of your connec­

tion with him.-A. I first went out to tend stock for six or eight months. 
I then went to what is called Littl~ Blue Station, and remained there 
most of one summer, looking after the herds and most everything. 

Q. You were living there, being a herder and ometbing else ~-A. 
Finally I was elevated to be a dri-ver. I first drove a forage-team, a 
forage-wagon, and hauled lumber and corn to supply tho~e stations 
along there, and afterward went to driving.· 

Q. Between what stations did you drive ¥-A. I think the first driv­
ing I did was from Kiowa Station to Big Sandy-distance about twenty­
two miles. 

Q. When did you drive there ~-A. I think some time during the sum­
mer of 1865-during the fall of 1865. 
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Q. Did you ever know any Indian troubles ~-A. No, sir. 
Q. What, if anything,, do you know in regard to the ,Joss of stock on 

that line ~-A. I do not know any that was lost; there were three or four 
horses that were supposed to have been stolen from Pony Range, and 
afterward three, I think, were recovered. I supposed they had strayed 
away. 

Q. What was the condition of the horses that were recovered ~-A. I 
think all were in as good condition as when they went away. I knew 
the horses very well, and saw them before leaving and after returning. 
I think they were not stolen, only having been turned out and strayed 
away, and came in some ten or fifteen miles below there, looking as well 
when they came in as when they strayed away. 

Q. How far were you west on the stage line at any time ~~A. Prior 
to 1867 I was not farther than Fort Kearney. 

Q. Tll.en all you know in regard to the business or operations of the 
stage line during and prior to 1867 was east of Fort Kearney ·~-A. Yes, 
sir. 

Q. You may describe the stations east of Fort Kearney; state what 
material they were constructed of.-A. They were constructed of Jogs 
principally, and covered with dirt and poles. 

Q. Do :you know anything in regard to the cost of these stations "!­
A. No, sir; only had a general idea of such things . 
. Q. You uever built or assisted in building any of them ~-A. No, sir. 

Col. CHARLEs G. O~l.'IS called on the part of the claimant. 
By Mr. WELBOURN: 

'Question. Colonel, please state where you were in 1863, 1864, and 
1865 ~-Answer. I was in the Army. . 

Q. Statio.ned at wlJat point ~-A. In 1862 I was ia the Eastern Army 
of Virginia; in 1862, 1863, and 1864 in the Army in the East. In 1865 
I was ordered West with my regiment, the Twenty-first New York Cav­
alry, and ordered to report at DPnver. 

Q. What time in 1865 ~-A. We left Leavenworth in July, 1865. 
Q. Over what route did you pass going to Denver ~--A. We passed 

from LeaYenworth to Atchison, and then out to Fort Kearney; and 
from Fort Kearney to Cottonwood and Julesburg, to the junction, to 
Latham's Crossing; and fr'om there to Cache la Poudre, up to Camp 
Collin:3. 

Q. Is that over the route owned by Mr. Holladay ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. In what capacity were you serving then ~-A. I was a major at 

that time, commanding the regiment. 
Q. How long did you remain in that country ~-A. About one year, 

1865 to 1866. I left in July, 1866. 
Q. Did you know anything about Indian troubles along the line ·of 

tbis stage-route ~-A. l knew there had been Indian troubles before we 
went there, and saw some evidences of them. 

Q. What did you see ~-A. Very little trouble after we reached there. 
I saw one of the officers in the hospital at Camp Collins wounded in 
the elbow by an arrow. He bad a brush a short time befqre we reached 
there; and I saw tile remains of the wagons, and things of that kind ; 
barns that bad been burned up on the road so mew here near Latham's 
Station. 

S. Mis. 19-6 
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Q. Were you at Julesburg~-A. I went through Julesburg in 18G5. 
Q. Was that before or after the destruction 1-A. It was after. 
Q. It had been destroyed then ~-A. Yes, sir. There were new build­

ings constructed at that time; new stations, &c. 
Q. After you arrived at Denver, or iu that countrry, was there any 

demands for your services to protect this stage-route ~-A. There were. 
Q. To what extent ?-A. My regiment was distributed over the line 

from station to station. Our headquarters at that time were at Uamp 
Collins, and then we had men stationed at different stations. Some men 
at Virginia Dale, Bitter Oreek, Big and Little Laramie, Uooper Creek, 
Halleck, Platte Crossing, at Sage Creetr, at Pine Grove, and at the, 
crossing of the Platte, Bridger Pass, and Sulphur Springs. And the 
regiment was stationed along those; we sent five mounted men with the 
stage each way. 

Q. Did you know of any property being destroyed belonging to that 
company after you went there ~-A. No, I do not from my own knowl­
edge. 

Q. Who was in command of your district at that time ~-.A.. When we 
first went there I think General Dodge was in command. We reported 
to him, and afterward Colonel Upton took command. We reported to 
him at Denver-G. M. Dodge, I think it was. 

Q. Did you observe the stations along the line of the company's 
route ~-A. I saw other troops besides ours. There was a wagon bri­
gade. 

Q. Did you observe the stations 1-A. Yes, sir; I did to some extent; 
not particularly. ' 

Q. Have you any means of knowing the value or cost of construction 
in that country ~-A. Yes, sir. I have some means. We built some 
storehouses anrl things of that kind at Fort Oollins while I was there, 
and I am professionally acquainted with the knowledge of building, 
because I have served at that trade myself wheu I was young. I am 
a mechanic. 

Q. Can you state the cost of building any station at any point-in 
Colorado, for instance '-A. I could only do it as a matter of judgment, 
not of knowledge; but I would say it was very expensive from my 
knowledge of tlle cost of things, because I know that during the winter 
of 1865, from my knowledge of the cost of wood-forage, we found every­
thing was very high, and I know it seemed like burning money to burn 
wood there, because it had to be hauled eighty or ninety miles. 

Q. What was a cord of wood worth "?-A. From $90 to $100. 
Q. Do you remember the price of lumber ~-A. The prices at those 

stations sometimes run up as high as $200 a thousand. 
Q. Do you remember bow low it ever reached ~-A. I think $80 or 

$90. 
Q. Had you any means of knowing the value of corn and oats q?-A. 

At our station there was a contract-the contract-price for hauling grain 
was 14 cents a pound. Wallace was one of the contractors. I knew 
he bought a la1·ge consignment of corn there; several hundred thouRaud 
pounds, and it was 14 cents a pound for hauling, to my recollection. 

Q. What would that make the corn cost at your station ?-A. I do 
not recollect what the corn was worth. It was worth 25 cents a pound. 
It varied according to the trouble of getting it there. 

Q. Bow was the price of oats ~-A. 'Ye used very few, but it was 
about the same as corn. 

Q. Do you know the price of labor, or did you at that time ?-A. We 
had a carpenter at our station we paid $100 a month. 
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Q. And board ~-A. Yes, sir; labor was very high at that time, es­
peciall.v at exposed stations. 

Q. Do you know where Little Laramie was ~-A. Yes, sir; I was 
there. 

Q. How long were you there ~-A. Only passed through there. 
Q. Do _you know how far that was from timber ~-A. There is timber 

in the mountains, but it is difficult of access. It is not very far; .ti ve 
or six or ten miles. 

Q. Did you .ever observe the buildings at Little Laramie ~-A. The 
buildings that were destroyed were very good buildings. 

Q. Can you state about the cost, of erecting those buildings; what~ in 
your opinion, would it cost to build them "?-A. My recollection of the 
station at Little Laramie was tbat it was quite a comf,)rtable station. 

Q. It is said hy Spotswood to be worth $2,500, and by Murdock to be 
worth $600 ?-A. There may be a different standpoint of judgment. 
If sou take the value of buildings when they are built -by soldiers, and 
you have good governnwnt employes and government teams to use, it 
may not cost so mQ.ch; but where you have to do it by contract by peo­
ple where it costs a large price for working, I should think the cost 
would be $3,000 or $3,500 with the surroundings, with the other things, 
besides the cost of building stables and corrals generally. 

Q. Do you know the value of the hay at that time ~-A. It was $80 
or $90 a ton. Sometimes it ran up to $200 in some places. It fluctu­
ated in value. 

Q. You knew of the quantity and value of the stock and stages used 
on this line ?-A. I did. ' 

Q. Please state the character of ~tock used.-A. The stock on the 
route was the finest stock I ever saw on a stage line. They drove four 
horses on the eastern end of the line to a coach, and on the western 
end they drove mules-that is, in the mountains-especially on the east­
ern end there were five horses. The stage would start each day with 
four horses. They started every morning and came through in time. 

Q. \Vbat were such horses worth in that country ~-A. I should think 
thctt the stock they bad then would cost at least $200 apiece. 

Q. Mules and horses~-:\. Yes, sir; I think sometimes the mules 
would cost more t!Jan the horses. 

Q. State about the coaches used.-A. T!Jey were Concord coaches, 
and !Jung on leather straps. . 

Q. Good and safe ~-A. Yes, sir; splendid, excellent coaches. 
Q. Do you know the value of the stock ~-A. Yes, sir; I do. 
Q. Had you any experience ~-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. If you !Jad, state what it was.-A. My regiment was sent to Leav­

enworth, and WA had to bny new equipments. We had to refit andre­
mount it, and at Leavenworth the government paid for horses· about 
$175, but the government horses did not compare with t!Je stock on the 
stage line. Tlle government was limited in price to pay for horses, and 
that was $175, but out on the plains horses increased in value according 
to the necessities of the occasion. 



ExHIBIT A. 

The Central Overlani$ Califm·nja antl Pike'B Peak !!xpress Cornpany; jron~; Fo'l't Kearney, /'{eb., to Denve1·, .fan. 5th, 1865, 

¥o, 42,--.,.TREASURE, 

Wm. J[udnut, MeBsengr-r. 

Wo. Weight. \ Value. From wllom re­
ceived. Tp whom Q.ddressed, Destin~tion, 

O!lr 
Adv.ancedl cbargea, 
ch~J-rges. ---

1 p'k'g .......... ....... ~~~0~ 00 I u. s.~~prest3CO. ~M~s~;:~m;~el;~&-;ones. Denv~.r ......... i . 7 50 
1 11 •••• ,. •••• •••••••• l!l 50 I " " ...... Dr. J. F. Wisely .......... J\tlesburg .............. .. 
1 " ............ " .... .. . ..... .. · ~ " ...... .John N. King ...... •.. . .. Cottonwood . .... 4 00 
1 " . . • .. . . . .. .. • .. . .. 60 00 " " .. . . . . Charles Britty ..•.. ., ..... Central Cit;v .. .. 1 00 
1 V!l-1. papers. ............ ...... . ... ' ' ~' ...... Kountz &c Bro ... ,, .. , •.. Derrr!lr ...... ... 4 QO 

1 p'k'g .......... \ ........ \ ~50 DO I l{r. Claz:ll: ...... \Dudley~ Wbita ...... .. 'I 

Loc!ll. 

21' 00 
2 OQ 
~ 00 
2 00 
8 00 

3 7S 

Collect. ·-

34 50 
2 00 
p 00 
3 00 

Prepaid. 

Local. From 
Denver. 

lfJ 00 ... ,.,. .................. . 

B 75 

---w50144 75' 1~251~~~=-= 
---=-

• 

IWmarks. 

J, F. Wisely, 
North. 

Received 2 warrants. 
K, Bros., per F. 

00 
J+::o. 

0 
t'l 
>-
H 

~ 

0 
~ 

td 
t?j 
z 
~ 
0 
t'l 
t'l 

b 
~ 
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EXHIBIT B. 

Overland Stage Line, Ben Holladay, proprietor, carrying the great tlu·ough mails between the Atlantic a~td Pacific Sta~es, from Atchison to Denver. Tuesday, 
Jan'y 31·d, 1865. Rudnett, messenger. 

No. 

1 pa ....... . 
1 " ..... .. . 
1 pd. coli .. . 
1 pa ....... . 

1 
1 I< 

1 
1 
1 ...... .. 
1 pd. col .. . 
1pa ....... . 
1 '' 
1 
1 

No. 1. Duplicate. 

From whom received. To whom ~ddressed. Destination. 

$10,000 U.S. Ex. Co .......... l C. E. Blakesby .............. l Cent. City ....... . 
2, 800 ...... Do............... J. H. Malone ...................... Do ..... ..... . 

$6 .••.•. Do ............... .A. Arbor ................... Denver .......... . 
960 ...... Do ............... W. Hussey&Co ................. Do .......... . 

1, 000 ...... Do. 
$50 ...... Do. 
$50 ...... Do .............. . 

10,000 ...... Do .............. . 
45 ...... Do ... : .......... . 

250 ...... Do .............. . 
50 ...... Do. 

700 ...... Do . ............. . 
4, 500 W . .A. G ........... .. 
4,000 ...... Do .............. . 

Expense. I Our charges. I Collect. I Prepaid charges. 

32 50 150 00 
49 00 

75 
14 40 

182 50 Lost. 
Do. 
Do. 

Five land-warrants 
saved; one lost. 

Lost. 
Rec'd, Dahler. 
Do. do. 
Do. do. 

J. E. Smith. 
Line Bus. 
r.ost. 
Lloyd. 
Line Bus. 

Do. 

Q 
t"i 
> H 

~ 

c 
":rj 

td 
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z 
~ 
0 r-; 
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~ 
tJ 
:;..-
:-< 

00 
0" 
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.Affidavit of George K. Otis. 

WASHINGTON CITY, D. C., ss: 
I, George Kingman Otis, being duly sworn, do depose and say that 

I am forty-five years of age; that from the lOth October, A. D. 1861, to 
about September, 1863, I was in the employ of Ben Holladay, mail-con­
tractor, engaged in carrying the United States mails from the Missouri 
River to Salt Lake City, as agent, in charge of his books and accounts, 
purchasing supplies, and attending to his private business generally ; 
and that, in the transaction of such business, I traveled frequently over 
the line of said mail-route, 

·That from about September, 1~63, to October, 1864, I was general 
superintendent of said stage· line of said Holladay, so employed in car­
rying said mails over the whole line from the Missouri River to Salt 
Lake City, and had the exclusive control and entire management of the 
stages, horses, mules, employes, and business of said line, and person­
ally superintended said business during the time of transporting said 
mails on said route; that I passed and repassed frequently over the said 
route. 

In the month of October, 1864, William Reynolds succeeded affiant as 
superintendent of said line, and from that date to NovembAr 13, 1866, 
I remained in the employ of said Ben Holladay, as his general financial 
agent, auditor, and accountant in reference to said business, and had 
plenary power and entire charge thereof; and, during that time, went 
personally over said line frequently. 

I further state that I have a full general knowledge of the depreda­
tions committed by Indians during the periods aforesaid on and against 
the property of said Holladay, the horses, mules, coaches, stages, har­
ness, buildings, stations, shelters, barns, store-houses, eating-houses, 
food, forage, wood, and general supplies requisite and n(:lcessary for the 
maintenance of said stage-route, and by him used in t;Je business of 
transporting the United States mails over said mail-route between the 
dates of 1860 and 13th of November, 1866; and also of the murders 
committed by the Indians of the emplo,yes of said Holladay, engaged in 
transporting said mails; and that I have personal knowledge of the 
destruct,ion of ~uch of said propet·ty, as hereinafter st.ated ; and I fur­
ther state that l had personal knowledge of all the property used on said 
line by said Holladay during the whole of the time as aforesaid that he 
was engaged in carrying said mails, and also of tlJe value thereof. 

I further state that l have carefu1ly examined. all the affidavits con­
tained in the printed pamphlet en titled '"Spoliations committed by In­
dians on property of Ben. HoHaday while carrying the United States 
mails," which pamphlet is marke4 ExlJibit A, and made a part of this 
affidadt. 

I further state that the property set forth and described in said affi­
davits as having been destroyed and carried away by Indiai1s was so 
destroyed as stated in said affidavits respectively, a large portion of it 
to my personal knowledge and the remainder .from general information 
of the business as agent and superintendent of said line, and the prop­
erty lost by abandonment as in said affidavits stated, and that said 
Holladay was compelled to abandon aud lose by reason of said Indian 
hostilities as therein stated. 

And I further state that the estimates of valu·e of all said property as 
made and carried out in said pamphlet at the end of said affidavits, re· 
spectively, are fajr and reasonable, and that all said property, at the 
time so taken~ destroyed, and abandoned, as in said affidavits respect· 
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ively stated, the same was of the reasonable value as stated in the figures 
at the end of said affidavits respectively in said pamphlet. 

I further state that I have carefully examined the memorial of said 
Ben. Holladay as priuted in said pamphlet hereto annexed and made 
part hereof, and I aver that the statements and averment~ in said me­
morial are true. 

I t"urther state that I have no interest in the claim of said Holladay, 
as matle in said memorial to Congress. 

GEORGE K. OTIS. 

Subscribed and sworn to before . me this 12th day of Feb'y, 1874, at 
Washington, D. C. 

[SEAL.] J. McKEN"NEY, Notary Public. 

BELA. M. HUGHES, called on the part of the claimant Holladay, sworn 
and examined by Senator Cameron, deposes and says: 

That be resides in Denver, Colo.; that in the year 1861 he became 
connected with the business of Ben. Holladay as his attorney and gen­
eral agent for the Overland Stage Line, owned by said Holladay; that 
from March, 1862, to March, 1863, he had intimate knowledge of the 
affairs of said line, the contracts and purchases of and for the same 
coming under his supervision during that year. 

He states that the coaches purchased for the use of said line cost from 
$1,000 to $1,200, delivered in the West, at the east end of the said line; 
tllat good horses aud mules used for staging, having to be the best of 
s:wh animals, cost during the period spoken of above from $175 to $250 
each, the high rate being caused by the civil war and great demand 
which e~isted for large and active horses and muies; and that oxen, 
suitable for heavy work, such as needed in the service of the stage-line, 
would, during th:=tt period and some years thereafter, as late as 1866, 
readily sell for $175 to $200 a yoke; aud that it was the policy of the 
managers of tile said stage-linr to purchase none bnt the very best 
horses, mules, oxen, aud outfit generally, it being really true economy 
to do so. 

He states that during the disturbances caused by the pillage and 
murder of the pPople ou the plains, and atta-eks upon the line directly, 
the price of wood and hay wt•nt up t~o an enormous rate, the danger 
and difficulty of procuring hoth being enhanced by the condition of af­
fairs. 

He states tbat in his opinion the prices charged for hay and wood 
lost by claimant do not exceed the rates prevailing during tlle Indian · 
war, related iu the evidence filed by claimant and read by this wit­
ness. 

He states that he was well acquainted with the station destroyed at 
Julesburg, the buildings thereat, and believes that the cost of the same 
was not less tbau $35,000; as, owing to the distance the material for 
the erection thereof was necessarily compelled to be hauled, the plank 
and shingles coming from Denver, 180 miles off, aud the logs used in a 
few of the houses hauled, as he was informed and believes, from near a 
station called Cottonwood (east of Julesburg), a distance of more than 
100 miles. 

He states that be. remembers distinctly the station known as Spring 
Hill, one of the best stations on the line, having very excellent houses 
and barns and corrals; and his opinion is that the cost of these im-
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provements, and the value thereof, was not, at the time of the destruc­
tion of the same, less than $6,000. 

He states that he was well acquainted with the station known as 
Little Laramie, on the Laramie Ph-tins; that it was built most sub­
stantially, the improvements being q ni.te extensive and thorough in 
construction, and he is satisfied that it cost not under $3,500 to put up 
the same. ' · · 

That Antelope Station, destroyed (as was the Little Laramie) by In­
dians, was also well put up in all respects, house, barn, and corral, but 
his recollection of the extent. of the structures is not clear, as in regard 
to other places on the line; but be can state that tile expense of erect­
ing any decent, comfortable station, and .substantiall.v to accommodate 
stock and employes, could not have cost Jess than $2,000 to $3,000, and 
in the case of home stations, such as Little Laramie, Spring Hill, and 
others, a much greater sum. Home stations were those at which pas­
sengers took meals on the line. 

The lumber for all the stations on the plains was hauled from Denver, 
and the cost of it grew with the distance from tllat place. Spring Hill 
was about 175 miles east of Denver, and Antelope Station farther, and 
it seems to the witness that the building of the latter could not fall short 
much of Spring Hill. 

He states that the barns erected on the line, when a separate ware­
house was not put Ul), were so built as to afford a room to store grain 
and provisions (when the station was not built for a home station), for 
the employes at the station, a bedroom for men, and from 40 to 50 
horses. Some were smaller, and others perhaps larger, owing to the 
needs of the particular loc.ality; and these barns were expensive to 
erect on account of the difficulty of getting timber all along the line 
after leaving the boundary of Kansas up to Denver, and thence after a 
distance of fifty miles west. of that place, all the way to Salt Lake City, 
Utah·. These b~uns must baYe cost, on the line from Julesburg to Den­
ver, not under $3,000 each, extensive, well finished, and substantial as 
they were. 

He states that the station called Elk Horn, on the line from Kearney 
to .Julesburg, in his opinion cost all of $~.000 to build ·it, an(l' may have 
cost a great deal more, perhaps as much as $3,000 to $:~,500. 

He states that the cost of building, during the years 1861, 186~, 1863, 
1864, 1865, a.uu 1866, ori the plains, was really enormous, caused, as 
stated, by the remoteness of tlJe stations from lumber and material, 
and prices were enhanced gr~atly as Indian hostilities advanced, of 
course. 

He further states tha.t the price of building· in the settlements in the 
older communities affords no criterion to judge of the cost on the plains 
nnd in the mountain country west of the Missouri River, and especially 
at a season when every movement was accompanied with danger during 
Indian hostilities. 

He states that the stations of the stage·line were used entirely and 
. exclusive1y for the purposes of the line itself, namely, the occupancy of 
the men and proper business of the line, with the accommodation of 
passengers; and he can state that there were no stores or trading-shops 
in any of the statio:ns, and none were or could be used in that way. 

He states, also, that if the Government of the United States or any 
of its military officers or soldiers e\er did carry any mails for Holladay, 
at any time, be never did hear of such a thing, and is confident, from 
his position as the attorney of the line, from March, 18o3, to November, 
1866, that no such thing evel' did occur. 

BELA M. HUGHES. 
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